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社會（續）

僱傭及勞工常規（續）

勞工準則

本集團對童工及強制勞工採取零容忍政策。本
集團嚴格遵守香港及英國的相關法律及法規，
包括香港《僱用兒童規例》、英國《二零一五年
現代奴隸制法》及其他適用法規。

作為入職程序的一部分，我們進行嚴格的僱員
盡職調查，以確保進行年齡驗證，並確保候選
人自願工作。

於報告期間，本集團並不知悉任何違反有關童
工或強制勞工法規的情況。倘識別任何此類案
例，本集團將立即將年輕工人從相關任務或崗
位中移除，並對招聘流程進行檢查，以評估是
否存在任何缺陷。此外，我們將為受影響的兒
童及勞工制定補救計劃，優先考慮兒童的需
求，並提供適當支持。

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日，本集團共聘
用17名僱員。於報告期間，勞動力分佈如下（附
註1）：
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Number of Employees by Gender
按性別劃分僱員數目

Number of Employees by Employment Type
按僱傭種類劃分僱員數目

 Full Time 全職 Female 女性  Part Time 兼職 Male 男性

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards

The Group enforces a zero-tolerance policy against child and 
forced labour. The Group maintains strict compliance with the 
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the United 
Kingdom, including the Employment of Children Regulations of 
Hong Kong, the Modern Slavery Act 2015 of the United Kingdom, 
and other applicable regulations.

We conduct stringent employee due diligence as part of the 
onboarding procedure to ensure age verification is performed and 
the candidates are coming to work of their own free will.

The Group was not aware of any violations regarding child labour 
or forced labour regulations during the Reporting Period. In the 
event of any identified cases, the Group shall remove the young 
worker from the task or position immediately and conduct an 
inspection of the recruiting processes to assess if any deficiencies 
exist. Additionally, we will develop a remediation plan for the 
affected children and labour, prioritizing the needs of the children 
and providing appropriate support.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 17 
employees. During the Reporting Period, the distribution of the 
workforce is as follows (Note 1):
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社會（續）

僱傭及勞工常規（續）

勞工準則（續）

於報告期間，僱員流失率如下（附註1及2）：

附註：

1. 僱傭相關數據包括與本集團有直接僱傭關係的
固定僱員及顧問。以下員工類別由於其履行的
工作的性質及規模而不納入此披露當中：

－ 受僱提供工作或服務的顧問、代理、承包
商及供應商及彼等的僱傭決定（包括薪酬
及福利）由第三方僱主作出；

－ 獨立非執行董事

2. 僱員流失率數據包括報告期間自願離職或因解
僱、退休或在職死亡而離職的僱員數目。

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Labour Standards (Continued)

During the Reporting Period, the employee turnover rate is as 
follows (Note 1 & 2):

Notes:

1. Employment-related data includes regular employees and 
consultants who are in a direct employment relationship with the 
Group. The following types of workers are excluded from this 
disclosure due to the nature and scale of work they perform:

— Consultants, agents, contractors, and vendors hired to deliver 
work or services and their employment decisions, including 
compensation and benefits, are made by a third-party 
employer;

— Independent non-executive directors

2. Employee turnover rate data covers the number of employees who 
left employment voluntarily or due to dismissal, retirement, or death 
in service during the Reporting Period.
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Number of Employees by Age Group 
按年齡組別劃分僱員數目

Number of Employees by Geographical Region
按地區劃分僱員數目

 Below 40 years old 40歲以下  Hong Kong 香港
 India 印度 40 years old or above 40歲或以上

 United Kingdom 英國
 Others 其他

0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100%

0%

17%

13%

0%

0%

50%

100%

0%

Employee Turnover Rate  
by Gender 

按性別劃分僱員流失率

Employee Turnover Rate  
by Age Group 

按年齡組別劃分僱員流失率

Employee Turnover Rate by 
Geographical Region 
按地區劃分僱員流失率

 Male 男性  Female 女性  Hong Kong 香港
 India 印度  Others 其他

 United Kingdom 英國 Below 40 years old 
 40歲以下

 40 years old or above
 40歲或以上
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社會（續）

僱傭及勞工常規（續）

健康與安全

本集團致力維持安全的工作環境，並支持全體
僱員實現彼等的目標。本集團已實施切實可行
的安全管理，以消除職業危害，並為合資格僱
員提供健康及意外保險保障。我們的職業健康
與安全策略建立在實施以下工作場所政策的
基礎上：

個人健康

• 定期要求物業管理公司清潔空調系統；

• 提供日常辦公室清潔服務；及

• 禁止在工作場所及公共場所的所有室內
區域吸煙。

工作安全

• 提供足夠及整潔的衛生設施；及

• 制定管理系統，為員工提供有效的意見
表達及投訴程序。

消防安全

• 要求管理公司經常檢查消防通道；及

• 每年進行消防演習。

於包括報告期間的過去三年內，概無發生因工
受傷或亡故事件。本集團並不知悉任何不遵守
香港《職業安全及健康條例》、英國《一九七四
年工作健康與安全法》以及其他有關僱員健康
及安全的相關法律法規的情況。

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety 

The Group is committed to maintaining a safe working 
environment and supporting all employees in achieving their goals. 
The Group has implemented practical safety management to 
eliminate occupational hazards and provides health and accident 
insurance coverage to eligible employees. Our occupational 
health and safety strategy is built on implementing the following 
workplace policies:

Personal Health

• Request the property management company to clean the air 
conditioner system regularly;

• Provide daily office cleaning service; and

• Prohibit smoking in all indoor areas of workplaces and public 
places.

Work Safety

• Provide adequate and neat sanitary facilities; and

• Develop a management system with procedures for 
employees to voice opinions and file complaints effectively.

Fire Safety

• Request the management company to check the fire exits 
frequently; and

• Perform fire drills every year.

There were no work-related injuries or fatalities for the past three 
years including the Reporting Period. The Group was not aware 
of any reported cases of non-compliance with the Occupational 
Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974 of the United Kingdom, as well as other relevant 
laws and regulations relating to employees’ health and safety.
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社會（續）

僱傭及勞工常規（續）

健康與安全（續）

發展及培訓

我們已制定培訓與發展方案，為僱員提供必要
支持，以提升彼等的專業能力及工作相關能
力。僱員參加認可專業機構組織之培訓課程、
會議及考試獲提供教育津貼及假期。培訓相關
數據如下：

按不同類別劃分的受訓僱員百分比：

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Health and Safety (Continued)

Unit 2024 2023 2022
單位 二零二四年 二零二三年 二零二二年     

Work-related fatalities person 0 0 0
因工亡故 人
Lost days due to work injury day 0 0 0
因工傷損失日數 日

Development and Training

We have established training and development protocols to 
provide employees with the necessary support to build their 
professional capabilities and job-related competencies. Education 
allowances and leaves are offered to the employees for attending 
training courses, conferences, and examinations organized by 
recognized professional institutions. The training relevant data are 
as below:

The percentage of employees trained classified by different 
categories:

43%

25%

40%

20%

Percentage of Employees Trained  
by Gender 

按性別劃分受訓僱員百分比

Percentage of Employees Trained  
by Employee Category 

按僱員類別劃分受訓僱員百分比

 Male 男性  Senior Management 高級管理層 Female 女性  General Staff 一般員工
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社會（續）

僱傭及勞工常規（續）

發展及培訓（續）

每名僱員平均培訓時數：

供應鏈管理

本集團按公平道德基準與供應商及合作夥伴
建立關係，要求彼等在社會、道德及環境實踐
方面保持高標準。管理層積極監督並核實業務
夥伴是否符合環境法規，同時推行良好的生產
標準及一致的質量控制措施。本集團強調與業
務夥伴進行高效的溝通與合作，共同維護產品
及服務的質量與安全。本集團堅信，保持牢固
的供應商關係是可持續業務增長及發展的關
鍵。

此外，本集團採用一套明確且標準化的採購管
理程序以評估及監督供應商，幫助識別及降低
與供應鏈相關的環境及社會供應鏈風險。我們
進行一系列審核程序，以於委聘前全面檢查潛
在供應商在質量、環境標準及安全方面之表
現。

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

Development and Training (Continued)

The average training hours per employee:

Supply Chain Management

The Group builds relationships with suppliers and partners 
based on fairness and ethics, requiring them to maintain high 
standards across social, ethical, and environmental practices. 
Our Management actively monitors and verifies that business 
partners meet environmental regulations while promoting good 
manufacturing standards and consistent quality control measures. 
The Group emphasizes promoting efficient communication and 
cooperation with business partners to jointly maintain the quality 
and safety of products and services. The Group is convinced that 
maintaining strong supplier relationships is key to sustainable 
business growth and development.

Furthermore, the Group employs a well-defined set of 
standardized procurement management procedures to assess 
and monitor suppliers, helping identify and reduce environmental 
and social supply chain risks relevant to the supply chain. A 
series of audit procedures are conducted to comprehensively 
examine prospective suppliers’ performance in terms of quality, 
environmental standards, and safety before engagement.

0 10 155 20 0 10 155 20

6.83

9.80

12.29

4.50

Average Training Hours per 

Employee by Gender 

按性別劃分每名僱員 
平均培訓時數

Average Training Hours per 

Employee by Employee Category 

按僱員類別劃分每名僱員 
平均培訓時數

 Male 男性  Female 女性  Senior Management 高級管理層
 General Staff 一般員工
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HKEX’S LISTING RULES APPENDIX C2 
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE 
REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Categories, Aspects and 
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant 
sections of this 
report disclose or 
interpretation

範疇、層面及關鍵績效指標 本報告相關章節
披露或解釋

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
強制披露規定
Governance Structure A Statement from the Board containing the following elements:

(i) disclosure of the Board’s oversight of ESG issues.
(ii) the Board’s ESG management approach and strategy, 

including the process used to evaluate, prioritize and 
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the 
issuer’s business); and

(iii) how the Board reviews progress made against ESG-related 
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to 
the issuer’s business

BOARD 
OVERSIGHT 
AND ESG 
MANAGEMENT 
APPROACH

MATERIALITY 
ASSESSMENT

管治架構 由董事會發出的聲明，當中載有下列內容：
(i) 披露董事會對環境、社會及管治事宜的監管；
(ii) 董事會的環境、社會及管治管理方針及策略，包括評

估、優次排列及管理重要的環境、社會及管治相關事宜
（包括對發行人業務的風險）的過程；及

(iii) 董事會如何按環境、社會及管治相關目標檢討進度，並
解釋它們如何與發行人業務有關連。

董事會監督及環
境、社會及管治管
理方針

重要性評估

聯交所上市規則附錄C2《環境、社會及
管治報告指引》內容索引 
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Categories, Aspects and 
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant 
sections of this 
report disclose or 
interpretation

範疇、層面及關鍵績效指標 本報告相關章節
披露或解釋

Reporting Principles A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the 
Reporting Principles (materiality, quantitative, and consistency) in 
the preparation of the ESG Report:

Materiality: The threshold at which ESG issues determined 
by the Board are sufficiently important to investors and other 
stakeholders that they should be reported.

Quantitative: KPIs in respect of historical data need to be 
measurable. The issuer should set targets (which may be actual 
numerical figures or directional, forward-looking statements) 
to reduce a particular impact. In this way, the effectiveness of 
ESG policies and management systems can be evaluated and 
validated. Quantitative information should be accompanied 
by a narrative, explaining its purpose, impacts, and giving 
comparative data where appropriate.

Consistency: The issuer should use consistent methodologies to 
allow for meaningful comparisons of ESG data over time.

REPORTING 
PRINCIPLES 
APPLIED

匯報原則 描述或解釋在編備環境、社會及管治報告時如何應用匯報原
則（重要性、量化及一致性）：

重要性：當董事會釐定有關環境、社會及管治事宜會對投資
者及其他持份者產生重要影響時，發行人就應作出匯報。

量化：有關歷史數據的關鍵績效指標須可予計量。發行人
應訂下減少個別影響的目標（可以是實際數字或方向性、前
瞻性的聲明）。這樣，環境、社會及管治政策及管理系統的效
益可被評估及驗證。量化資料應附帶說明，闡述其目的及影
響，並在適當的情況下提供比較數據。

一致性：發行人應使用一致的披露統計方法，令環境、社會及
管治數據日後可作有意義的比較。

所應用報告原則
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Categories, Aspects and 
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant 
sections of this 
report disclose or 
interpretation

範疇、層面及關鍵績效指標 本報告相關章節
披露或解釋

Reporting Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG 
report and describing the process used to identify which entities 
or operations are included in the ESG report.

REPORTING 
BOUNDARY

匯報範圍 解釋環境、社會及管治報告的匯報範圍，及描述挑選哪些實
體或業務納入環境、社會及管治報告的過程。

報告範圍

“Comply or Explain”
「不遵守就解釋」

A. Environment
A.環境

Aspect A1: Emissions
層面A1：排放物

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 

a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and 
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, 
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

ENVIRONMENTAL

一般披露 有關廢氣及溫室氣體排放、向水及土地的排污、有害及無害
廢棄物的產生等的：
(a) 政策；及
(b) 遵守對發行人有重大影響的相關法律及規例的資料。

環境

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. ENVIRONMENTAL 
– Key Performance 
Indicators

關鍵績效指標A1.1 排放物種類及相關排放數據。 環境－關鍵績效
指標

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas 
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 
unit of production volume, per facility).

ENVIRONMENTAL 
– Key Performance 
Indicators: 
greenhouse gas 
emissions

關鍵績效指標A1.2 直接（範圍1）及能源間接（範圍2）溫室氣體排放量（以噸計算）
及（如適用）密度（如以每產量單位、每項設施計算）。

環境－關鍵績效
指標：溫室氣體排
放
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Categories, Aspects and 
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant 
sections of this 
report disclose or 
interpretation

範疇、層面及關鍵績效指標 本報告相關章節
披露或解釋

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (tonnes) and where 
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

Not applicable

關鍵績效指標A1.3 所產生有害廢棄物總量（以噸計算）及（如適用）密度（如以每
產量單位、每項設施計算）。

不適用

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

ENVIRONMENTAL 
– Key Performance 
Indicators: waste 
management

關鍵績效指標A1.4 所產生無害廢棄物總量（以噸計算）及（如適用）密度（如以每
產量單位、每項設施計算）。

環境－關鍵績效
指標: 廢物管理

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

ENVIRONMENTAL

關鍵績效指標A1.5 描述所訂立的排放量目標及為達到這些目標所採取的步驟。 環境

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps 
taken to achieve them.

ENVIRONMENTAL

關鍵績效指標A1.6 描述處理有害及無害廢棄物的方法，及描述所訂立的減廢目
標及為達到這些目標所採取的步驟。

環境

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
層面A2：資源使用

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, 
and other raw materials.

ENVIRONMENTAL

一般披露 有效使用資源（包括能源、水及其他原材料）的政策。 環境

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. 
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in’000s) and intensity (e.g. per 
unit of production volume, per facility).

ENVIRONMENTAL 
– Key Performance 
Indicators: energy 
consumption

關鍵績效指標A2.1 按類型劃分的直接及╱或間接能源（如電、氣或油）總耗量（以
千個千瓦時計算）及密度（如以每產量單位、每項設施計算）。

環境－關鍵績效 
指標: 消耗能源
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Categories, Aspects and 
Key Performance Indicators

The relevant 
sections of this 
report disclose or 
interpretation

範疇、層面及關鍵績效指標 本報告相關章節
披露或解釋

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

ENVIRONMENTAL 
– Key Performance 
Indicators: water 
consumption

關鍵績效指標A2.2 總耗水量及密度（如以每產量單位、每項設施計算）。 環境－關鍵績效
指標: 耗水

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken 
to achieve them.

ENVIRONMENTAL

關鍵績效指標A2.3 描述所訂立的能源使用效益目標及為達到這些目標所採取
的步驟。

環境

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that 
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

ENVIRONMENTAL

關鍵績效指標A2.4 描述求取適用水源上可有任何問題，以及所訂立的用水效益
目標及為達到這些目標所採取的步驟。

環境

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) 
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

ENVIRONMENTAL 
– Key Performance 
Indicators: 
packing materials 
consumption

關鍵績效指標A2.5 製成品所用包裝材料的總量（以噸計算）及（如適用）每生產單
位佔量。

環境－關鍵績效
指標：消耗包裝物
料
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Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
層面A3：環境及天然資源

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the 
environment and natural resources.

ENVIRONMENTAL

一般披露 減低發行人對環境及天然資源造成重大影響的政策。 環境

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to 
manage them

ENVIRONMENTAL

關鍵績效指標A3.1 描述業務活動對環境及天然資源的重大影響及已採取管理
有關影響的行動。

環境

Aspect A4: Climate Change
層面A4：氣候變化

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may 
impact, the issuer.

ENVIRONMENTAL

一般披露 識別及應對已經及可能會對發行人產生影響的重大氣候相
關事宜的政策。

環境

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the 
actions taken to manage them.

ENVIRONMENTAL

關鍵績效指標A4.1 描述已經及可能會對發行人產生影響的重大氣候相關事宜，
及應對行動。

環境
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B. Social
B.社會

Aspect B1: Employment
層面B1：僱傭

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation 
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working 
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Employment

一般披露 有關薪酬及解僱、招聘及晉升、工作時數、假期、平等機會、
多元化、反歧視以及其他待遇及福利的：
(a) 政策；及
(b) 遵守對發行人有重大影響的相關法律及規例的資料。

僱傭

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-
or parttime), age group and geographical region.

Labour Standards

關鍵績效指標B1.1 按性別、僱傭類型（如全職或兼職）、年齡組別及地區劃分的
僱員總數。

勞工準則

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical 
region.

Labour Standards

關鍵績效指標B1.2 按性別、年齡組別及地區劃分的僱員流失比率。 勞工準則

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
層面B2：健康與安全

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 

a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a 
safe working environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards

Health and Safety

一般披露 有關提供安全工作環境及保障僱員避免職業性危害的：
(a) 政策；及
(b) 遵守對發行人有重大影響的相關法律及規例的資料。

健康與安全
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KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of 
the past three years including the reporting year.

Health and Safety

關鍵績效指標B2.1 過去三年（包括匯報年度）每年因工亡故的人數及比率。 健康與安全

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
關鍵績效指標B2.2 因工傷損失工作日數。 健康與安全

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, 
and how they are implemented and monitored.

Health and Safety

關鍵績效指標B2.3 描述所採納的職業健康與安全措施，以及相關執行及監察方
法。

健康與安全

Aspect B3: Development and Training
層面B3：發展及培訓

General Disclosure Policies relating to enhancing employees’ knowledge and skills in 
performing their job duties Plan. Describe the training activities.

Development and 
Training

一般披露 有關提升僱員履行工作職責的知識及技能的政策。描述培訓
活動。

發展及培訓

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

Development and 
Training

關鍵績效指標B3.1 按性別及僱員類別（如高級管理層、中級管理層）劃分的受訓
僱員百分比。

發展及培訓

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender 
and employee category.

Development and 
Training

關鍵績效指標B3.2 按性別及僱員類別劃分，每名僱員完成受訓的平均時數。 發展及培訓

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
層面B4：勞工準則

General Disclosure For the prevention of child or forced labour:
(a) Policies;
(b) information on compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a material impact on the issuer.

Labour Standards

一般披露 有關防止童工或強制勞工的：
(a) 政策；及
(b) 遵守對發行人有重大影響的相關法律及規例的資料。

勞工準則
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KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to 
avoid child and forced labour.

Labour Standards

關鍵績效指標B4.1 描述檢討招聘慣例的措施以避免童工及強制勞工。 勞工準則

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 
discovered.

Labour Standards

關鍵績效指標B4.2 描述在發現違規情況時消除有關情況所採取的步驟。 勞工準則

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
層面B5：供應鏈管理
 
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the 

supply chain.
Supply Chain 
Management

一般披露 管理供應鏈的環境及社會風險政策。 供應鏈管理

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 
Management

關鍵績效指標B5.1 按地區劃分的供應商數目。 供應鏈管理

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number 
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain 
Management

關鍵績效指標B5.2 描述有關聘用供應商的慣例，向其執行有關慣例的供應商數
目，以及相關執行及監察方法。

供應鏈管理

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social 
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and 
monitored.

Supply Chain 
Management

關鍵績效指標B5.3 描述有關識別供應鏈每個環節的環境及社會風險的慣例，以
及相關執行及監察方法。

供應鏈管理

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally 
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain 
Management

關鍵績效指標B5.4 描述在揀選供應商時促使多用環保產品及服務的慣例，以及
相關執行及監察方法。

供應鏈管理
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
層面B6：產品責任

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 

a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and 
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to 
products and services provided and methods of redress.

Product 
Responsibility

一般披露 有關所提供產品和服務的健康與安全、廣告、標籤及私隱事
宜以及補救方法的：
(a) 政策；及
(b) 遵守對發行人有重大影響的相關法律及規例的資料。

產品責任

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 
safety and health reasons.

Product 
Responsibility

關鍵績效指標B6.1 已售或已運送產品總數中因安全與健康理由而須回收的百
分比。

產品責任

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and 
how they are dealt with.

Product 
Responsibility

關鍵績效指標B6.2 接獲關於產品及服務的投訴數目以及應對方法。 產品責任

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 
intellectual property rights.

Product 
Responsibility

關鍵績效指標B6.3 描述與維護及保障知識產權有關的慣例。 產品責任

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product 
Responsibility

關鍵績效指標B6.4 描述質量檢定過程及產品回收程序。 產品責任

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 
and how they are implemented and monitored.

Product 
Responsibility

關鍵績效指標B6.5 描述消費者資料保障及私隱政策，以及相關執行及監察方
法。

產品責任
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
層面B7：反貪污

General Disclosure Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 

a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, 
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Anti-Corruption

一般披露 有關防止賄賂、勒索、欺詐及洗黑錢的：
(a) 政策；及
(b) 遵守對發行人有重大影響的相關法律及規例的資料。

反貪污

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 
brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting 
Period and the outcomes of the cases.

Anti-Corruption

關鍵績效指標B7.1 於匯報期內對發行人或其僱員提出並已審結的貪污訴訟案
件的數目及訴訟結果。

反貪污

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Anti-Corruption

關鍵績效指標B7.2 描述防範措施及舉報程序，以及相關執行及監察方法。 反貪污

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and 
staff.

Anti-Corruption

關鍵績效指標B7.3 描述向董事及員工提供的反貪污培訓。 反貪污
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Aspect B8: Community Investment
層面B8：社區投資

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs 
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its 
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

Community 
Engagement

一般披露 有關以社區參與來了解營運所在社區需要和確保其業務活
動會考慮社區利益的政策。

社區參與

KPI B8.1 Focus on areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 
issues, labour needs, health, culture, sports).

Community 
Engagement

關鍵績效指標B8.1 專注貢獻範疇（如教育、環境事宜、勞工需求、健康、文化、體
育）。

社區參與

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community 
Engagement

關鍵績效指標B8.2 在專注範疇所動用資源（如金錢或時間）。 社區參與
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
獨立核數師報告

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF REGENT PACIFIC GROUP 
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Regent 
Pacific Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 119 to 240, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards 
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

致勵晶太平洋集團有限公司 

（於開曼群島註冊成立之有限公司）

意見

本核數師已審核第119至240頁所載勵晶太平
洋集團有限公司（「貴公司」）及其附屬公司（統稱
「貴集團」）之綜合財務報表，其中包括於二零
二四年十二月三十一日之綜合財務狀況表、截
至當日止年度之綜合損益及其他全面收益表、
綜合權益變動表及綜合現金流量表，以及綜合
財務報表附註，包括重大會計政策資料。

吾等認為，綜合財務報表已根據香港會計師公
會（「香港會計師公會」）頒佈之香港財務報告
準則會計準則真實而公平地反映　貴集團於二
零二四年十二月三十一日之綜合財務狀況以
及　貴集團於截至當日止年度之綜合財務表現
及綜合現金流量，並已按照香港公司條例之披
露規定妥為編製。

意見基準

吾等已根據香港會計師公會頒佈之香港審計
準則（「香港審計準則」）進行審核。吾等在該等
準則下承擔之責任已在本報告「核數師就審核
綜合財務報表承擔之責任」部分中作進一步闡
述。根據香港會計師公會頒佈之《專業會計師
道德守則》（「守則」），吾等獨立於　貴集團，並
已履行守則中之其他道德責任。吾等相信，吾
等所獲得之審核憑證能充足及適當地為吾等
之審核意見提供基礎。
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING 
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3 to the consolidated financial 
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of 
approximately US$4,482,000 during the year ended 31 December 
2024 and, as of that date, the Group has net current liabilities and 
net liabilities of approximately US$5,048,000 and US$5,901,000, 
respectively. As stated in Note 3, these conditions indicate that a 
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another independent 
auditor whose report dated 27 March 2024 expressed an 
unmodified opinion with an emphasis of matter paragraph 
relating to material uncertainty related to going concern on those 
consolidated financial statements.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. Other than the matter described in the “Material 
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section of our report, 
we have determined there are no other key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

有關持續經營之重大不確定因素 

吾等務請　閣下垂注綜合財務報表附註3，該
附註表明　貴集團於截至二零二四年十二月
三十一日止年度錄得虧損約4,482,000美元，及
於該日，　貴集團之流動負債淨額及負債淨額
分別約為5,048,000美元及5,901,000美元。誠
如附註3所述，此等情況表明存在重大不明朗
因素，可能對　貴集團持續經營之能力構成重
大疑問。吾等就此事宜之意見並無修訂。

其他事項

貴集團截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止年
度的綜合財務報表乃由另一家獨立核數師審
核，該核數師於二零二四年三月二十七日就該
等綜合財務報表發出無保留意見，並強調涉及
有關持續經營基準之重大不明朗因素之事項
段落。

關鍵審核事項

關鍵審核事項是根據吾等之專業判斷，認為對
本期綜合財務報表之審核最為重要之事項。這
些事項是在吾等審核整體綜合財務報表及出
具意見時進行處理，而吾等不會對這些事項提
供單獨之意見。除本報告內「有關持續經營之
重大不確定因素」一節所述事項外，吾等已確
定於本報告內並無將予傳達之其他關鍵審核
事項。

其他資料

本公司董事負責其他資料。其他資料包括年度
報告所載資料，惟不包括綜合財務報表及本核
數師報告。

吾等對綜合財務報表之意見並不涵蓋其他資
料，吾等亦不對該等其他資料發表任何形式之
鑒證結論。

結合吾等對綜合財務報表之審核，吾等之責任
是閱讀其他資料，在此過程中，考慮其他資料
是否與綜合財務報表或吾等在審核過程中所
了解之情況存在重大抵觸或者似乎存在重大
錯誤陳述之情況。基於吾等已執行之工作，如
果吾等認為其他資料存在重大錯誤陳述，吾等
需要報告該事實。在這方面，吾等沒有任何報
告。
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獨立核數師報告

 　 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE 
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued 
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a 
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and 
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or 
accept liability to any other person for the content of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

董事及治理層就綜合財務報表須承擔
之責任 

本公司董事須負責根據香港會計師公會頒佈
之香港財務報告準則會計準則及香港公司條
例之披露規定擬備真實而中肯之綜合財務報
表，並對其認為為使綜合財務報表之擬備不存
在由於欺詐或錯誤而導致之重大錯誤陳述所
需之內部控制負責。

在擬備綜合財務報表時，董事負責評估　貴集
團持續經營之能力，並在適用情況下披露與持
續經營有關之事項，以及使用持續經營為會計
基礎，除非董事有意將　貴集團清盤或停止經
營，或別無其他實際之替代方案。

治理層須負責監督　貴集團的財務報告過程。

核數師就審核綜合財務報表承擔之責
任

吾等之目標，是對綜合財務報表整體是否不存
在由於欺詐或錯誤而導致之重大錯誤陳述取
得合理保證，並根據吾等協定之委聘條款僅
向　閣下（作為整體）出具包括吾等意見之核數
師報告，除此之外本報告別無其他目的。吾等
不會就本報告的內容向任何其他人士負上或
承擔任何責任。

合理保證是高水平的保證，但不能保證按照香
港審計準則進行之審核在某一重大錯誤陳述
存在時總能發現。錯誤陳述可以由欺詐或錯誤
引起，如果合理預期它們單獨或匯總起來可能
影響綜合財務報表使用者依賴綜合財務報表
所作出之經濟決定，則有關之錯誤陳述可被視
作重大。
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

核數師就審核綜合財務報表承擔之責
任（續） 

在根據香港審計準則進行審核之過程中，吾等
運用專業判斷，保持了專業懷疑態度。吾等亦：

• 識別和評估由於欺詐或錯誤而導致綜合
財務報表存在重大錯誤陳述之風險，設
計及執行審核程序以應對這些風險，以
及獲取充足和適當之審核憑證，作為吾
等意見之基礎。由於欺詐可能涉及串謀、
偽造、蓄意遺漏、虛假陳述，或淩駕於內
部控制之上，因此未能發現因欺詐而導
致之重大錯誤陳述之風險高於未能發現
因錯誤而導致之重大錯誤陳述之風險。

• 了解與審核相關之內部控制，以設計適
當之審核程序，但目的並非對　貴集團
內部控制之有效性發表意見。

• 評價董事所採用會計政策之恰當性及作
出會計估計和相關披露之合理性。

• 對董事採用持續經營會計基礎之恰當性
作出結論。根據所獲取之審核憑證，確定
是否存在與事項或情況有關之重大不確
定性，從而可能導致對　貴集團之持續
經營能力產生重大疑慮。如果吾等認為
存在重大不確定性，則有必要在核數師
報告中提請使用者注意綜合財務報表中
之相關披露。假若有關之披露不足，則吾
等應當發表非無保留意見。吾等之結論
是基於核數師報告日止所取得之審核憑
證。然而，未來事項或情況可能導致　貴
集團不能持續經營。
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or business units within the Group 
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and review of the audit work performed for purpose of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

核數師就審核綜合財務報表承擔之責
任（續） 

• 評價綜合財務報表之整體列報方式、結
構和內容，包括披露，以及綜合財務報表
是否中肯反映交易和事項。

• 計劃及進行集團審計，以就　貴集團內
實體或業務單位的財務資訊獲取充足、
適當的審計憑證，作為對集團財務報表
發表意見的基礎。吾等負責指導、監督和
審閱為集團審計而執行的審計工作。吾
等為審計意見承擔全部責任。

除其他事項外，吾等與治理層溝通了計劃之審
核範圍、時間安排、重大審核發現等，包括吾
等在審核中識別出內部控制之任何重大缺陷。

吾等還向治理層提交聲明，說明吾等已符合有
關獨立性之相關專業道德要求，並與他們溝通
有可能合理地被認為會影響吾等獨立性之所
有關係和其他事項，以及在適用之情況下，消
除不利影響的行動或採取之防範措施。
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this 
independent auditor’s report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2025

Chu, Johnny Chun Yin
Practising Certificate Number P08355

核數師就審核綜合財務報表承擔之責
任（續） 

從與治理層溝通之事項中，吾等確定哪些事項
對本期綜合財務報表之審核最為重要，因而構
成關鍵審核事項。吾等在核數師報告中描述這
些事項，除非法律法規不允許公開披露這些事
項，或在極端罕見之情況下，如果合理預期在
吾等報告中溝通某事項造成之負面後果超過
產生之公眾利益，吾等決定不應在報告中溝通
該事項。

出具本獨立核數師報告的審計項目合夥人是
朱俊賢。

天職香港會計師事務所有限公司
執業會計師
香港，二零二五年三月二十七日

朱俊賢
執業證書編號P08355



119ANNUAL REPORT 2024 年報

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
綜合損益及其他全面收益表

　For the year ended 31 December 2024　截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Notes US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元 

Revenue 收益 6 719 291
Other income 其他收入 6 85 26
Exchange (losses)/gains, net 淨匯兌（虧損）╱收益 9 (68) 169
Fair value loss on FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價值

處理之金融資產之 
公允價值虧損 9 –* (38)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of FAFVPL 出售透過損益賬按公允
價值處理之金融資產
之（虧損）╱收益 9 (80) 91

 
656 539

Expenses: 支出：
Employee benefit expenses 僱員福利費用 9 (2,987) (2,969)
Rental and office expenses 租金及辦公室費用 (132) (132)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 使用權資產折舊 9,15 – (460)
Information and technology expenses 資訊及科技費用 (153) (170)
Marketing costs 市場推廣費用 (14) (33)
Professional and consulting fees 專業及諮詢費用 (551) (670)
Research and development expenses 研發開支 (938) (1,379)
Amortisation of intangible assets 無形資產攤銷 9,16 – (22,184)
Other operating expenses 其他營運支出 (218) (255)

 
Loss from operations 營運虧損 (4,337) (27,713)
Impairment loss on an intangible asset 無形資產減值虧損 9,16 – (1,518)
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 使用權資產減值虧損 9,15 – (1,152)
Finance costs 融資成本 7 (171) (80)

 
Loss before tax 除稅前虧損 (4,508) (30,463)
Income tax credit 所得稅抵免 8 26 5,414

 
Loss for the year 年內虧損 9 (4,482) (25,049)

 

* Amount is less than US$1,000 * 金額少於1,000美元
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
綜合損益及其他全面收益表
For the year ended 31 December 2024　截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Notes US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元 

Other comprehensive expense: 其他全面開支：
Item that may be reclassified to  

profit or loss:
可重新分類至損益之 
項目：

Exchange differences on translating 
foreign operations

換算海外業務之 
匯兌差額 6 (203)

 
Total comprehensive expense  

for the year
年內全面開支總額

(4,476) (25,252)   
Loss per share 每股虧損 13 US cents US cents

美仙 美仙
 

– Basic －基本 (1.96) (11.13) 
– Diluted －攤薄 (1.96) (11.13) 

HK cents HK cents
港仙 港仙

 
– Basic －基本 (15.31) (87.12) 
– Diluted －攤薄 (15.31) (87.12) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
綜合財務狀況表

As at 31 December 2024　於二零二四年十二月三十一日

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Notes US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 資產及負債
Non-current assets 非流動資產

Property, plant and equipment 物業、廠房及設備 14 8 10
Right-of-use assets 使用權資產 15 – –
Intangible assets 無形資產 16 – –
Interest in an associate 於一間聯營公司之權益 17 1 –
Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income
按公允價值計入其他全
面收入之金融資產 18 –* –*

 
Total non-current assets 非流動資產總額 9 10
   
Current assets 流動資產

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss

透過損益賬按公允價值
處理之金融資產 20 21 318

Trade receivables 應收貿易賬款 21 53 39
Prepayments, deposits and other 

receivables
預付款項、按金及其他
應收款項 369 298

Restricted bank balances 受限制銀行結餘 22 32 32
Tax recoverable 可收回稅項 26 –
Cash and bank balances 現金及銀行結餘 22 100 2,097
Asset classified as held for sale 分類為持作出售資產 23 – 1

 
Total current assets 流動資產總額 601 2,785
   
Current liabilities 流動負債

Trade payables, contract liabilities, 
accruals and other payables

應付貿易賬款、合約負
債、應計賬款及其他
應付款項 24 (3,173) (3,151)

Bank borrowings 銀行借貸 26 (8) (8)
Shareholder’s loans 股東貸款 27 (2,000) –
Lease liabilities 租賃負債 28 (468) (422)

 
Total current liabilities 流動負債總額 (5,649) (3,581)
   
Net current liabilities 流動負債淨額 (5,048) (796)
   
Total assets less current liabilities 資產總值減流動負債 (5,039) (786)  

* Amount is less than US$1,000 * 金額少於1,000美元
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
綜合財務狀況表
As at 31 December 2024　於二零二四年十二月三十一日

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Notes US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元 

Non-current liabilities 非流動負債
Bank borrowings 銀行借貸 26 (3) (12)
Shareholder’s loans 股東貸款 27 (570) –
Lease liabilities 租賃負債 28 (289) (753)

 
Total non-current liabilities 非流動負債總額 (862) (765)

  
NET LIABILITIES 負債淨額 (5,901) (1,551) 
EQUITY 權益
Share capital 股本 25 228 228
Reserves 儲備 33 (6,129) (1,779)

 
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY 資本虧損 (5,901) (1,551) 

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  
27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

經董事會於二零二五年三月二十七日批准並授
權發佈並由以下人士代為簽署：

James Mellon Jamie Gibson
Chairman Executive Director
主席 執行董事
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
綜合權益變動表

For the year ended 31 December 2024　截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

* 金額少於1,000美元

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

本公司股東應佔
 

Share 

capital

Accumulated 

losses 

Share

 premium 

Investment 

revaluation 

reserve 

Share-based 

payment

 reserve 

Capital 

redemption 

reserve 

Statutory 

and other

 reserves 

Foreign 

currency 

exchange

 reserve Total

股本 累計虧損 股份溢價
投資重估

儲備

以股份為
基礎的付款

儲備
股本贖回

儲備

法定
及其他
儲備

外幣匯兌
儲備 總計

(note 33(b)(i)) (note 33(b)(ii)) (note 33(b)(iii)) (note 33(b)(iv)) (note 33(b)(v)) (note 33(b)(vi)) (note 33(b)(vii))

（附註33(b)(i)） （附註33(b)(ii)） （附註33(b)(iii)） （附註33(b)(iv)） （附註33(b)(v)） （附註33(b)(vi)） （附註33(b)(vii)）
2024 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

二零二四年 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元
           

At 1 January 2024 於二零二四年一月一日 228 (306,439) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8,228 215 3,335 (1,551)         
Loss for the year 年內虧損 – (4,482) – – – – – – (4,482)

Exchange differences on translating  

foreign operations

換算海外業務之匯兌差額
– – – – – – – 6 6

         
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 

for the year

年內全面（開支）╱收入總額
– (4,482) – – – – – 6 (4,476)

         
New shares issued for share awards 就股份獎勵發行新股份 –* 20 – – (20) – – – –

Equity settled share-based payment 

transactions (note 31)

以權益結算的股份付款交易 

（附註31） – – – – 126 – – – 126

Share options lapsed 購股權失效 – 27 – – (27) – – – –
         

– 47 – – 79 – – – 126
         

At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月三十一日 228 (310,874) 293,557 (1,500) 904 8,228 215 3,341 (5,901)         

* Amount is less than US$1,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
綜合權益變動表
For the year ended 31 December 2024　截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

本公司股東應佔

Share 

capital

Accumulated 

losses 

Share 

premium 

Investment 

revaluation 

reserve 

Share-based

 payment 

reserve 

Capital 

redemption

 reserve 

Statutory 

and other 

reserves

Foreign 

currency

 exchange

 reserve Total

股本 累計虧損 股份溢價
投資重估

儲備

以股份為
基礎的

付款儲備
股本贖回

儲備

法定
及其他
儲備

外幣匯兌
儲備 總計

(note 33(b)(i)) (note 33(b)(ii)) (note 33(b)(iii)) (note 33(b)(iv)) (note 33(b)(v))  (note 33(b)(vi)) (note 33(b)(vii))

（附註33(b)(i)） （附註33(b)(ii)） （附註33(b)(iii)） （附註33(b)(iv)） （附註33(b)(v)） （附註33(b)(vi)） （附註33(b)(vii)）
2023 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

二零二三年 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元
  

At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 24,004 (326,933) 294,331 (1,500) 714 8,228 215 3,538 2,597

Loss for the year 年內虧損 – (25,049) – – – – – – (25,049)

Exchange differences on translating 

foreign operations

換算海外業務之匯兌差額
– – – – – – – (203) (203)

Total comprehensive expense  

for the year

年內全面開支總額
– (25,049) – – – – – (203) (25,252)

Capital reduction 股本削減 (45,450) 45,450 – – – – – – –

Issue of shares through Rights Issue 透過供股發行股份 21,665 – (774) – – – – – 20,891

New shares issued for share awards 就股份獎勵發行新股份 9 10 – – (19) – – – –

Equity settled share-based payment 

transactions (note 31)

以權益結算的股份付款交易 

（附註31） – – – – 213 – – – 213

Share options lapsed 購股權失效 – 83 – – (83) – – – –

(23,776) 45,543 (774) – 111 – – – 21,104

At 31 December 2023 於二零二三年十二月三十一日 228 (306,439) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8,228 215 3,335 (1,551)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
綜合現金流量表

For the year ended 31 December 2024　截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Notes US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES:

經營活動之現金流量：

Loss before tax 除稅前虧損 (4,508) (30,463)
Adjustments for: 就下列各項作出調整：

Bank interest income 銀行利息收入 6 (3) (15)
Finance costs 融資成本 7 171 80
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment
物業、廠房及設備折舊

9,14 8 16
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 使用權資產折舊 9,15 – 460
Loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment
出售物業、廠房及 
設備之虧損 9 – 2

Amortisation of intangible assets 無形資產攤銷 9,16 – 22,184
Loss/(gain) on disposal of FAFVPL 出售透過損益賬按公允

價值處理之金融資產
之虧損╱（收益） 9 80 (91)

Impairment loss on an intangible 
asset

無形資產減值虧損
9,16 – 1,518

Impairment loss on right-of-use 
assets

使用權資產減值虧損
9,15 – 1,152

Fair value loss on FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價值
處理之金融資產之 
公允價值虧損 9,20 –* 38

Equity-settled share-based payment 
expenses

以權益結算的股份付款
開支 9,31 126 213

Exchange loss/(gain), net 淨匯兌虧損╱（收益） 14 (203)
 

Operating loss before working capital 
changes

營運資本變動前之 
營運虧損 (4,112) (5,109)

Increase in trade receivables 應收貿易賬款增加 (14) (16)
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, 

deposits and other receivables
預付款項、按金及其他
應收款項（增加）╱
減少 (71) 553

Decrease in trade payables, contract 
liabilities, accruals and other 
payables

應付貿易賬款、合約負
債、應計賬款及其他
應付款項減少 (49) (36)

Proceeds from disposal of FAFVPL 出售透過損益賬按公允
價值處理之金融資產
之所得款項 217 832

 
Cash used in operations 經營所用現金 (4,029) (3,776)

Interest on lease liabilities 租賃負債利息 7 (100) (59)
Income taxes refund 退還所得稅 – 27

 
Net cash used in operating activities 經營活動所用現金淨額 (4,129) (3,808)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
綜合現金流量表
For the year ended 31 December 2024　截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Notes US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES:

投資活動之現金流量：

Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment

購入物業、廠房及設備
14 (6) (2)

Proceeds from disposal of property, 
plant and equipment

出售物業、廠房及設備
所得款項 – 1

Interest received 已收利息 3 15
 

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
investing activities

投資活動（所用）╱所得 
現金淨額 (3) 14

 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES:
融資活動之現金流量：

Repayment of bank borrowings 償還銀行借貸 34 (9) (8)
Repayment of lease liabilities 償還租賃負債 34 (423) (461)
Interest paid on bank borrowings 已付銀行借貸之利息 34 –* –*
Drawdown of shareholder’s loans 提取股東貸款 34 2,825 –
Repayment of shareholder’s loans 償還股東貸款 34 (255) –
Net proceeds from Rights Issue 供股所得款項淨額 – 6,051

 
Net cash generated from financing 

activities
融資活動所得之 
現金淨額 2,138 5,582

 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 

equivalents
現金及現金等價物 
（減少）╱增加淨額 (1,994) 1,788

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year

年初之現金及現金
等價物 2,097 309

Effects of foreign exchange rate 
changes

匯率變動之影響
(3) –*

 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 

END OF THE YEAR
年末之現金及現金
等價物 100 2,097 

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS:

現金及現金等價物之
分析：

Cash and bank balances 現金及銀行結餘 22 100 2,097 

* Amount is less than US$1,000 * 金額少於1,000美元
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註

1. 一般資料

本公司於開曼群島註冊成立為有限責
任公司，其註冊辦事處地址為P.O. Box 

309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, 

KY1-1104, Cayman Islands。主要營業
地點地址為香港皇后大道中5號衡怡大
廈8樓。本公司之股份於聯交所主板上
市，亦於法蘭克福證券交易所公開市場
(Freiverkehr)買賣。

本公司從事投資控股。本公司及其附屬
公司之主要業務則包括於生物醫藥公司
之投資及其他企業投資。

董事認為，本公司之最終控制方為本公
司主席James Mellon先生。

綜合財務報表以美元呈列，其亦為本公
司之功能貨幣。

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with 
limited liability. The address of its registered office is at P.O. 
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman 
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is 8th 
Floor, Henley Building, 5 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. 
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of the 
Stock Exchange and are also traded on the Open Market 
(Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The Company is engaged in investment holding. The 
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries consist 
of investments in biopharma companies and other corporate 
investments.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s ultimate 
controlling party is Mr James Mellon, the chairman of the 
Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in US 
dollars, which is also the functional currency of the Company.
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綜合財務報表附註
　　　

2. 應用新訂及經修訂香港財務報告
準則會計準則

(a) 於本年度強制生效之香港財務報告
準則會計準則修訂本

於本年度，本集團已就編製綜合財
務報表首次應用以下由香港會計師
公會頒佈並於本集團於二零二四年
一月一日開始之年度期間強制生效
之香港財務報告準則會計準則修訂
本：

香港財務報告 

準則第16號 

（修訂本）

售後租回的租賃 

負債

香港會計準則 

第1號 

（修訂本）

負債分類為流動或 

非流動及香港 

詮釋第5號 

（二零二零年） 
的相關修訂

香港會計準則 

第1號 

（修訂本）

附帶契諾的非流動
負債

香港會計準則
第7號及 

香港財務 

報告準則 

第7號 

（修訂本）

供應商融資安排

除下文所披露者外，於本年度應用
香港財務報告準則會計準則修訂本
對本集團本年度及過往年度的財務
狀況及業績及╱或該等綜合財務報
表所載的披露並無產生重大影響。

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(a) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
that are mandatorily effective for the current 
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued 
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily 
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 
January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements:

Amendments to 
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

Amendments to 
HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong 
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to 
HKAS 1

Non-current Liabil it ies with 
Covenants

Amendments to 
HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the 
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial positions and performance for the current 
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the 
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註

　　　

2. 應用新訂及經修訂香港財務報告
準則會計準則（續） 

(a) 於本年度強制生效之香港財務報告
準則會計準則修訂本（續） 

應用香港會計準則第1號（修訂本）負
債分類為流動或非流動（「二零二零
年修訂」）及香港會計準則第1號（修
訂本）附帶契諾的非流動負債（「二零
二二年修訂」）之影響

本集團於本年度已首次應用該修訂
本。二零二零年修訂為評估將清償
期限延遲至報告日期後至少十二個
月之權利提供澄清及額外指引，以
將負債分類為流動或非流動，當中：

• 訂明負債應基於報告期末已
存在的權利而分類為流動或
非流動。具體而言，該分類應
不受管理層在12個月內清償
負債之意圖或預期所影響。

• 澄清可透過向對手方轉讓現
金、貨品或服務，或實體本身
的股本工具等方式清償負債。
倘若負債具有條款，可由對手
方選擇透過轉讓實體本身的
股本工具進行清償，則僅當實
體應用香港會計準則第32號
金融工具：呈列將選擇權單獨
確認為股本工具時，該等條款
不會影響將其分類為流動或
非流動。

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
that are mandatorily effective for the current 
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to 
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and 
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities 
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first 
time in the current year. The 2020 Amendments 
provide clarification and additional guidance on the 
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least 
twelve months from reporting date for classification of 
liabilities as current or non-current, which:

• specify that the classification of liabilities as 
current or non-current should be based on rights 
that are in existence at the end of the reporting 
period. Specifically, the classification should 
not be affected by management intentions 
or expectations to settle the liability within 12 
months.

• clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a 
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s 
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If 
a liability has terms that could, at the option of 
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the 
transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments, 
these terms do not affect its classification as 
current or non-current only if the entity recognises 
the option separately as an equity instrument 
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation.
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綜合財務報表附註
　　　

2. 應用新訂及經修訂香港財務報告
準則會計準則（續） 

(a) 於本年度強制生效之香港財務報告
準則會計準則修訂本（續） 

應用香港會計準則第1號（修訂本）負
債分類為流動或非流動（「二零二零
年修訂」）及香港會計準則第1號（修
訂本）附帶契諾的非流動負債（「二零
二二年修訂」）之影響（續）

就將清償期限延遲至報告日期後至
少十二個月之權利（以遵守契諾為
條件）而言，二零二二年修訂特別澄
清，只有實體在報告期末或之前須
遵守之契諾，方會影響該實體將清
償負債延遲至報告日期後至少十二
個月之權利，即使契諾之遵守情況
僅於報告日期後評估。二零二二年
修訂亦訂明，實體於報告日期後必
須遵守之契諾（即未來契諾）不會
影響於報告日期將負債分類為流動
或非流動。然而，倘實體延遲清償
負債之權利受限於實體於報告期後
十二個月內遵守契諾，則實體須披
露資料以使財務報表使用者能夠了
解該等負債於報告期後十二個月內
成為須償還之風險。該資料將包括
契諾、相關負債之賬面值以及表明
實體可能難以遵守契諾之事實及情
況（如有）的資料。

於本年度應用該修訂本並無對綜合
財務報表造成重大影響。

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
that are mandatorily effective for the current 
year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to 
HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”) and 
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities 
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”) 
(Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months 
from reporting date which are conditional on the 
compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments 
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity 
is required to comply with on or before the end of 
the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer 
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the 
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The 
2022 Amendments also specify that covenants with 
which an entity must comply after the reporting date 
(i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification 
of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting 
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement 
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with 
covenants within twelve months after the reporting 
period, an entity discloses information that enables 
users of financial statements to understand the risk 
of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve 
months after the reporting period. This would include 
information about the covenants, the carrying amount 
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if 
any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties 
complying with the covenants.

The application of the amendments in the current year 
had no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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2. 應用新訂及經修訂香港財務報告
準則會計準則（續） 

(b) 已頒佈但尚未生效的新訂及經修訂
香港財務報告準則會計準則

本集團並無提早應用以下已頒佈但
尚未生效的新訂及經修訂香港財務
報告準則會計準則：

除下文所述之香港財務報告準則第
18號外，董事預期於可預見未來應
用所有其他新訂及經修訂香港財務
報告準則會計準則對綜合財務報表
將不會造成重大影響。

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have 
been issued but are not yet effective:

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after
於下列日期或之後

開始之會計期間生效 

Amendments to HKAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
香港會計準則第21號（修訂本）－缺乏可兌換性 二零二五年一月一日
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 – Amendments to the  

Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments
1 January 2026

香港財務報告準則第9號及香港財務報告準則第7號 

（修訂本）－金融工具分類與計量之修訂
二零二六年一月一日

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 – Contracts Referencing  
Nature-dependent Electricity

1 January 2026

香港財務報告準則第9號及香港財務報告準則第7號  

（修訂本）－涉及依賴自然能源電力的合約
二零二六年一月一日

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards –  
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standard Volume 11

1 January 2026

香港財務報告準則會計準則（修訂本）－香港財務報告 

準則會計準則之年度改進第11卷
二零二六年一月一日

HKFRS 18 – Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
香港財務報告準則第18號－財務報表的呈列及披露 二零二七年一月一日
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of  

Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
To be determined by the 

HKICPA
香港財務報告準則第10號及香港會計準則第28號（修訂本）－投資者與 

其聯營公司或合營企業之間的資產出售或注資
待香港會計師公會

釐定

Except for HKFRS 18 mentioned below, the Directors 
anticipate that the application of all other new and 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will 
have no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements in the foreseeable future.
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2. 應用新訂及經修訂香港財務報告
準則會計準則（續） 

(b) 已頒佈但尚未生效的新訂及經修訂
香港財務報告準則會計準則（續）

香港財務報告準則第18號財務報表
的呈列及披露

香港財務報告準則第18號財務報表
的呈列及披露載列財務報表的呈列
及披露規定，將取代香港會計準則
第1號財務報表的呈列。該項新訂香
港財務報告準則會計準則，於承襲
香港會計準則第1號的多項規定的
同時，引入於損益表中呈列指定類
別及定義小計的新規定；於財務報
表附註中提供管理層定義的表現指
標之披露，並改進於財務報表中將
予披露的合併及分類資料。此外，
若干香港會計準則第1號的段落已
移至香港會計準則第8號及香港財
務報告準則第7號。香港會計準則第
7號現金流量表及香港會計準則第
33號每股盈利亦作出細微修訂。

預期新準則的應用將影響未來財務
報表中的損益表的呈列及披露。本
集團正在評估香港財務報告準則第
18號對本集團綜合財務報表的具體
影響。

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements , which sets out requirements on 
presentation and disclosures in financial statements, will 
replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. 
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying 
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, 
introduces new requirements to present specified 
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of 
profit or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the 
financial statements and improve aggregation and 
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in 
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash 
Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

The application of the new standard is expected to 
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or loss 
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The 
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact 
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements.
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3. 編製綜合財務報表的基準

綜合財務報表乃根據香港會計師公會頒
佈之香港財務報告準則會計準則編製。
就編製綜合財務報表而言，倘有關資料
合理預期會影響主要使用者作出的決
策，則有關資料被視為重大。此外，綜合
財務報表載有聯交所證券上市規則及香
港公司條例所規定之適用披露資料。

於批准綜合財務報表時，董事合理預期
本集團有足夠資源於可見將來持續經
營。因此，彼等於編製綜合財務報表時繼
續採納持續經營的會計基準。

如下文所載會計政策所述，綜合財務報
表乃按照歷史成本法編製，惟若干金融
工具則按各報告期末之公允價值計量。

歷史成本一般以交易貨品及服務時所付
代價的公允價值為基準。

公允價值為市場參與者於計量日期進行
有序交易出售資產時將收取或轉讓負債
時將支付之價格，而不論該價格為直接
可觀察或使用其他估值技術估計得出。
若市場參與者於計量日期對資產或負債
定價時會考慮該資產或負債的特點，則
本集團於估計該資產或負債的公允價值
時會考慮該等特點。於該等綜合財務報
表中作計量及╱或披露用途的公允價值
乃按此基準釐定，惟屬於香港財務報告
準則第2號以股份為基礎的付款範圍內的
以股份為基礎的付款交易、根據香港財
務報告準則第16號租賃（「香港財務報告
準則第16號」）入賬的租賃交易，以及與
公允價值存在若干相似之處但並非公允
價值的計量，譬如香港會計準則第2號存
貨的可變現淨值或香港會計準則第36號
資產減值的使用價值除外。

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued 
by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements, information is considered 
material if such information is reasonably expected to 
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, 
the consolidated financial statements include applicable 
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

The Directors, have at the time of approving the consolidated 
financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the 
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial 
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of 
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, 
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market 
participants would take those characteristics into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on 
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions 
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, 
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance 
with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements 
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, 
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in 
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3. 編製綜合財務報表的基準（續）

此外，就財務報告而言，公允價值計量分
為第一層次、第二層次或第三層次，有關
層次乃根據公允價值計量輸入值之可觀
察程度及該等輸入值對公允價值計量整
體之重要程度而劃分，詳情如下：

• 第一層次輸入值為根據實體於計量
日期可獲得相同資產或負債於活躍
市場之報價（未經調整）；

• 第二層次輸入值為資產或負債直接
或間接可觀察輸入值（不包括計入
第一層次之報價）；及

• 第三層次輸入值為資產或負債不可
觀察輸入值。

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年
度，本集團產生虧損約4,482,000美元。
於二零二四年十二月三十一日，本集
團流動負債淨額及負債淨額分別約為
5,048,000美元及5,901,000美元。

該等事件及情況表明存在重大不確定
性，可能會導致對本集團持續經營及在
日常業務過程中變現其資產並償還其負
債之能力產生重大疑慮。

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value 
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based 
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 
measurements are observable and the significance of the 
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are 
described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or 
liability.

The Group incurred a loss of approximately US$4,482,000 
during the year ended 31 December 2024. As at 31 
December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities and net 
liabilities of approximately US$5,048,000 and US$5,901,000 
respectively.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of a 
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to 
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business.
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3. 編製綜合財務報表的基準（續）

儘管如此，董事在編製本集團的該等綜
合財務報表時基於（包括但不限於）下列
措施採納持續經營基準：

(a) 於 二 零 二 五 年 三 月 二 十 日，
Gal loway向本公司授出最高金額
5,000,000美元的融資。該融資屬無
抵押，按年利率12%計息，且本金
連同任何應計利息應於自融資函日
期起十二個月內的日期償還，除非
經雙方同意予以延期；

(b) 此外，於二零二五年三月二十
日，Ga l loway同意延期償還貸款
2,000,000美元，並同意不要求於到
期日償還貸款，直至本公司有能力
償還為止；及

(c) 本集團將努力實施運營計劃，控制
成本及產生充足運營現金流量，以
履行當前及未來的義務。該等行動
包括成本控制措施和及時收取尚未
收取之應收款項。

董事已通過編製本集團截至二零二六
年三月三十一日止十五個月的現金流
量預測估計本集團的現金需求。董事認
為，本集團有充足的營運資金應付其目
前需求（即截至二零二六年三月三十一
日止十五個月）。因此，董事認為採用持
續經營基準編製該等綜合財務報表乃屬 

恰當。

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Nevertheless, the Directors had adopted the going concern 
basis in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, based on the measures including 
but not limited to the following:

(a) on 20 March 2025, Galloway has granted a facility to 
the Company for an amount of up to US$5,000,000. 
The facility is unsecured, interest bearing at 12% per 
annum and the principal together with any interest 
accrued shall be repaid on the date falling twelve 
months from the date of the facility letter, unless 
extended by mutual consent;

(b) also on 20 March 2025, Galloway has agreed to 
extend the repayment of the loans of US$2,000,000 
and agreed not to demand repayment of the loans 
on maturity date until the Company is in a position to 
repay; and

(c) the Group will seek to implement operational plans to 
control costs and generate sufficient operating cash 
flows to meet its current and future obligations. These 
actions include cost control measures, and timely 
collection of outstanding receivables.

The Directors have estimated the Group’s cash requirements 
by preparing a Group cashflow forecast for the 15 months 
ending 31 March 2026. The Directors are of the opinion 
that the Group has sufficient working capital for its present 
requirements, that is for 15 months ending 31 March 
2026. Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
these consolidated financial statements.
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3. 編製綜合財務報表的基準（續）

儘管如此，本集團能否繼續持續經營業
務仍存在重大不確定性，將取決於以下
各項：

(a) 成功於有需要時提取融資；及

(b) 成功實施有效控制成本及開支的措
施，並及時收回應收款項。

倘本集團未能實現上述計劃及措施，則
可能無法繼續持續經營業務，並因而須
作出調整以將本集團資產的賬面值撇減
至可收回金額，就可能產生的任何其他
負債計提撥備，以及將非流動資產及非
流動負債分別重新分類為流動資產及流
動負債。該等調整的影響並無反映於綜
合財務報表中。

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notwithstanding, material uncertainty exists as to whether 
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would 
depend upon the following:

(a) successful draw down of the facility as and when 
needed; and

(b) successful implementation of measures to effectively 
control costs and expenses and timely collection of 
receivables.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans 
and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as 
a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to 
write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their 
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities 
that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and 
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities 
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been 
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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4. 重大會計政策資料

綜合賬目基準

綜合財務報表包含本公司以及本公司及
其附屬公司控制實體之財務報表。當本
公司符合以下條件時，則視作取得控制
權：

• 可對被投資對象行使權力；

• 因參與被投資對象業務而承擔浮動
回報之風險或有權享有浮動回報；
及

• 能使用其權力影響其回報。

倘有事實及情況顯示上文所列三項控制
權要素之一項或以上出現變動，則本集
團會重新評估其是否對被投資對象擁有
控制權。

附屬公司綜合入賬於本集團取得有關附
屬公司之控制權起開始，並於本集團失
去有關附屬公司之控制權時終止。具體
而言，所收購或出售的附屬公司於本年
度之收入及開支自本集團取得控制權當
日起直至本集團不再控制有關附屬公司
當日計入綜合損益及其他全面收益表。

損益及其他全面收入之每個項目乃歸屬
於本公司擁有人及非控股權益。附屬公
司之全面收入總額歸屬於本公司擁有人
及非控股權益，即使此舉會導致非控股
權益產生虧絀結餘。

如有需要，會對附屬公司之財務報表作
出調整，以使其會計政策與本集團之會
計政策一致。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved 
when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee 
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains 
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains 
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income 
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of 
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and 
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in 
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

綜合賬目基準（續）

所有集團內公司間之資產及負債、權益、
收支及現金流量（與本集團成員公司間之
交易有關）均於綜合賬目時全數對銷。

於本公司財務狀況表內，於一家附屬公
司之投資乃按成本減任何減值虧損列
賬。本公司按已收及應收股息基準將附
屬公司業績入賬。

於一間聯營公司之投資

聯營公司指本集團對其有重大影響力之
實體。重大影響力指參與被投資對象財
務及經營政策決策但並無控制或共同控
制該等決策之權力。

聯營公司的業績、資產及負債乃以權益
會計法納入該等綜合財務報表。權益會
計法所使用的聯營公司財務報表，乃使
用與本集團於類似情況下進行的類近交
易及事件一致的會計政策編製。根據權
益法，於一間聯營公司之投資乃按成本
於綜合財務狀況表中初步確認，並於其
後調整以確認本集團應佔該聯營公司的
損益及其他全面收入。除損益及其他全
面收入外，聯營公司資產淨值變動不會
入賬，除非該等變動導致本集團持有的
擁有權權益變動。當本集團應佔聯營公
司的虧損超出本集團於該聯營公司的權
益（包括實際上構成本集團對聯營公司投
資淨額部分之任何長期權益），則本集團
不再繼續確認其應佔的進一步虧損。本
集團僅會在其已代有關聯營公司承擔法
律或推定義務或作出付款之情況下，確
認額外的虧損。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses 
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment 
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment loss. The 
result of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on 
the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant 
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee 
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associate are 
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements 
using the equity method of accounting. The financial 
statements of the associate used for equity accounting 
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies as 
those of the Group for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment in an 
associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of the associate. Changes in net 
assets of the associate other than profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such 
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by 
the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate 
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes 
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of 
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional 
losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the associate.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

於一間聯營公司之投資（續）

於一間聯營公司之投資自被投資對象成
為聯營公司當日起採用權益法入賬。收
購於一間聯營公司之投資時，投資成本
超出本集團應佔被投資對象可識別資產
及負債公允價值淨額的任何部分確認為
商譽，並計入投資賬面值內。本集團應佔
可識別資產及負債公允價值淨額超出投
資成本的任何部分，經重新評估後，即時
於收購投資期間在損益內確認。

本集團評估是否有客觀證據顯示在聯營
公司的權益可能出現減值。當存在任何
客觀證據時，投資的全數賬面值（包括商
譽）將作為單一資產根據香港會計準則第
36號進行減值測試，方法是將其可收回
金額（即使用價值與公允價值減出售成本
之較高者）與其賬面值進行比較。任何已
確認的減值虧損不會分配至構成投資賬
面值一部份的任何資產（包括商譽）。該
減值虧損之任何撥回乃根據香港會計準
則第36號按投資之可收回金額其後增加
確認。

當集團實體與本集團一間聯營公司進行
交易時，與聯營公司交易所產生的損益
在於聯營公司的權益與本集團並無關聯
的情況下，方會於本集團綜合財務報表
確認。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using 
the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an 
associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which 
is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of 
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the 
investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is 
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence 
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any 
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the 
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing 
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair 
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any 
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, 
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount 
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is 
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that 
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently 
increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the 
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with 
the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the 
associate that are not related to the Group.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

外幣

於編製各個別集團實體財務報表時，以
該實體功能貨幣以外之貨幣（外幣）進行
之交易，乃按於交易日之現行匯率確認。
於報告期末，以外幣計值之貨幣項目乃
按該日之現行匯率重新換算。按公允價
值列賬及以外幣列值之非貨幣項目乃按
其公允價值釐定當日之現行匯率重新換
算。按過往成本以外幣計值之非貨幣項
目毋須重新換算。

結算貨幣項目及換算貨幣項目時產生的
匯兌差額均於其產生的期間內於損益表
確認。

就呈報綜合財務報表而言，本集團業務
之資產及負債按各報告期末使用之現
行匯率換算為本集團之呈列貨幣（即美
元）。收入及支出項目則按期內之平均匯
率換算，除非匯率於期內出現大幅波動，
在該情況下，則採用交易當日的匯率換
算。所產生之匯兌差額（如有）於其他全
面收入確認並於權益之交易儲備項下累
計（計入非控股權益（倘適用））。

於出售海外業務（即出售本集團於海外業
務之全部權益，或出售涉及失去包含海
外業務附屬公司之控制權或出售於聯營
公司（包含海外業務）之部份權益，當中的
保留權益成為財務資產時）時，就本公司
擁有人應佔之業務於權益累計之所有匯
兌差額重新分類至損益。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group 
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional 
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised 
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Nonmonetary items 
carried at FV that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the FV 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not 
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of 
the Group (i.e. US dollars) using exchange rates prevailing 
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses 
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during 
the period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of 
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed 
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal 
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or 
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that 
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an 
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation of 
which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of 
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of 
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company 
are reclassified to profit or loss.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

物業、廠房及設備

物業、廠房及設備乃作生產或供應商品
或服務或行政用途而持有的有形資產。
物業、廠房及設備於綜合財務狀況表按
成本減日後累計折舊及日後累計減值虧
損（如有）列賬。

物業、廠房及設備的成本包括其購買價
及項目收購直接應佔成本。

其後成本僅在與該項目有關的未來經濟
利益有可能流入本集團，而該項目成本
能可靠計量時，方計入資產賬面值或確
認為獨立資產（如適當）。更換部分的賬
面值予以確認。所有其他成本，例如維修
及保養成本於其產生的財務期間內在損
益確認為開支。

物業、廠房及設備的折舊乃以直線法於
估計可使用年期內按足以撇銷其成本減
去剩餘價值撥備。就此使用的估計可使
用年期如下：

傢俬及裝置 5年
電腦及其他設備 3至5年

資產之估計剩餘價值、折舊方法及估計
可使用年期須於各報告日期進行檢討，
並於適當情況下作出調整，而任何估計
變動之影響會按未來基準入賬。

物業、廠房及設備項目乃於出售後或預
期持續使用該資產不會產生未來經濟利
益時終止確認。出售或收回物業、廠房及
設備項目所產生之任何收益或虧損乃根
據銷售所得款項與資產賬面值之差額釐
定，並於損益確認。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are 
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, 
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment 
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and 
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its 
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is recognised. All other costs, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to 
write off their cost less the expected residual value over their 
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful lives used for this purpose are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Computer and other equipment 3-5 years

The assets’ expected residual values, depreciation methods 
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each reporting date, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of 
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.



142 REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED 勵晶太平洋集團有限公司

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
　　　

4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

租賃

本集團會於合約開始時根據香港財務報
告準則第16號的定義評估合約是否為租
賃或包含租賃。除非其後變更合約條款
及條件，否則該合約將不予重新評估。

本集團作為承租人

將代價分配至合約的各組成部分

倘合約包含租賃組成部分及一項或多項
額外租賃或非租賃組成部分時，本集團
會根據租賃組成部分的相對獨立價格及
非租賃組成部分的獨立價格總額將合約
的代價分配至各租賃組成部分。

本集團採用可行權宜方法，不從租賃組
成部分中區分非租賃組成部分，而是將
租賃組成部分及任何相關非租賃組成部
分以單一租賃組成部分入賬。

短期租賃及低價值資產租賃

本集團將短期租賃確認豁免應用於自開
始日期起租期為12個月或以下且不包含
購買選擇權之辦公室及員工宿舍租賃。
本集團亦對低價值資產租賃應用確認豁
免。短期租賃及低價值資產租賃的租賃
付款按直線法確認為開支。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a 
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception 
of the contract. Such contract will not be reassessed unless 
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently 
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or 
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease 
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of 
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of 
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead 
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition 
exemption to leases of office and staff quarters that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement 
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the 
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease 
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

租賃（續）

本集團作為承租人（續）

使用權資產

使用權資產的成本包括：

• 租賃負債的初始計量金額；

• 於開始日期或之前支付的任何租賃
付款，扣除任何已收租賃優惠；

• 本集團產生的任何初步直接成本；
及

• 本集團為拆卸及移除相關資產、恢
復其所在地或將相關資產恢復至租
賃條款及條件所規定的狀態時所產
生的預計成本。

使用權資產按成本減任何累計折舊及減
值虧損計量，並就任何重新計量租賃負
債作出調整。本集團合理確定於租期結
束時獲得相關租賃資產擁有權的使用權
資產自開始日期起至可使用年期結束止
計提折舊。否則，使用權資產於其估計可
使用年期及租期兩者中的較短者按直線
法計提折舊。

本集團於綜合財務狀況表內將使用權資
產呈列為單獨項目。

可退還租賃按金

已支付可退還租賃按金根據香港財務報
告準則第9號「金融工具」入賬，初步按公
允價值計量。初步確認時對公允價值的
調整被視為額外租賃付款，並計入使用
權資產的成本。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease 
liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

• an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group 
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, 
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the 
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms 
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-
use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain 
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the 
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to 
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its 
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item 
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 
9 “Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered 
as additional lease payments and included in the cost of 
right-of-use assets.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續）

租賃（續）

本集團作為承租人（續）

租賃負債

於租賃開始日期，本集團按當日尚未支
付的租賃付款的現值確認及計量租賃負
債。在計算租賃付款的現值時，倘租賃中
隱含的利率無法合理確定，則本集團採
用租賃開始日期的增量借貸利率。

租賃付款包括固定付款（包括實質性的固
定付款）減任何應收租賃優惠。

在開始日期以後，租賃負債根據利息增
加及租賃付款進行調整。

倘出現以下情況，本集團重新計量租賃
負債（並對相關的使用權資產作出相應調
整）：

• 租期有所變動或行使購買選擇權的
評估有變，在此情況下，相關租賃
負債透過使用重新評估日期的經修
訂貼現率貼現經修訂租賃付款而重
新計量。

• 租賃付款因在市場租金審查的市場
租金率的變化而發生變化，在此等
情況下，相關租賃負債透過使用初
步貼現率貼現經修訂租賃付款而重
新計量。

• 租賃合約被修改且租賃修訂並不作
為單獨的租賃入賬。

本集團於綜合財務狀況表內將租賃負債
呈列為單獨項目。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises 
and measures the lease liability at the present value of 
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating 
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the 
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including 
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives 
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted 
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a 
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever:

• the lease term has changed or there is a change in 
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

• the lease payments change due to changes in market 
rental rates following a market rent review, in which 
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate.

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification 
is not accounted for as a separate lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on 
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

租賃（續）

本集團作為承租人（續）

租賃修改

在下列情況下，本集團將租賃修改作為
單獨租賃入賬：

• 該修改通過增加一項或多項相關資
產的使用權擴大租賃範圍；及

• 租賃代價增加的金額與針對擴大租
賃範圍的單獨價格及為反映特定合
約的具體情況而對單獨價格作出的
任何適當調整相稱。

就未作為一項單獨租賃入賬的租賃修改
而言，本集團通過使用修改生效日期的
經修訂貼現率貼現經修訂的租賃付款，
根據經修改租賃之租期重新計量租賃負
債減任何應收租賃優惠。

本集團通過對相關使用權資產做出相應
調整，對租賃負債的重新計量進行會計
處理。倘經修改的合約包含租賃組成部
分及一項或多項額外租賃或非租賃組成
部分時，本集團會根據租賃組成部分的
相對獨立價格及非租賃組成部分的獨立
價格總額將經修訂合約的代價分配至各
租賃組成部分。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate 
lease if:

• the modification increases the scope of the lease by 
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

• the consideration for the leases increases by an amount 
commensurate with the stand--alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to 
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a 
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less 
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of 
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments 
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities 
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease 
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease 
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the 
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of 
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the 
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

無形資產

業務合併中所收購的無形資產與商譽分
開確認，並按其於收購日期的公允價值
（被視為其成本）初步確認。

於初步確認後，業務合併中所收購具有
有限可使用年期的無形資產按成本減累
計攤銷及任何累計減值虧損呈報，與單
獨收購的無形資產所採用的基準相同。

無形資產於出售時或預期使用或出售不
會帶來未來經濟利益時終止確認。終止
確認無形資產所產生的收益或虧損以出
售所得款項淨額與資產賬面值之間的差
額計量，於資產終止確認時於損益中確
認。

攤銷於其估計可使用年期內按直線法計
算，如下所示：

專利(FortacinTM) 8年
知識產權(Deep Longevity) 7年

撥備及或有負債

當本集團因已發生的事件須承擔現有法
定或推定責任，本集團很可能須清償有
關責任，且該責任的金額能被可靠估計，
則確認撥備。

確認為撥備之金額乃經計及有關責任之
風險及不確定因素後，對於報告期末清
償現時責任所需代價作出之最佳估計。
當撥備乃使用估計用以清償現時責任的
現金流量計量，其賬面值為該等現金流
量（當貨幣時間價值的影響屬重大）的現
值。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially 
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is 
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported 
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that 
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an 
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives are as follows:

Patent (FortacinTM) 8 years
IP (Deep Longevity) 7 years

Provision and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the 
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle 
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present 
value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value 
of money is material).
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

撥備及或有負債（續）

或有負債是由已發生的事件產生的現時
責任，但由於不太可能需要具有經濟利
益之資源流出以清償該責任，因此未予
確認。

倘本集團對某項責任承擔共同及個別責
任，則該責任中預期由其他方履行的部
分被視為或有負債，且不會於綜合財務
報表中確認。

本集團持續進行評估，以確定具有經濟
利益之資源是否可能流出。倘先前作為
或有負債處理的項目很可能需要有未來
經濟利益的流出，則在可能性發生變化
的報告期內於綜合財務報表中確認撥
備，除非在極少數情況下無法做出可靠
估計。

金融工具

金融資產及金融負債在集團實體成為工
具合約條文訂約方時確認。所有以一般
方式買賣之金融資產乃於買賣當日被確
認及終止確認。一般方式買賣指要求於
市場規管或慣例設定時限內交付資產之
金融資產買賣。

除與客戶簽訂的合約產生的應收貿易賬
款根據香港財務報告準則第15號進行初
步計量外，金融資產及金融負債初步按
公允價值計量。初步確認時，收購或發行
金融資產及金融負債直接產生之交易成
本將加入或從金融資產或金融負債之公
允價值扣減（如適用）。收購透過損益賬
按公允價值處理之金融資產或金融負債
直接產生之交易成本，即時於損益內確
認。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Provision and contingent liabilities (Continued)

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past 
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an 
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be 
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and it 
is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has 
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow 
of future economic benefits will be required for an item 
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the 
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs, 
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no reliable 
estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of 
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 
frame established by regulation or convention in the market 
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured 
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in 
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets 
and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from the 
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as 
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial 
liabilities at FVPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

實際利率法是計算金融資產或金融負債
的攤銷成本以及將利息收入及利息開支
分配至相關期間的方法。實際利率指將
金融資產或金融負債於整個預計年期或
較短期間內（如適當）的估計未來可收取
現金及付款（包括構成實際利率不可或缺
部分的所有已付或已收費用及點數、交
易成本及其他溢價或折讓）準確貼現至初
步確認時的賬面淨值的利率。

利息收入按金融資產的實際利率基準確
認，並以其他收入列示。

金融資產

金融資產的分類及後續計量

符合以下條件的金融資產後續按攤銷成
本計量：

• 以收取合約現金流量為目的之業務
模式持有之金融資產；及

• 合約條款於指定日期產生的現金流
量僅為支付本金及未償還本金的利
息。

符合以下條件的金融資產其後按公允價
值計入其他全面收入（「按公允價值計入
其他全面收入」）計量：

• 以收取合約現金流量及出售金融資
產為目的之業務模式持有之金融資
產；及

• 合約條款於指定日期產生的現金流
量僅為支付本金及未償還本金的利
息。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and 
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected 
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for 
financial assets and are presented as other income.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are 
subsequently measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

• the financial asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; 
and

• the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

金融資產的分類及後續計量（續）

所有其他金融資產後續透過損益賬按公
允價值處理計量，惟倘該股本投資既非
持作買賣用途，亦非香港財務報告準則
第3號業務合併所適用的業務合併收購方
確認的或有代價，於金融資產初步確認
時，本集團或會不可撤銷地於其他全面
收益中呈列股本投資公允價值之後續變
動。

倘出現下列情況，則金融資產為持作買
賣用途：

• 購入金融資產主要是為於短期內出
售；或

• 於初步確認時，其構成本集團合併
管理之已確定金融工具組合之一
部份，且具有最近實際短期獲利模
式；或

• 其為未被指定及可有效作為對沖工
具之衍生工具。

此外，倘可消除或顯著減少會計錯配發
生，則本集團可以不可撤回地指定須按
攤銷成本計量或按公允價值計入其他全
面收入之金融資產為透過損益賬按公允
價值處理計量。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVPL, 
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the 
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes 
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive 
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading 
nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer 
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business 
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that the Group manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term 
profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not a designated and effective 
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised 
cost or FVOCI as measured at FVPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

金融資產的分類及後續計量（續）

攤銷成本及利息收入

就隨後按攤銷成本計量的金融資產而
言，利息收入使用實際利率法確認。利息
收入通過對金融資產之賬面總值採用實
際利率計算，惟其後出現信貸減值的金
融資產除外（見下文）。對於後續發生信
貸減值的金融資產，利息收入從下一報
告期開始通過對金融資產攤銷成本採用
實際利率予以確認。倘已發生信貸減值
的金融工具的信貸風險得到改善，導致
該金融資產不再發生信貸減值，則自確
定該資產不再發生信貸減值的報告期開
始，利息收入通過對金融資產之賬面總
值採用實際利率予以確認。

被指定為按公允價值計入其他全面收入
之權益工具

按公允價值計入其他全面收入之權益工
具投資於後續按公允價值計量，公允價
值變動產生的收益及虧損於其他全面收
益中確認並於投資重估儲備中累計；且
不對其進行減值評估。處置股本投資時，
累計收益或虧損不會重新分類至損益，
而會轉入累計虧損。

該等權益工具投資產生的股息乃於本集
團有權收取股息時於損益中確認，除非
股息明確表示收回部分投資成本。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial 
assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest 
method for financial assets measured subsequently at 
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying 
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount 
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For 
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial 
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the 
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning 
of the reporting period following the determination that the 
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVOCI are subsequently 
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation 
reserves; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The 
cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss 
on disposal of the equity investments, and is transferred to 
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive 
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly 
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.



151ANNUAL REPORT 2024 年報

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註

　　　

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

根據香港財務報告準則第9號進行減值評
估的金融資產減值

本集團根據香港財務報告準則第9號就進
行減值評估的金融資產（包括應收貿易賬
款、其他應收款項、受限制銀行結餘及現
金及銀行結餘）根據預期信貸虧損（「預期
信貸虧損」）模式進行減值評估。預期信
貸虧損金額於各報告日期進行更新，以
反映自初步確認以來的信貸風險變動。

年限內預期信貸虧損指於相關工具之預
計年期內所有可能違約事件而產生的預
期信貸虧損。相較之下，12個月預期信
貸虧損（「 12個月預期信貸虧損」）指於報
告日期後12個月內因可能發生的違約事
件而預期產生的部分年限內預期信貸虧
損。評估乃基於本集團過往信貸虧損經
驗進行、並根據債務人特定因素、整體經
濟狀況及於報告日期對當前狀況的評估
及對未來狀況的預測作出調整。

本集團一直就應收貿易賬款確認年限內
預期信貸虧損。

就所有其他工具而言，本集團計量的虧
損撥備等於12個月預期信貸虧損，除非
自初步確認後信貸風險顯著增加，在此
情況下，本集團確認年限內預期信貸虧
損。是否應確認年限內預期信貸虧損的
評估乃基於自初步確認以來發生違約之
可能性或風險的顯著增加。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected 
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets including trade 
receivables, other receivables, restricted bank balances and 
cash and bank balances which are subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated 
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since 
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) 
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 
result from default events that are possible within 12 months 
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the 
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade 
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss 
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is 
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a 
default occurring since initial recognition.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

根據香港財務報告準則第9號進行減值評
估的金融資產減值（續）
(i) 信貸風險顯著增加

評估信貸風險是否自初步確認以來
顯著增加時，本集團比較金融工具
於報告日期發生違約的風險與金融
工具於初步確認日期發生違約的風
險。作出該評估時，本集團會考慮
合理及可靠的定量及定性資料，包
括過往經驗及無需付出過多成本或
努力即可得的前瞻性資料。

具體而言，評估信貸風險是否顯著
增加時會考慮以下資料：

• 金融工具外部（如有）或內部
信貸測評的實際或預期顯著
惡化；

• 信貸風險的外部市場指標顯
著惡化，例如信用息差顯著增
加，債務人的信用違約掉期價
大幅上升；

• 業務、財務或經濟情況目前或
預期將有不利變動，預計將導
致債務人償還債務義務的能
力顯著下降；

• 債務人經營業績實際或預期
顯著惡化；

• 債務人的監管、經濟或技術環
境有實際或預期的顯著不利
變動，導致債務人償還債務義
務的能力顯著下降。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the 
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, 
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience and forward-looking 
information that is available without undue cost or 
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into 
account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

• significant deterioration in external market 
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase 
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices 
for the debtor;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, 
financial or economic conditions that are expected 
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s 
ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the operating results of the debtor;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change 
in the regulatory, economic, or technological 
environment of the debtor that results in a 
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet 
its debt obligations.



153ANNUAL REPORT 2024 年報

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註

　　　

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

根據香港財務報告準則第9號進行減值評
估的金融資產減值（續）
(i) 信貸風險顯著增加（續）

無論上述評估的結果如何，本集團
假設倘合約付款逾期超過30日，則
信貸風險自初步確認以來顯著增
加，除非本集團有能說明信貸風險
並無顯著增加的合理及可靠資料，
則作別論。

儘管有上述規定，若於報告日期債
務工具被判定為具有較低信貸風
險，本集團會假設債務工具信貸風
險自初步確認以來並無顯著增加。
在下列情況下，債務工具會被判定
為具有較低信貸風險：(i)其具有較
低違約風險，(ii)借款人有很強的能
力履行近期的合約現金流量義務，
及( i i i )經濟及商業環境的長期不利
變動有可能但未必會降低借款人履
行合約現金流量義務的能力。本集
團認為，根據眾所周知的定義，若
債務工具的內部或外部信貸評級為
「投資級」，則該債務工具具有低
信貸風險。

本集團定期監察識別信貸風險是否
顯著增加所用標準的有效性，並酌
情修訂以確保該標準能夠在賬款逾
期前識別信貸風險的大幅增加。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 
Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the 
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have 
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the 
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual 
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the 
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow 
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to 
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external 
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally 
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of 
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as 
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the 
amount becomes past due.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

根據香港財務報告準則第9號進行減值評
估的金融資產減值（續）
(ii) 違約的定義

就內部信貸風險管理而言，當內部
產生或獲取自外部來源的資料表
明，債務人不太可能向其債權人（包
括本集團）全額還款（不計及本集團
持有的任何抵押品），本集團認為發
生了違約事件。

無論上述情況如何，本集團認為，
倘金融資產逾期超過90日，則已發
生違約事件，除非本集團有能說明
更寬鬆的違約標準更為合適的合理
可靠資料，則作別論。

(iii) 信貸減值金融資產

當一項或多項對金融資產未來現金
流的估計有負面影響的事件發生
時，金融資產會被視為出現信貸減
值。金融資產出現信貸減值的證據
包括以下事件的可觀察數據：

(a) 發行人或借款人面對重大財
務困難；

(b) 違反合約，如違約或逾期事
件；

(c) 借款人的貸款人出於與借款
人財務困難相關的經濟或合
約原因，而向借款人授予貸款
人原本不會考慮的優惠；

(d) 借款人有可能申請破產或需
要進行其他財務重組安排；

(e) 該金融資產因財務困難而失
去活躍市場。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group 
considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources 
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 
including the Group, in full (without taking into account 
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that 
default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information to demonstrate that a 
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the 
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due 
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or 
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower 
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not 
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that 
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

根據香港財務報告準則第9號進行減值評
估的金融資產減值（續）
(iv) 撇銷政策

當有資料指出交易方陷入嚴重財務
困難及沒有實際可回收的可能，例
如，交易方已遭清盤或已進入破產
程序時，本集團會撇銷金融資產。
已撇銷的金融資產仍可在適當情況
下考慮法律意見後根據本集團的收
回程序實施執行行動。撇銷構成終
止確認事項。任何其後收回款項會
於損益中確認。

(v) 預期信貸虧損的計量及確認

預期信貸虧損的計量的依據為違約
概率、違約損失率（即違約時的損失
程度）及違約風險的函數。評估違約
概率及違約損失率的依據為過往數
據及前瞻性資料。預期信貸虧損的
估計反映以發生違約的風險作為權
重而確定的無偏概率加權金額。

一般而言，預期信貸虧損為根據合
約應付本集團的所有合約現金流量
與本集團預計收取的現金流量（按
於初步確認時確定的實際利率貼
現）之間的差額。

應收貿易賬款的年限內預期信貸虧
損經考慮過往逾期資料及前瞻性宏
觀經濟資料等相關信貸資料按集體
基準考慮。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset, when there is 
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect 
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has 
been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off 
may still be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account 
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes 
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability 
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at 
default. The assessment of the probability of default 
and loss given default is based on historical data 
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL 
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount 
that is determined with the respective risks of default 
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on 
a collective basis taking into consideration past due 
information and relevant credit information such as 
forward looking macroeconomic information.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

根據香港財務報告準則第9號進行減值評
估的金融資產減值（續）
(v) 預期信貸虧損的計量及確認（續）

就集體評估而言，本集團訂立組別
時考慮以下特徵：

• 逾期狀況；

• 債務人的性質、規模及行業；
及

• 外部信貸評級（如有）。

歸類工作經管理層定期檢討，以確
保各組別成分繼續具有類似信貸風
險特徵。

利息收入乃根據金融資產之賬面總
值計算，除非金融資產出現信貸減
值，在此情況下，利息收入根據金
融資產之攤銷成本計算。

本集團通過調整所有金融工具的賬
面值而於損益內確認其減值收益或
虧損，惟應收貿易賬款除外，其相
應調整通過虧損撥備賬確認。

金融資產的終止確認

僅當從資產收取現金流量之合約權利已
屆滿，或當其金融資產及資產擁有權之
絕大部分風險及回報轉讓予另一實體
時，本集團方會終止確認該金融資產。

終止確認按攤銷成本計量的金融資產
時，資產的賬面值與已收及應收代價之
和的差額於損益中確認。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment 
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into 
consideration the following characteristics when 
formulating the grouping:

• Past-due status;

• Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

• External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to 
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share 
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the 
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest 
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the 
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in 
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade 
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is 
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

金融工具（續）

金融資產（續）

金融資產的終止確認（續）

於終止確認權益工具投資時（本集團於
初步確認時選擇按公允價值計入其他全
面收入計量），先前於投資重估儲備中累
計的累計收益或虧損不會重新分類至損
益，但會轉入累計虧損。

金融負債及權益工具

分類為債務或權益

債務及權益工具乃根據合約安排的內容
與金融負債及權益工具的定義分類為金
融負債或權益。

權益工具

權益工具指在減除所有負債後顯示實體
資產中的剩餘權益的任何合約。本公司
發行的權益工具確認為扣除直接發行成
本後的已收所得款項。

按攤銷成本計量的金融負債

金融負債（包括應付貿易賬款、應計賬款
及其他應付款項、銀行借貸、股東貸款及
租賃負債）其後按攤銷成本使用實際利率
法計量。

終止確認金融負債

當及僅當本集團的責任被履行、取消或
已屆滿時，本集團會終止確認金融負債。
終止確認的金融負債的賬面值與已付及
應付代價之間的差額於損益確認。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument 
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserves is not 
reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated 
losses.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial 
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, accruals and 
other payables, bank borrowings, shareholder’s loans and 
lease liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only 
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

持作出售非流動資產

倘非流動資產或處置組主要透過出售交
易而非透過持續使用收回其賬面值，則
將其分類為持作出售。僅當出售可能性
極大及資產或處置組在其現狀下可以被
立即出售，才會被視為滿足該條件。本集
團必須就出售作出承諾，預計自分類為
該類別當日起一年內，可確認為已完成
出售。

分類為持作出售之非流動資產或處置組
按資產或處置組過往賬面值與公允價值
減成本之較低者計量出售，惟已訂明獲
豁免此項規定之資產除外，如遞延稅項
資產、僱員福利產生之資產、按公允價值
列賬之金融資產及投資物業以及保險合
約項下之合約權利。

非流動資產（包括構成處置組一部分的資
產）於分類為持作待售時不計提折舊或攤
銷。分類為持作出售的處置組之負債繼
續確認應佔利息及其他開支。

分類為持作出售的非流動資產及分類為
持作出售的處置組資產與資產負債表中
之其他資產分開呈列。分類為持作出售
之處置組之負債與資產負債表中其他負
債分開呈列。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is 
highly probable and the asset or disposal group is available 
for immediate sale in its present condition. The Group must 
be committed to the sale, which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year 
from the date of classification.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held for 
sale are measured at the lower of the asset’s or disposal 
group’s previous carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, 
assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets 
and investment property that are carried at fair value and 
contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are 
specifically exempt from this requirement.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a 
disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised while they 
are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses 
attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as 
held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets 
of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented 
separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The 
liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are 
presented separately from other liabilities in the balance 
sheet.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

現金及現金等價物

現金及現金等價物包括銀行現金及手頭
現金、銀行及其他金融機構活期存款以
及可隨時轉換為已知現金金額且因於收
購時為於三個月內到期而存在價值變動
的非重大風險的短期高流動性投資。就
綜合現金流量表而言，現金及現金等價
物亦包括須按要求償還及構成集團現金
管理一部分的銀行透支。

收益及其他收入

收益於客戶獲得個別產品或服務的控制
權時按本集團預期有權收取之承付代價
金額（不包括代表第三方收取之金額）確
認。收益不包括增值稅或其他銷售稅，並
已扣除任何交易折扣。

本集團就開發、供應及商業化服務訂立
許可協議。該等安排條款一般包括向本
集團支付下列一項或多項：簽字付款、開
發及監管申請里程碑款項以及特許產品
銷售淨額的特許權使用費。里程碑款項
為可變代價，其受限制直至收益於解決
不確定因素時於未來期間的撥回不大可
能為重大風險為止。本集團訂立的合約
一般不會包括重大融資部分。

當客戶能夠使用授權的相關知識產權
時，確認簽字付款收益。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on 
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the group’s cash management are also 
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for 
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service 
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised 
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, 
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is 
after deduction of any trade discounts.

The Group enters into licence agreements for development, 
supply and commercialisation services. The terms of these 
arrangements typically include payments to the Group of 
one or more of the following: signature payment, milestone 
payments for development and regulatory application 
and royalty on net sales of licenced products. A milestone 
payment is a variable consideration which is constrained until 
it is probable that the revenue is not at a significant risk of 
reversal in a future period when the uncertainty is resolved. 
The contracts which the Group enters into do not include 
significant financing components.

Revenue from signature payment is recognised when 
customers have ability to use the underlying IP of the license.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from milestone payments is recognised when the 
Group evaluates whether the milestones are considered 
probable of being achieved and estimates the amount to be 
included in the transaction price using the most likely amount 
method at the inception of each arrangement that includes 
milestone payments. If it is probable that a significant reversal 
of cumulative revenue would not occur, the associated 
milestone value is included in the transaction price. Milestone 
payments that are not within the control of the Group, such 
as regulatory approvals, are not considered probable of 
being achieved until those approvals are received. The Group 
evaluates factors such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory, 
commercial, and other risks that must be overcome to 
achieve the particular milestone in making this assessment. 
There is considerable judgement involved in determining 
whether it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative 
revenue would not occur. At the end of the subsequent 
reporting period, the Group re-evaluates the probability of 
achievement of all milestones subject to constraint and, if 
necessary, adjusts its estimate of the overall transaction price. 
Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-
up basis, which would affect revenues and earnings in the 
period of adjustment.

Revenue from royalty income for a sales-based royalty in 
exchange for a licence of IP is recognised when (or as) the 
later of the following events occurs: (a) the subsequent sale 
occurs; and (b) the performance obligation to which some 
or all of the sales-based royalty has been allocated has been 
satisfied (or partially satisfied).

Revenue derived from contracts for providing age prediction 
and recommendation services include revenue from 
application programming interface (“API”) implementation 
service, platform subscription, support service and provision 
of biological age reports.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

收益及其他收入（續）

當本集團評估里程碑是否被視為可能會
實現，並於包括里程碑付款的每項安排
開始時使用最可能金額法估計將計入交
易價格的金額時，確認里程碑付款收益。
倘累計收益重大撥回很可能將不會發
生，則相關里程碑價值會納入交易價格。
不屬於本集團控制範圍內的里程碑付款
（如監管審批）不會被視為可能會實現，
直至獲得該等審批為止。本集團評估科
學、臨床、監管、商業及在進行此評估時
必須克服以實現特定里程碑的其他風險
等因素。釐定累計收益重大撥回是否很
可能將不會發生時涉及大量判斷。於其
後報告期末，本集團重新評估達致所有
里程碑（受限制）的可能性及（如需要）調
整其整體交易價格的估計。任何有關調
整按累計追補基準入賬，將會影響調整
期間收益及盈利。

以銷售為基礎之專利使用費的專利使用
費收入之收益於交換知識產權牌照時確
認，於（或由於）下列事件較後發生時：(a)

發生其後銷售；及(b)履行分配部分或全
部以銷售為基礎之專利使用費的履約責
任（或部分履行）。

提供年齡預測及建議服務合約所產生的
收益包括來自應用程序編程接口（「API」）
實現服務、平台訂閱、支持服務及提供生
物年齡報告的收益。
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from API implementation service is recognised when 
the API has been implemented.

Revenue from platform subscription and support service are 
recognised in profit or loss over the service period.

Revenue from provision of biological age reports is 
recognised when the biological age reports are delivered to 
customers.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to 
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) 
from the customer.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service 
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual 
leave and long service leave as a result of services 
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave 
are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution 
retirement schemes which are available to all 
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the 
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage 
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit 
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents 
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of 
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw 
the offer of those benefits, and when the Group 
recognises restructuring costs and involves the payment 
of termination benefits.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

收益及其他收入（續）

來自API實現服務的收益於API實現時確
認。

來自平台訂閱及支持服務的收益於服務
期間於損益確認。

來自提供生物年齡報告的收益於生物年
齡報告交付予客戶時確認。

合約負債指本集團因已自客戶收取代價
（或到期收取的代價金額），而須向客戶
轉讓服務的責任。

僱員福利

(i) 僱員應享假期

僱員應享年假及長期服務假期隨員
工累積假期予以確認。本集團已因
僱員提供服務至報告期末的年假及
長期服務假期而產生的估計負債作
出撥備。

僱員應享病假及產假於僱員放假時
方會確認。

(ii) 退休金責任

本集團為所有僱員的定額供款退休
計劃供款。本集團及僱員對計劃的
供款乃按僱員的基本薪金的某個百
分比計算。自損益扣除的退休福利
計劃成本乃指本集團應付該等基金
的供款。

(iii) 終止服務福利

終止服務福利會於本集團無法撤回
福利提供及本集團確認重組成本並
涉及支付終止服務福利的較早日期
予以確認。
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and 
others providing similar services are measured at the fair 
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments 
determined at the grant date without taking into 
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed 
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the 
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually 
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option 
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group 
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of 
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or 
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based payments reserve. For shares/share options that vest 
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the shares/
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit or 
loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously 
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share 
capital. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting 
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount 
previously recognised in share option reserve will continue to 
be held in share option reserve.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

借貸成本

借貸成本於該等借貸成本產生之期間在
損益確認。

以權益結算的股份付款交易

授予僱員及其他提供相若服務之人士之
以股份為基礎按股權結算之付款乃按授
出日期權益工具的公允價值計量。

在不考慮所有非市場歸屬條件的情況
下，於授出日期釐定之以股份為基礎按
股權結算之付款的公允價值乃於歸屬期
間根據本集團估計最終將歸屬之權益工
具以直線法支銷，權益（購股權儲備）亦會
相應增加。於各報告期末，本集團根據對
所有相關非市場歸屬條件的評估，修訂
其估計預期可予歸屬的權益工具數目。
修訂原估計所產生的影響（如有）於損益
中確認，令累計開支反映經修訂的估計，
而以股份為基礎的付款儲備則作出相應
調整。就於授出日期立即歸屬的股份╱
購股權而言，授出的股份╱購股權的公
允價值於損益即時支銷。

當購股權獲行使時，先前於購股權儲備
中確認之款項將轉撥至股本。當購股權
於歸屬日期後被沒收或於到期日仍未獲
行使，則先前於購股權儲備中確認之款
項將將繼續保留於購股權儲備。
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and 
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because 
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for 
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other 
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does 
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary 
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 
an associate, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the 
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected 
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

稅項

所得稅開支為當期及遞延所得稅開支的
總和。

當期應付稅項乃按年度應課稅溢利計
算。由於其他年度的應課稅或可扣稅收
入或開支以及永遠毋須課稅或不可扣稅
的項目，應課稅溢利與除稅前虧損不同。
本集團的當期稅項負債，應按報告期末
前已執行或實質上已執行的稅率計算。

遞延稅項根據綜合財務報表中資產及負
債的賬面值與用作計算應課稅溢利的相
應稅基兩者之間的暫時差額確認。通常
會就所有應課稅暫時差額確認遞延稅項
負債。遞延稅項資產通常就所有可扣稅
暫時差額按將有應課稅溢利可用以抵銷
該等可扣稅暫時差額之情況下確認。倘
暫時差額是因既不影響應課稅溢利也不
影響會計溢利的交易中的資產及負債的
初步確認（業務合併中則除外）而產生，以
及交易當時並無產生同等應課稅及可扣
稅暫時差額，則不會確認該等遞延稅項
資產及負債。

投資附屬公司及聯營公司所涉及之應課
稅暫時差額均確認遞延稅項負債，惟本
集團能控制暫時差額撥回及暫時差額很
大可能不會在可見將來撥回之情況除
外。與該等投資及利息相關的可扣減暫
時差額所產生的遞延稅項資產僅於可能
有足夠應課稅溢利供暫時差額的利益加
以抵銷且預計於可見將來可以撥回時確
認。
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in 
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing 
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first 
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to 
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are 
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 
12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole. 
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of 
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments 
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net 
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes 
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation 
authority.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

稅項（續）

遞延稅項資產的賬面值乃於各報告期末
進行檢討，並會於再不可能有足夠應課
稅溢利以收回全部或部分資產時作出扣
減。

遞延稅項資產及負債乃基於報告期末
前已執行或實質上已執行的稅率（及稅
法），按預期於清償負債或變現資產期間
應用的稅率計量。

遞延稅項負債及資產的計量反映本集團
預期於報告期末收回或結算其資產及負
債賬面值的方式所產生的稅務後果。

就計量本集團確認使用權資產及相關租
賃負債的租賃交易的遞延稅項而言，本
集團首先釐定稅項扣減是否歸因於使用
權資產或租賃負債。

就稅項扣減歸因於租賃負債之租賃交易
而言，本集團將香港會計準則第12號規
定應用於整體租賃交易。與使用權資產
及租賃負債相關的暫時差額按淨額基準
評估。使用權資產折舊超出租賃負債本
金部分的租賃付款的差額可導致可扣減
暫時差額淨額。

當有法定可強制執行權利將即期稅項資
產與即期稅項負債互相抵銷，且於該等
即期稅項資產與即期稅項負債乃與同一
稅務當局向同一應課稅實體徵收的所得
稅相關時，則會將遞延稅項資產與負債
互相抵銷。
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, 
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, 
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is 
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether 
there is any indication that these assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is 
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, 
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate 
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit 
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest 
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable 
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the 
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying 
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of 
cash-generating units.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

稅項（續）

即期及遞延稅項乃於損益中確認，除非
即期及遞延稅項與於其他全面收益或直
接於權益中確認的項目有關，在此情況
下，即期及遞延稅項亦分別於其他全面
收益或直接於權益中確認。倘因業務合
併的初始會計方法而產生即期稅項或遞
延稅項，有關稅務影響計入業務合併的
會計處理。

物業、廠房及設備以及無形資產減值

於報告期末，本集團檢討其具有有限可
使用年期的物業、廠房及設備以及無形
資產的賬面值，以確定是否有任何跡象
顯示該等資產出現減值虧損。如有任何
該等跡象出現，則會估計相關資產的可
收回金額，以釐定減值虧損（如有）的 

程度。

物業、廠房及設備以及無形資產的可收
回金額乃個別估計。倘不可能個別估計
可收回金額，本集團將估計該資產所屬
現金產生單位的可收回金額。

於對現金產生單位進行減值測試時，倘
能建立合理一致的分配基準，企業資產
獲分配至相關現金產生單位，否則會按
能建立的合理一致分配基準分配至最小
的現金產生單位組別。可收回金額由企
業資產所屬的現金產生單位或現金產
生單位組別確定，並與相關現金產生單
位或現金產生單位組別的賬面值進行 

比較。
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or 
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a 
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, 
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of 
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the 
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to 
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable 
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating 
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to 
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) 
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on 
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying 
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its 
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use 
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment 
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset 
is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit. An 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased 
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so 
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

物業、廠房及設備以及無形資產減值（續）

可收回金額指公允價值減出售成本與使
用價值兩者中的較高者。評估使用價值
時，採用除稅前貼現率將估計未來現金
流量貼現至其現值，該貼現率反映目前
貨幣時間價值的市場評估及估計未來現
金流量未經調整的資產（或現金產生單
位）的特定風險。

倘資產（或現金產生單位）的可收回金額
估計低於其賬面值時，則該資產（或現金
產生單位）的賬面值將降低至其可收回金
額。就未能按合理一致基準分配至現金
產生單位的企業資產或一部分企業資產
而言，本集團會將一組現金產生單位的
賬面值（包括分配至該現金產生單位組
別的企業資產或一部分企業資產的賬面
值）與該組現金產生單位的可收回金額作
比較。於分配減值虧損時，減值虧損首先
獲分配以減少任何商譽（如適用）的賬面
值，其後根據單位中每項資產的賬面值
按比例分配至其他資產。資產的賬面值
不會減少至低於其公允價值減出售成本
（如可計量）、其使用價值（如可釐定）及
零的最高值。否則原應將分配至資產的
減值虧損金額按比例分配至該單位的其
他資產。減值虧損即時於損益中確認。

當減值虧損其後撥回時，有關資產（或現
金產生單位）的賬面值將增加至其經修訂
的估計可收回金額，惟其增加後的賬面
值不能超出假設於過往年度並無就該資
產（或現金產生單位）確認減值虧損而原
應釐定的賬面值。減值虧損撥回即時於
損益中確認。
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

關連人士

(a) 倘屬以下人士，則該人士或該人士
家庭近親成員與本集團有關聯：

(i) 控制或共同控制本集團；

(ii) 對本集團有重大影響；或

(iii) 為本集團或本公司母公司的
主要管理層成員。

(b) 倘符合下列任何條件，則實體與本
集團有關聯：

(i) 該實體與本集團屬同一集團
之成員公司（即各母公司、附
屬公司及同系附屬公司彼此
間有關聯）。

(ii) 一間實體為另一實體的聯營
公司或合營企業（或另一實
體為成員公司之集團旗下成
員公司之聯營公司或合營企
業）。

(iii) 兩間實體均為同一第三方的
合營企業。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is 
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the 
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following 
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the 
same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the 
others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the 
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a 
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third 
party.
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4. 重大會計政策資料（續） 

關連人士（續）

(b) （續）

(iv) 一間實體為第三方實體的合
營企業，而另一實體為該第三
方實體的聯營公司。

(v) 實體為本集團或與本集團有
關聯之實體就僱員利益設立
的離職福利計劃。

(vi) 實體受(a)所識別人士控制或
受共同控制。

(vii) 於(a) ( i )所識別人士對實體有
重大影響力或屬該實體（或該
實體的母公司）主要管理層成
員。

(viii) 該實體（或集團（而該實體為
當中成員）內任何成員公司）
向本集團或本公司之母公司
提供主要管理人事服務。

該人士的近親成員是指預期可能會在與
該實體的交易中影響該人士或受其影響
的家庭成員。

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and 
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for 
the benefit of the employees of either the Group 
or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a 
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member of key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a 
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which 
it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family 
members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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5. 關鍵判斷及主要估計

在應用附註4所述本集團會計政策時，董
事須作出對所確認金額有重大影響之判
斷（涉及估計者除外）及對未能從其他來
源確定的資產及負債之賬面值作出估計
及假設。估計及相關假設乃基於過往經
驗及視為相關之其他因素作出。實際結
果可能與該等估計不同。

估計及相關假設須持續檢討。倘會計估
計之修訂僅影響修訂期間，則於該期間
確認，而倘有關修訂影響當前及日後期
間，則於當前及未來期間確認。

應用會計政策之重要判斷

在應用會計政策之過程中，董事已作出
以下對綜合財務報表內所確認數額具最
重大影響之判斷（涉及估計者除外，有關
內容於下文披露）。

持續經營基準

該等綜合財務報表已按持續經營基準編
製，其有效性取決於(i)成功提取融資（於
有需要時）；及(ii)成功實施有效控制成本
及開支的措施，並及時收回應收款項。詳
情見綜合財務報表附註3。

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are 
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make 
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that 
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to 
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the 
Directors have made the following judgements that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving 
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends 
upon (i) successful draw down of the facility as and when 
needed; and (ii) successful implementation of measures to 
effectively control costs and expenses and timely collection 
of receivables. Details are explained in note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES 
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised on the tax losses of 
approximately US$118,764,000 (2023: approximately 
US$118,683,000) due to the unpredictability of future 
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset 
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or 
taxable temporary differences will be available in the 
future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty. 
In cases where the actual future taxable profits 
generated are less or more than expected, or change 
in facts and circumstances which result in revision of 
future taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or 
further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, 
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the 
period in which such a reversal or further recognition 
takes place.

(b) Fair value of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was calculated 
using the Binomial Model which requires the input of 
highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of 
the share price. Continuous estimation is required for 
the calculation of cumulative share-based payment cost 
at the reporting date until vesting, including estimate of 
the number that will vest.

During the year, the Group recognised a share-based 
payment expense of approximately US$116,000 in 
profit or loss (2023: approximately US$193,000).

5. 關鍵判斷及主要估計（續）

估計不確定性因素的主要來源

下文討論具有導致須對下一個財政年度
資產及負債賬面值作出重大調整之重大
風險之未來主要假設及於報告期間結算
日估計不明朗因素之其他主要來源。

(a) 遞延稅項資產

於二零二四年十二月三十一日，由
於未來利潤流的不可預測性而未就
稅項虧損約118,764,000美元（二零
二三年：約118,683,000美元）確認
遞延稅項資產。變現遞延稅項資產
主要視乎是否有足夠未來溢利或將
來可供利用的應課稅臨時差額而
定，其乃估計不明朗因素的主要來
源。倘產生的未來實際應課稅溢利
少於或多於預期，或倘事實及情況
發生變動而導致須修訂未來應課稅
溢利估計，則遞延稅項資產或會進
行重大回撥或進一步確認，並在發
生有關回撥或進一步確認的期間於
損益內確認。

(b) 已授購股權之公允價值

已授購股權之公允價值以二項式模
型計算，該模式需要輸入高度主觀
之假設，包括股價之波幅。於報告
日期計算累計以股份為基礎付款
成本時需要持續估計，直至歸屬為
至，包括估計將予歸屬的數量。

年內，本集團已於損益中確認以股
份為基礎的付款開支約116,000美元
（二零二三年：約193,000美元）。
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6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料

本集團之收益包括專利使用費收入、簽
約款及自知識產權產生的收入。年內本
集團之收益及其他收入分析如下：

本集團已根據定期呈報予行政總裁之內
部財務資料識別其經營分部及編製分部
資料，以根據該等內部財務資料決定本
集團各業務組成部分之資源分配並審閱
該等組成部分之表現。內部呈報予行政
總裁之財務資料之業務組成部分乃根據
本集團之主要產品及服務類別而釐定。

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group consists of royalty income, signature 
payment and income generated from the IP. An analysis of 
the Group’s revenue and other income for the year is as 
follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Royalty income 專利使用費收入 154 171
Signature payment 簽約款 500 –
Income generated from the IP  

(Deep Longevity):
自知識產權(Deep Longevity) 
產生的收入：

– Implementation service －實施服務 – 12
– Subscription and support service －訂購及支援服務 63 68
– Provision of biological age reports －提供生物年齡報告 2 40

 
Revenue from contracts with customers來自客戶合約之收益 719 291

 
Other income 其他收入

– Bank interest income －銀行利息收入 3 15
– Sundry income －雜項收入 82 11

 
85 26

 
804 317 

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares 
segment information based on the regular internal financial 
information reported to the CEO for his decision about 
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and 
for his review of the performance of those components. The 
business components in the internal financial information 
reported to the CEO are determined following the Group’s 
major product and service lines.
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6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

就管理而言，本集團兩項產品及服務類
別已劃分為以下經營分部：

生物醫藥 ： 研究、開發、製造、推廣及
銷售生物醫藥產品以及衰
老生物時鐘領域之人工智
能系統

企業投資 ： 投資於公司企業（上市及
非上市）

有關經營分部受到監督，根據經營分部
業績作出策略決定。可呈報分部之間並
無銷售。

本集團根據香港財務報告準則第8號呈報
分部業績所採用之計量政策與其根據香
港財務報告準則會計準則編製之財務報
表所用者相同，惟計算經營分部之經營
業績時未計入以下內容：

• 融資成本；

• 使用權資產折舊；

• 使用權資產減值虧損；及

• 無形資產減值虧損

分部資產包括所有資產，但不包括於一
間聯營公司之權益及分類為持作出售資
產。

分部負債不包括租賃負債及股東貸款。

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For management purpose, the Group’s two product and 
service lines are identified as operating segments as follows:

Biopharma : Research, development, manufacturing, 
marketing and sale of pharmaceutical 
products and development of AI system 
for the field of biological aging clocks

Corporate 
Investment

: Investment in corporate entities, both 
listed and unlisted

These operating segments are monitored and strategic 
decisions are made on the basis of segment operating results. 
There were no sales between the reportable segments.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting 
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used 
in its financial statements prepared under HKFRS Accounting 
Standards, except that:

• finance costs;

• depreciation of right-of-use assets;

• impairment loss on right-of-use assets; and

• impairment loss on an intangible asset

are not included in arriving at the operating results of the 
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except for interest in an 
associate and asset classified as held for sale.

Segment liabilities exclude lease liabilities and shareholder’s 
loans.
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6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

有關本集團呈報分部之資料載列如下：

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

* 金額少於1,000美元。

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is set 
out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Biopharma
Corporate 

Investment Total
生物醫藥 企業投資 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元   

Revenue from 
external customers

來自外銷客戶之收益
719 – 719   

Segment loss 分部虧損 (649) (3,688) (4,337)

Finance costs 融資成本 (171)
   

Loss before tax 除稅前虧損 (4,508)   

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Biopharma
Corporate 

Investment Total
生物醫藥 企業投資 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元   

Items included in arriving  
at segment results:

計入分部業績的項目：

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment

物業、廠房及設備折舊
(2) (6) (8)

Fair value loss on FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價值
處理之金融資產之 
公允價值虧損 – –* –*

Loss on disposal of FAFVPL 出售透過損益賬按公允
價值處理之金融資產
之虧損 – (80) (80)   

* Amount is less than US$1,000.
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024

Biopharma
Corporate 

Investment Total
生物醫藥 企業投資 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元   

Segment assets 分部資產 278 331 609
Interest in an associate 於一間聯營公司之權益 1

   
Consolidated total assets 綜合資產總額 610   
Segment liabilities 分部負債 208 2,976 3,184
Shareholder’s loans 股東貸款 2,570
Lease liabilities 租賃負債 757

   
Consolidated total liabilities 綜合負債總額 6,511   

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Biopharma
Corporate 

Investment Total
生物醫藥 企業投資 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元

Revenue from 
external customers

來自外銷客戶之收益
291 – 291

Segment loss 分部虧損 (23,772) (3,481) (27,253)

Finance costs 融資成本 (80)
Depreciation of right-

of-use assets
使用權資產折舊

(460)
Impairment loss on right-

of-use assets
使用權資產減值虧損

(1,152)
Impairment loss on an 

intangible asset
無形資產減值虧損

(1,518)

Loss before tax 除稅前虧損 (30,463)

6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

於二零二四年十二月三十一日

截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止年度
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Biopharma
Corporate 

Investment Total
生物醫藥 企業投資 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元

Items included in arriving  
at segment results:

計入分部業績的項目：

Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment

物業、廠房及設備折舊
(6) (10) (16)

Amortisation of intangible 
assets

無形資產攤銷
(22,184) – (22,184)

Fair value loss on FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價值
處理之金融資產之 
公允價值虧損 – (38) (38)

Gain on disposal of FAFVPL 出售透過損益賬按公允
價值處理之金融資產
之收益 – 91 91

As at 31 December 2023

Biopharma
Corporate 

Investment Total
生物醫藥 企業投資 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元

Segment assets 分部資產 270 2,524 2,794
Asset classified as held for sale 分類為持作出售資產 1

Consolidated total assets 綜合資產總額 2,795

Segment liabilities 分部負債 252 2,919 3,171
Lease liabilities 租賃負債 1,175

Consolidated total liabilities 綜合負債總額 4,346

6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止年度

於二零二三年十二月三十一日
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Group’s revenues from external customers and its non-
current assets (other than financial instruments and interest 
in an associate) are divided into the following geographical 
areas:

Revenue from external 
customers Non-current assets
外銷客戶收益 非流動資產
2024 2023 2024 2023

二零二四年 二零二三年 二零二四年 二零二三年
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元  

Europe 歐洲 165 243 1 3
US 美國 18 35 – –
Asia Pacific 亞太地區 536 13 7 7

  
719 291 8 10  

The geographical location of revenue from external 
customers is based on the location of customers of the 
Group’s Biopharma segment. The geographical location of 
the non-current assets is based on the physical location of 
the assets.

6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

本集團來自外銷客戶之收益及非流動資
產（金融工具及於一間聯營公司之權益除
外）按以下地區劃分：

外銷客戶收益之地區乃基於本集團生物
醫藥分部客戶所在地區。非流動資產之
地區乃基於資產實際所在地區。
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from the Group’s Biopharma 
segment and timing of revenue recognition are as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Timing of revenue recognition 確認收益時間

At a point in time 於特定時間
Royalty income 專利使用費收入 154 171
Signature payment 簽約款 500 –
Provision of biological age reports 提供生物年齡報告 2 40
Implementation service 實施服務 – 12

 
656 223

Over time 隨時間
Subscription and support service 訂購及支援服務 63 68

 
719 291 

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated amount of the 
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance 
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is 
approximately US$52,000 (2023: approximately US$10,000). 
This amount represents revenue expected to be recognised in 
the future from partially-completed short-term subscription 
and support service contracts. The Group expects to 
recognise revenue in future when the service is provided, 
which US$52,000 (2023: US$10,000) is expected to occur 
within one year.

6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

收益細分

本集團生物醫藥分部收益之分類及確認
收益時間如下：

於二零二四年十二月三十一日，分配至
本集團現有合約項下餘下履約責任的交
易價格總額約為52,000美元（二零二三
年：約10,000美元）。該金額指預期將於
日後確認的來自部分完成短期訂購及
支援服務合約的收益。本集團預期於日
後提供服務時確認預期收益，預期將於
一年內產生52,000美元（二零二三年：
10,000美元）。
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the Group’s Biopharma segment 
contributing 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is as 
follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Customer A 客戶A 154 171
Customer B 客戶B 500 –
Customer C 客戶C – 37 

7. FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Interest expense on shareholder’s  
loans (note 27)

股東貸款之利息開支 
（附註27） 71 21

Interest expense on lease liabilities 租賃負債之利息開支 100 59
 

171 80 

6. 收益、其他收入及分部資料（續）

有關主要客戶之資料

來自本集團生物醫藥分部為本集團貢獻
收益10%或以上之客戶之收益如下：

7. 融資成本
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8. INCOME TAX CREDIT

The amount of income tax credit in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
represents:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Current tax 即期稅項
– Credit for the year －年內抵免 (26) (27)

Deferred tax credit (note 29) 遞延稅項抵免（附註29） – (5,387)
 

(26) (5,414) 

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 as the relevant group 
entities did not have assessable profits subject to Hong Kong 
Profits Tax for the year (2023: no provision for Hong Kong 
Profit Tax has been made for the year as the relevant group 
entities have sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off 
against current year’s assessable profits).

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the UK, 
subsidiaries of the Company in the UK are subject to UK 
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at 25% (2023: 25%) during 
the year ended 31 December 2024. No provision for UK CIT 
has been made for the year ended 31 December 2024 as 
the relevant group entities have sufficient tax losses brought 
forward to set off against current year’s assessable income 
(2023: no provision for UK CIT has been made as the relevant 
group entities did not have assessable income subject to UK 
CIT for the year).

8. 所得稅抵免

綜合損益及其他全面收益表所列所得稅
抵免指：

由於年內相關集團實體並無須繳納香港
利得稅的應課稅溢利，故截至二零二四
年十二月三十一日止年度並未就香港利
得稅計提撥備（二零二三年：由於相關集
團實體擁有足夠的稅項虧損結轉抵銷本
年度的應課稅溢利，並未就香港利得稅
作出撥備）。

根據英國的相關法律法規，於截至二零
二四年十二月三十一日止年度，本公司
於英國的附屬公司須按稅率25%（二零
二三年：25%）繳納英國企業所得稅（「企
業所得稅」）。截至二零二四年十二月
三十一日止年度，由於相關集團實體擁
有足夠的稅務虧損結轉抵銷本年度的應
課稅收入，故並未就英國企業所得稅作
出撥備（二零二三年：由於年內相關集團
實體並無須繳納英國企業所得稅的應課
稅收入，並未就英國企業所得稅作出撥
備）。
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8. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED)

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been 
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in 
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation, 
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the 
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Loss before tax 除稅前虧損 (4,508) (30,463)
 

Tax at the UK CIT tax rate of 25% 
(2023: 25%)

按英國企業所得稅稅率25%
（二零二三年：25%） 
計算之稅項 (1,127) (7,616)

Tax effect of income not taxable  
for tax purpose

毋須課稅收入之稅務影響
(1) (49)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible 
for tax purpose

不可扣稅開支之稅務影響
685 1,421

Tax effect of R&D tax credit 研發稅項抵免之稅務影響 (26) (27)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 未確認稅項虧損之稅務影響 194 –
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary 

differences
未確認暫時差額之稅務影響

– (10)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss 

previously not recognised
動用過往未確認稅項虧損之 
稅務影響 (24) (5)

Effect of different tax rates of 
subsidiaries operating in another 
jurisdiction

於另一個司法權區經營之 
附屬公司不同稅率之影響

273 872
 

Income tax credit 所得稅抵免 (26) (5,414) 

8. 所得稅抵免（續）

其他地方應課稅溢利之稅項開支按本集
團經營所在國家之現行稅率，並根據有
關之現有法律、詮釋及慣例計算。

於年內，所得稅抵免可按綜合損益及其
他全面收益表與除稅前虧損對賬如下：
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9. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Loss for the year is arrived at after 
charging/(crediting):

年內虧損已扣除╱（計入）：

Employee benefit expenses (including 
directors’ remuneration (note 10))

僱員福利費用（包括董事酬金
（附註10））

– Salaries and benefits －薪金及福利 2,840 2,724
– Contributions to retirement 

benefit scheme
－退休福利計劃供款

21 32
– Equity-settled share-based 

payment expenses (note 31)
－以股份為基礎按股權 
結算之付款（附註31） 126 213

 
2,987 2,969

Auditors’ remuneration 核數師酬金
– audit services －核數服務 122 157
– non-audit services －非核數服務 19 26

Depreciation of 下列各項之折舊
– property, plant and equipment 

(note 14)
－物業、廠房及設備 
（附註14） 8 16

– right-of-use assets (note 15) －使用權資產（附註15） – 460
Amortisation of intangible assets  

(note 16)
無形資產攤銷（附註16）

– 22,184
Impairment loss on an 

intangible asset
無形資產減值虧損

– 1,518
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets 使用權資產減值虧損 – 1,152
Short-term lease expenses 短期租賃支出 15 14
Low-value assets lease expenses 低價值資產租賃支出 3 3
Loss on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment
出售物業、廠房及設備之 
虧損 – 2

Fair value loss on FAFVPL (note 20) 透過損益賬按公允價值處理
之金融資產之公允價值 
虧損（附註20） –* 38

Loss/(gain) on disposal of FAFVPL 出售透過損益賬按公允價值 
處理之金融資產之 
虧損╱（收益） 80 (91)

Exchange losses/(gains), net 淨匯兌虧損╱（收益） 68 (169) 

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

9. 年內虧損

* 金額少於1,000美元。
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the 
reporting period, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing 
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as 
follows:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Emoluments received or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, 
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

作為本公司或其附屬企業董事之人士就其服務已收或應收酬金 

Fees

Salaries and 
benefits 

in kind
Discretionary 

bonus

Contribution 
to a 

retirement 
benefit 
scheme

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
expenses Total

袍金
薪金及

實物利益 酌情花紅
對退休福利
計劃的供款

以權益結算的
股份付款開支 總計

Name of director 董事姓名 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元

      

Executive Director 執行董事
Jamie Gibson (CEO) Jamie Gibson（行政總裁） – 1,377 – – – 1,377

Non-Executive Directors 非執行董事
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 – – – 128
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 – – – – 14

Independent Non-Executive Directors 獨立非執行董事
Adrian Chan (note (i)) 陳弘俊（附註(i)） 28 – – – – 28
Ihsan Al Chalabi (note (ii)) Ihsan Al Chalabi（附註(ii)） 28 – – – – 28
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 – – – – 28

      
Total 總計 116 1,487 – – – 1,603

      

10. 董事及主要行政人員酬金 

根據適用的上市規則及香港公司條例，
董事及主要行政人員於報告期間的酬金
披露如下：

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2023

Emoluments received or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director, 
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

作為本公司或其附屬企業董事之人士就其服務已收或應收酬金

Fees

Salaries and 
benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonus

Contribution 
to a 

retirement 
benefit 
scheme

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payment 
expenses Total

袍金
薪金及

實物利益 酌情花紅
對退休福利
計劃的供款

以權益結算的
股份付款開支 總計

Name of director 董事姓名 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元

Executive Director 執行董事
Jamie Gibson (CEO) Jamie Gibson（行政總裁） – 1,250 75 – 19 1,344

Non-Executive Directors 非執行董事
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 9 – 2 139
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 – – – 2 16

Independent Non-Executive Directors 獨立非執行董事
Adrian Chan (note (i)) 陳弘俊（附註(i)） 20 – – – – 20
Ihsan Al Chalabi (note (ii)) Ihsan Al Chalabi（附註(ii)） 11 – – – – 11
David Comba (note (iii)) David Comba（附註(iii)） 12 – – – – 12
Julie Oates (note (iv)) Julie Oates（附註(iv)） 17 – – – 1 18
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 – – – 2 30

Total 總計 120 1,360 84 – 26 1,590  

Notes:

(i) On 21 April 2023, Mr Adrian Chan was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director.

(ii) On 15 August 2023, Mr Ihsan AI Chalabi was appointed as 
an independent non-executive director.

(iii) On 1 June 2023, Mr David Comba retired as an independent 
non-executive director.

(iv) On 15 August 2023, Ms Julie Oates resigned as an 
independent non-executive director.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the Directors waived 
any emoluments during the year ended 31 December 2024 
(2023: nil).

10. 董事及主要行政人員酬金（續） 

截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止年度

附註：

(i) 於二零二三年四月二十一日，陳弘俊先
生獲委任為獨立非執行董事。

(ii) 於二零二三年八月十五日，I h san A l 
Chalabi先生獲委任為獨立非執行董事。

(iii) 於二零二三年六月一日，David Comba先
生退任獨立非執行董事。

(iv) 於二零二三年八月十五日，Julie Oates女
士辭任獨立非執行董事。

概無主要行政人員或任何董事於截至二
零二四年十二月三十一日止年度放棄任
何酬金（二零二三年：無）。
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11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the 
year included one (2023: one) director whose emolument 
is reflected in the analysis presented in note 10. The 
emoluments of the remaining four (2023: four) individuals 
are set out below:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Salaries and allowances 薪金及津貼 824 801
Discretionary bonus 酌情花紅 – 31
Contributions to retirement benefit 

scheme
對退休福利計劃的供款

5 9
Equity-settled share-based payment 

expenses
以權益結算的股份付款開支

38 72
 

867 913 

The above emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
人數

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年 

HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 (US$128,159-US$192,239) 2 –
1,000,001港元－1,500,000港元 (128,159美元－192,239美元）
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 (US$192,240-US$256,318) 1 3
1,500,001港元－2,000,000港元 (192,240美元－256,318美元）
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 (US$256,319-US$320,398) 1 1
2,000,001港元－2,500,000港元 (256,319美元－320,398美元）

 
4 4 

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the five 
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon 
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office in 
respect of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

11. 五名最高薪酬人士

本集團年內五名最高薪酬人士包括一名
（二零二三年：一名）董事，其薪酬反映
在附註10呈列之分析。餘下四名（二零
二三年：四名）人士之酬金載列如下：

以上酬金屬下列範圍：

截至二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度，本集團並無向任何五
名最高薪酬人士支付酬金，以作為吸引
加入本集團或加入本集團後之酬勞，或
作為離職補償。
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12. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 
December 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since 
the end of the reporting period (2023: nil).

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss 
attributable to the shareholders of the Company for the year 
and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue during the year.

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Loss attributable to shareholders  
of the Company

本公司股東應佔虧損
(4,482) (25,049)

 
Weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue (note)
已發行普通股之加權平均數 
（附註） 228,413,933 225,102,963

 
Basic loss per share (US cents) 每股基本虧損（美仙） (1.96) (11.13) 

Note: As at 31 December 2023, after the Share Consolidation, 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
was adjusted to 225,102,963 Shares from 4,502,059,285 
Shares.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume 
the exercise of the Options because the exercise price of 
those Options was higher than the average market price for 
Shares for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. 
Accordingly, the diluted loss per share is the same as the 
basic loss per share.

12. 股息

於截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年
度，概無已派付或建議派付股息，自報告
期末以來亦無建議派付任何股息（二零
二三年：無）。

13. 每股虧損

每股基本虧損按照年內本公司股東應佔
虧損及年內已發行普通股之加權平均數
計算。

附註： 於二零二三年十二月三十一日，股份合
併後，已發行普通股之加權平均數由
4,502,059,285股股份調整為225,102,963
股股份。

截至二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度，每股攤薄虧損的計算
並未假設購股權獲行使，原因為該等購
股權的行使價高於股份的平均市價。因
此，每股攤薄虧損與每股基本虧損相同。
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture 
and fixtures

Computer 
and other 

equipment Total

傢俬及裝置
電腦及

其他設備 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元   

Cost 成本
At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 332 288 620
Additions 添置 – 2 2
Write-off 撇銷 – (9) (9)
Disposals 出售 – (15) (15)

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024

於二零二三年 
十二月三十一日及 
二零二四年一月一日 332 266 598

Additions 添置 – 6 6
Disposals 出售 – (4) (4)

   
At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月

三十一日 332 268 600

Accumulated depreciation 累計折舊
At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 332 261 593
Charge for the year 年內費用 – 16 16
Write-off 撇銷 – (9) (9)
Disposals 出售 – (12) (12)

At 31 December 2023 and 
1 January 2024

於二零二三年 
十二月三十一日及 
二零二四年一月一日 332 256 588

Charge for the year 年內費用 – 8 8
Disposals 出售 – (4) (4)

   
At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年 

十二月三十一日 332 260 592
   

Carrying amount 賬面值
At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年 

十二月三十一日 – 8 8

At 31 December 2023 於二零二三年 
十二月三十一日 – 10 10

14. 物業、廠房及設備
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Leased 
properties
租賃物業
US$’000
千美元

At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 276
Additions 添置 1,334
Depreciation 折舊 (460)
Impairment loss (note) 減值虧損（附註） (1,152)
Exchange difference 匯兌差額 2

At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 and  
31 December 2024

於二零二三年十二月三十一日、 
二零二四年一月一日及 
二零二四年十二月三十一日 –

Note: The Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount 
of its right-of-use assets in 2023, having regard to the 
financial results during the year ended 31 December 2023 
of the Group and a 31-month cash flow forecast up to 31 
July 2026. These assets were corporate assets and treated as 
unallocated assets in segment information. The review led 
to the recognition of an impairment loss of approximately 
US$1,152,000, which had been recognised in profit or loss. 
The recoverable amount of nil had been determined by 
referring to a 31-month Group cash flow forecast, which 
covered the entire leasing terms of the office and the 
warehouse.

15. 使用權資產

附註： 考慮到本集團截至二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度的財務業績及直至二
零二六年七月三十一日的31個月現金流
量預測，本集團於二零二三年對其使用
權資產的可收回金額進行審查。該等資
產為企業資產，且於分部資料中被視為
未分配資產。經審查，確認減值虧損約
1,152,000美元，已於損益中確認。可收
回金額為零，乃經參照本集團31個月的
現金流量預測（涵蓋辦公室及貨倉的整個
租賃期）釐定。
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Depreciation expenses on  
right-of-use assets

使用權資產折舊開支
– 460

Interest expense on lease liabilities 租賃負債之利息開支 100 59
Expenses relating to short-term leases 短期租賃相關之支出 15 14
Expenses relating to lease of low-value 

assets
低價值資產租賃相關之支出

3 3
Total cash outflow for lease 租賃現金流出總額 541 537 

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
Group leases various office premise and warehouse for 
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for a fixed 
term ranging from 2 years to 3 years (2023: 2 years to 3 
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In 
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the 
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a 
contract and determines the period for which the contract is 
enforceable. The lease does not include any option to renew 
for an additional period after the end of contractual terms.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group 
entered into a new warehouse lease. Right-of-use assets of 
US$1,334,000 and lease liabilities of US$1,334,000 were 
recognised at the commencement of the lease. The Group 
did not enter into any new leases during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

In addition, lease liabilities of US$757,000 (2023: 
US$1,175,000) are recognised with related right-of-use 
assets of nil as at 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). The lease 
agreements do not impose any covenants other than 
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by 
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.

15. 使用權資產（續）

於截至二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度，本集團租賃多項辦公
室物業及倉庫作經營用途。租賃合約乃
按介乎2年至3年（二零二三年：2年至3

年）的固定期限訂立。租賃期限乃逐個磋
商，並包含各種不同的條款及條件。於釐
定租賃期限及評估不可撤銷期間之年期
時，本集團應用合約之定義，並釐定對合
約可強制執行的期限。租賃不包括於合
約期限結束後續期的任何選擇權。

於截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止年
度，本集團訂立新倉庫租賃。使用權資產
1,334,000美元及租賃負債1,334,000美元
於租賃開始時確認。於截至二零二四年
十二月三十一日止年度，本集團並無訂
立任何新租賃。

此外，於二零二四年十二月三十一日，
已確認租賃負債757,000美元（二零二三
年：1,175,000美元），相關使用權資產為
零（二零二三年：零）。除出租人持有的租
賃資產的擔保權益外，租賃協議概不附
帶任何契諾。租賃資產不得用作借貸擔
保。
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patent
(FortacinTM)

IP (Deep
Longevity) Total

專利
(FortacinTM)

知識產權
(Deep 

Longevity) 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元

Cost 成本

At 1 January 2023,  
31 December 2023,  
1 January 2024 and  
31 December 2024

於二零二三年一月一日、 
二零二三年十二月
三十一日、二零二四年
一月一日及二零二四年
十二月三十一日 216,000 2,660 218,660

Accumulated amortisation  
and impairment losses

累計攤銷及減值虧損

At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 194,196 762 194,958
Amortisation for the year 年內攤銷 21,804 380 22,184
Impairment loss 減值虧損 – 1,518 1,518

At 31 December 2023,  
1 January 2024 and  
31 December 2024

於二零二三年十二月
三十一日、二零二四年
一月一日及二零二四年
十二月三十一日 216,000 2,660 218,660

Carrying amount 賬面值

At 31 December 2023 and  
31 December 2024

於二零二三年十二月
三十一日及二零二四年
十二月三十一日 – – –

16. 無形資產
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

IP (Deep Longevity)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group assessed the 
FVLCOD of the IP (Deep Longevity) using the discounted cash 
flow method. The fair value measurement was categorised 
in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The asset was used in 
the Group’s Biopharma segment. In assessing the FVLCOD 
of the IP (Deep Longevity), the Directors reviewed cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by 
management for the four-year period to 31 December 2027 
and applied a discount rate of 15%. Having regard to the 
financial results of the Biopharma segment during the year 
ended 31 December 2023 and the difficult and uncertain 
market conditions the recoverable amount of the IP (Deep 
Longevity) was determined to be nil and a full impairment 
loss of US$1,518,000 was recognised in profit and loss.

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Unlisted investment: 非上市投資：
Share of net assets 應佔資產淨值 1 – 

16. 無形資產（續）

知識產權(Deep Longevity)

於編製截至二零二三年十二月三十一
日止年度之綜合財務報表時，本集團採
用貼現現金流量法評估知識產權(Deep 

Longevity)的公允價值減出售成本。公允
價值計量被歸類為公允價值層次的第三
層次。資產用於本集團的生物醫藥分部。
於評估知識產權(Deep Longevity)的公允
價值減出售成本時，董事根據管理層所
編製的截至二零二七年十二月三十一日
止四個年度期間的財務預算對現金流量
預測進行審查，並採用15%的貼現率。
考慮到截至二零二三年十二月三十一日
止年度生物醫藥分部的財務業績以及市
況的困境及不確定性，知識產權 (Deep 

Longevity)的可收回金額獲釐定為零，並
於損益中確認1,518,000美元的全額減值
虧損。

17. 於一間聯營公司之權益
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (CONTINUED)

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are as follows:

Name Place of incorporation

Particular of 
issued and 

paid up capital

Percentage of 
ownership 

interest

名稱 註冊成立地點
已發行及

繳足股本詳情
擁有權權益

百分比    

West China Coking &  
Gas Company Limited

The PRC Registered capital of 
RMB319,640,000 25%

曲靖大為焦化制供氣有限公司 中國 註冊資本為
人民幣319,640,000元

Interest in an associate was presented as asset held for sale as 
at 31 December 2023. Details are set out in note 23.

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Unlisted equity securities 非上市股本證券 –* –* 

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

Equity securities which are not held for trading and which 
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to 
recognise in this category. These are strategic investments 
and the Group considers this classification to be more 
relevant.

17. 於一間聯營公司之權益（續）

於二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日，本集團之聯營公司詳情如下：

於二零二三年十二月三十一日，於一間
聯營公司之權益呈列為持作出售資產。
詳情載於附註23。

18. 按公允價值計入其他全面收入之
金融資產

* 金額少於1,000美元。

股本證券並非持作買賣，且本集團已不
可撤回地選擇於初步確認時於此類別中
確認。此等屬策略投資且本集團認為該
分類更為相關。
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19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are as follows:

Name

Country/Place of 

incorporation/

continuation/

operation

Issued and 

fully paid

share capital

Percentage of equity interest 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

名稱
註冊成立╱續存╱
經營國家╱地點 已發行及繳足股本 本公司應佔股本權益百分比 主要業務

Directly Indirectly

直接 間接

Deep Longevity, Inc Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of 

US$0.0001 each

100% – Investment holding

開曼群島 1股每股面值 

0.0001美元之普通股
投資控股

Regent Coal (Holdings) Limited Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 

each

100% – Investment holding

開曼群島 1股每股面值1美元之 

普通股
投資控股

Regent Financial Services 

Limited

Hong Kong 5,000,000 ordinary 

shares

100% – Provision of management 

services

勵晶財務顧問有限公司 香港 5,000,000股普通股 提供管理服務

Endurance RP Limited Hong Kong 5,000,000 ordinary 

shares

100% – Provision of management 

services

香港 5,000,000股普通股 提供管理服務

Plethora Solutions Holdings plc United Kingdom 894,497,686 ordinary 

shares of GBP 0.01 

each

100% – Development and 

marketing of products 

for the treatment 

and management of 

urological disorders

英國 894,497,686股每股面值
0.01英鎊之普通股

用於治療及管理泌尿系
統疾病之產品研發及
營銷

19. 投資附屬公司

於二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日，附屬公司之資料如下：
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Name

Country/Place of 

incorporation/

continuation/

operation

Issued and 

fully paid

share capital

Percentage of equity interest 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

名稱
註冊成立╱續存╱
經營國家╱地點 已發行及繳足股本 本公司應佔股本權益百分比 主要業務

Directly Indirectly

直接 間接

Amerinvest Coal Industry 

Holding Company Limited

British Virgin Islands 10,000 ordinary shares of 

US$1 each

– 100% Investment holding

英屬處女群島 10,000股每股面值 

1美元之普通股
投資控股

Deep Longevity Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares – 100% Developing AI systems 

to track the rate of 

aging at the molecular, 

cellular, tissue, organ, 

system, physiological 

and psychological levels

深度青春有限公司 香港 100股普通股 開發人工智能系統，在
分子、細胞、組織、器
官、系統、生理和心理
層面追蹤衰老的速度

Plethora Solutions Limited United Kingdom 152 ordinary shares of 

GBP 1 each

– 100% Development and 

marketing of products 

for the treatment 

and management of 

urological disorders

英國 152股每股面值1英鎊之 

普通股
用於治療及管理泌尿系
統疾病之產品研發及
營銷

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 19. 投資附屬公司（續）
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Name

Country/Place of 

incorporation/

continuation/

operation

Issued and 

fully paid

share capital

Percentage of equity interest 

attributable to the Company Principal activities

名稱
註冊成立╱續存╱
經營國家╱地點 已發行及繳足股本 本公司應佔股本權益百分比 主要業務

Directly Indirectly

直接 間接

Plethora Pharma Solutions 

Limited

Ireland 100 ordinary shares of 

EUR 1 each

– 100% Development and 

marketing of products 

for the treatment 

and management of 

urological disorders

愛爾蘭 100股每股面值1歐元之
普通股

用於治療及管理泌尿系
統疾病之產品研發及
營銷

The above table contains the particulars of subsidiaries 
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of 
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in 
the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive 
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at 31 
December 2023 and 2024.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Held for trading – overseas,  
at fair value

持作買賣－海外，按公允價值

– Listed equity securities －上市股本證券 2 299
– Unlisted club debenture －非上市會所債券 19 19

 
21 318 

19. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

上表包含會對本集團業績、資產或負債
造成重大影響之附屬公司資料。董事認
為，提供其他附屬公司的詳情會導致篇
幅過於冗長。

於二零二三年及二零二四年十二月
三十一日並無附屬公司發行任何債務證
券。

20. 透過損益賬按公允價值處理之金
融資產

19. 投資附屬公司（續）
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

Movements in FAFVPL are as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

As at 1 January 於一月一日 318 1,097
Disposals 出售 (297) (741)
Change in fair value (note 9) 公允價值變動（附註9） –* (38)

 
As at 31 December 於十二月三十一日 21 318 

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with HKFRS 9.

The above investments represent investments in listed equity 
securities that offer the Group the opportunity for return 
through dividend income and fair value gains. They have no 
fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The FV of listed equity investments was based on last quoted 
market prices at the reporting date. The FV of unlisted club 
debenture was determined by reference to the recent market 
price at the reporting date.

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

20. 透過損益賬按公允價值處理之金
融資產（續）

透過損益賬按公允價值處理之金融資產
變動如下：

上述金融資產之賬面值根據香港財務報
告準則第9號強制透過損益賬按公允價值
計量。

上述投資指上市股本證券之投資，其透
過股息收入及公允價值收益為本集團提
供回報機會。該等投資並無固定到期日
或票面息率。

上市股本投資之公允價值基於報告日期
所報最新市埸價。非上市會所債券之公
允價值參考報告日期的近期市價釐定。

* 金額少於1,000美元。
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Trade receivables 應收貿易賬款 53 39 

The Group applies credit policies appropriate to the particular 
business circumstances concerned generally requires 
outstanding amounts to be paid within 20 to 30 days (2023: 
20 to 30 days) of invoice.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of 
trade receivables, based on the invoice dates, was as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Within 1 month 一個月內 53 39 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are 
denominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

EUR 歐元 12 12
US$ 美元 41 27

 
Total 總計 53 39 

21. 應收貿易賬款

本集團針對特定業務情況採用適當的
信貸政策，一般須於發票開出後二十至
三十日（二零二三年：二十至三十日）內支
付未償還款項。

於二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日，應收貿易賬款（按發票日期計
算）賬齡分析如下：

本集團應收貿易賬款的賬面值按以下貨
幣計值：
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22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 
BANK BALANCES

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Restricted bank balances 受限制銀行結餘 32 32
Cash and bank balances 現金及銀行結餘 100 2,097

 
132 2,129 

As at 31 December 2024, a bank deposit amounting to 
approximately US$32,000 (2023: US$32,000) is a deposit 
held by the bank as security for the corporate credit cards 
provided to a subsidiary of the Company.

23. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Asset classified as held for sales 分類為持作出售資產
– Interest in an associate (note) －於一間聯營公司之權益 

（附註） – 1 

Note:

In October 2023, the Group decided to sell its 25% equity interest 
in an associate, West China Coking & Gas Company Limited, 
therefore, interest in an associate was presented as asset classified 
as held for sale as of 31 December 2023.

22. 受限制銀行存款以及現金及銀行
結餘

於二零二四年十二月三十一日，銀行存
款約32,000美元（二零二三年：32,000美
元）乃由銀行持有以作為本公司附屬公司
獲提供企業信用卡的擔保之存款。

23. 分類為持作出售資產

附註：

於二零二三年十月，本集團決定出售其於一間
聯營公司曲靖大為焦化制供氣有限公司之25%
股權，因此截至二零二三年十二月三十一日，
於一間聯營公司之權益呈列為分類為持作出售
資產。
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23. 分類為持作出售資產（續） 

附註：（續）

於二零二四年三月二十四日，本公司間接全
資附屬公司Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding 
Company Limited(「ACIL」)（中文譯名：美投國
際集團煤業投資控股公司）與曲靖黑金能源有
限公司(「黑金」)訂立買賣協議，據此，ACIL有條
件同意出售而黑金有條件同意收購曲靖大為焦
化制供氣有限公司之25%股權，代價為人民幣
8,000,000元（或約1,110,000美元）。詳情載於本
公司日期為二零二四年三月二十五日之公佈。

於二零二四年七月二日，由於若干條件並未於
買賣協議所訂明之截止日期（即二零二四年六
月二十三日）之前達成，故黑金與本集團已決
定不繼續出售曲靖大為焦化制供氣有限公司之
25%股權。詳情載於本公司日期為二零二四年
七月二日之公佈。因此，於二零二四年十二月
三十一日，本集團已停止於持作出售資產項下
呈列於一間聯營公司之權益。

24. 應付貿易賬款、合約負債、應計賬
款及其他應付款項

23. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
(CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

On 24 March 2024, Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding Company 
Limited (“ACIL”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with 曲
靖黑金能源有限公司 (unofficial English translation: Qujing Black 
Gold Energy Co., Ltd.) (“Black Gold”), pursuant to which ACIL 
conditionally agreed to sell, and Black Gold conditionally agreed to 
acquire, 25% equity interest in West China Coking & Gas Company 
Limited at a consideration of RMB8 million (or approximately 
US$1.11 million). Details are set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 25 March 2024.

On 2 July 2024, Black Gold and the Group have decided not to 
proceed with the disposal of the 25% equity interest of West 
China Coking & Gas Company Limited as certain conditions were 
not fulfilled by the long stop date stipulated under the sale and 
purchase agreement, which was 23 June 2024. Details are set 
out in the announcement of the Company dated 2 July 2024. 
Accordingly, the Group has ceased to present the interest in an 
associate under asset held for sale as at 31 December 2024.

24. TRADE PAYABLES, CONTRACT LIABILITIES, 
ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Trade payables 應付貿易賬款 26 102
Contract liabilities – Deposits received  

in advance
合約負債－預收按金

52 10
Accruals and other payables 應計賬款及其他應付款項 3,095 3,039

 
3,173 3,151 
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24. TRADE PAYABLES, CONTRACT LIABILITIES, 
ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis 
of the trade payables, based on the invoice dates, was as 
follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Within 1 month or on demand 於一個月內或應要求 19 81
After 1 month but within 3 months 於一個月後但於三個月內 7 18
After 3 months but within 6 months 於三個月後但於六個月內 – 2
Over 6 months 六個月以上 – 1

 
26 102 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are 
denominated in GBP.

Movements in contract liabilities:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Balance at 1 January 於一月一日的結餘 10 –
Revenue recognised that was included 

in the contract liabilities balance at 
the beginning of the year

計入年初的合約負債結餘的 
已確認收益

(10) –
Increase in contract liabilities as  

a result of billing in advance
提前開票導致合約負債增加

52 10
 

Balance at 31 December 於十二月三十一日的結餘 52 10 

24. 應付貿易賬款、合約負債、應計賬
款及其他應付款項（續）

於二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日，應付貿易賬款（按發票日期計
算）賬齡分析如下：

本集團應付貿易賬款的賬面值以英鎊計
值。

合約負債變動：
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares Unclassified shares^ Total
普通股 未分類股份^ 總計

Note
Number of 

shares US$’000
Number of 

shares US$’000
Number of 

shares US$’000
附註 股份數目 千美元 股份數目 千美元 股份數目 千美元

Authorised: 法定：
At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 14,300,000,000 143,000 55,000,000 550 14,355,000,000 143,550
Share Consolidation 股份合併 (b) (13,585,000,000) – (52,250,000) – (13,637,250,000) –
Share Subdivision 股份拆細 (e) 142,285,000,000 – 547,250,000 – 142,832,250,000 –

At 31 December 2023,  
1 January 2024 and  
31 December 2024

於二零二三年 
十二月三十一日、 
二零二四年一月一日及 
二零二四年 
十二月三十一日 143,000,000,000 143,000 550,000,000 550 143,550,000,000 143,550

Issued and fully paid: 已發行及繳足：
At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 2,400,347,881 24,004 – – 2,400,347,881 24,004
Rights Issue 供股 (a) 2,166,571,194 21,665 – – 2,166,571,194 21,665
Share Consolidation 股份合併 (b) (4,338,573,122) – – – (4,338,573,122) –
Issue of Shares under share awards 根據股份獎勵發行股份 (c) 46,333 9 – – 46,333 9
Capital Reduction 股本削減 (d) – (45,450) – – – (45,450)

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

於二零二三年十二月三十一日 
及二零二四年一月一日 228,392,286 228 – – 228,392,286 228

Issue of Shares under share awards 根據股份獎勵發行股份 (f) 46,333 –* – – 46,333 –*

At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月三十一日 228,438,619 228 – – 228,438,619 228

^ These are unclassified shares of US$0.001 each, which may 
be issued as ordinary shares or as non-voting convertible 
deferred shares of US$0.001 each.

* Amount less than US$1,000.

(a) On 12 January 2023, the Company issued and allotted 
2,166,571,194 new Shares under the Rights Issue by 
way of rights on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for 
every one (1) existing share at the subscription price of 
HK$0.0785 pursuant to the prospectus documents#.

25. 股本

^ 每股面值0.001美元之未分類股份，可發
行為每股面值0.001美元之普通股或無投
票權可換股遞延股份。

* 金額少於1,000美元。

(a) 於二零二三年一月十二日，本公
司根據供股章程文件按每持有 

一(1)股現有股份獲發一(1)股供股
股份之基準，按認購價0.0785港元
以供股方式根據供股發行及配發
2,166,571,194股新股份#。
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25. 股本（續）

(b) 於二零二三年六月五日，每二十
(20)股每股面值0.01美元的已發行
及未發行股份已合併為一(1)股每股
面值0.20美元的合併股份#。

(c) 於二零二三年七月十四日，本公
司根據相關顧問協議之當時一般
授權就向Er ic Verdin博士，MD及
Vadim N. Gladyshev博士，PhD授出
的股份獎勵發行及配發46,333股新
股份。全部詳情載於本公司日期為 
二零二一年七月十四日、二零二一年
七月二十六日、二零二三年三月
二十九日及二零二三年六月一日
之公佈、本公司日期為二零二三年 
四月二十七日之通函以及二零二三
年年報。

(d) 於二零二三年八月三日，本集團已
完成股本削減，藉註銷每股股份
0.199美元之繳足股本而使每股股
份之面值由0.20美元削減至0.001
美元#。

(e) 於二零二三年八月三日，本集團完
成股份拆細，據此，緊隨股本削減
後，每股面值0.20美元的每股法定
但未發行合併股份拆細為200股每
股面值0.001美元之經調整股份。
於股份拆細生效後，本公司之法
定股本通過增設數目足以使本公
司法定股本增至143,550,000.00
美元的額外經調整股份而增至
1 4 3 , 5 5 0 , 0 0 0 . 0 0美元，分為 ( a ) 
143,000,000,000股普通經調整股
份及(b) 550,000,000股未分類經調
整股份#。

(f) 於二零二四年七月十四日，本公司
根據相關顧問協議之當時一般授權
就向Eric Verdin博士，MD及Vadim 
N. Gladyshev博士，PhD授出的股
份獎勵發行及配發46,333股新股
份。進一步詳情載於本公司日期為 
二零二一年七月十四日、二零二一年
七月二十六日、二零二三年三月
二十九日及二零二三年六月一日
之公佈、本公司日期為二零二三年 
四月二十七日之通函以及綜合財務
報表附註31(2)。

25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(b) On 5 June 2023, every twenty (20) issued and 
unissued shares of par value of US$0.01 each has been 
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of par 
value of US$0.20 each#.

(c) On 14 July 2023, the Company issued and allotted 
46,333 new Shares for the share award granted to  
Dr Eric Verdin, MD and Dr Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD 
under the then general mandate pursuant to the 
relevant consulting agreements. Full details are set out 
in the Company’s announcements dated 14 July 2021, 
26 July 2021, 29 March 2023 and 1 June 2023, the 
Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023 and the 2023 
Annual Report.

(d) On 3 August 2023, the Group completed the Capital 
Reduction whereby the par value of each Share reduced 
from US$0.20 to US$0.001 by cancelling the paid-up 
capital to the extent of US$0.199 on each Share#.

(e) On 3 August 2023, the Group completed the Share 
Subdivision whereby immediately following the Capital 
Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued 
Consolidated Shares with par value of US$0.20 each 
be subdivided into 200 adjusted shares with par value 
of US$0.001 each. Forthwith the Share Subdivision 
becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the 
Company be increased to US$143,550,000.00 by the 
creation of such number of additional Adjusted Shares 
as shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share 
capital of the Company to US$143,550,000.00 divided 
into (a) 143,000,000,000 ordinary Adjusted Shares and 
(b) 550,000,000 unclassified Adjusted Shares#.

(f) On 14 July 2024, the Company issued and allotted 
46,333 new Shares for the share award granted to Dr. 
Eric Verdin, MD and Dr. Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under 
the then general mandate pursuant to the relevant 
consulting agreements. Further details are set out in the 
Company’s announcements dated 14 July 2021, 26 July 
2021, 29 March 2023 and 1 June 2023, the Company’s 
circular dated 27 April 2023 and note 31(2) to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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25. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(g) Save as disclosed above, there were no changes in the 
authorised and issued share capital of the Company 
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

# Full details on the above movement and changes in the 
share capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 
2024 are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 26 
September 2022, 17 October 2022, 31 October 2022, 24 
November 2022, 3 January 2023, 11 January 2023, 29 March 
2023, 1 June 2023 and 2 August 2023, the Company’s 
circulars dated 31 October 2022 and 27 April 2023, and 
the Company’s prospectus dated 13 December 2022, if 
applicable.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

– To ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

– To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

– To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the 
Group’s risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its 
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and 
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future 
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, 
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating 
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected 
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not 
adopted any formal dividend policy.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group is, 
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange, it has 
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

Based on information that is publicly available to the 
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company is continuing compliance with the requirement of 
public float of at least 25% of the shares throughout the 
year.

25. 股本（續）

(g) 除上文所披露者外，於截至二零
二四年十二月三十一日止年度，本
公司的法定及已發行股本概無變
動。

# 有 關 股 本 於 截 至 二 零 二 三 年
及 二 零 二 四 年 十 二 月 三 十 一
日 止 年 度 的 上 述 變 動 及 變 更
之 全 部 詳 情 載 於 本 公 司 日 期
為二零二二年九月二十六日、 
二零二二年十月十七日、二零二二年 
十 月 三 十 一 日、二 零 二 二 年 
十一月二十四日、二零二三年 
一 月 三 日、二 零 二 三 年 一 月 
十 一 日 、 二 零 二 三 年 三 月
二 十 九 日 、 二 零 二 三 年
六 月 一 日 及 二 零 二 三 年 
八月二日之公佈、本公司日期為 
二 零 二 二 年 十 月 三 十 一 日 及 
二零二三年四月二十七日之通函，
以及本公司日期為二零二二年 
十二月十三日之供股章程（如適
用）。

本集團管理資本之目標是：

－ 確保本集團之持續經營能力，使其
持續為股東提供回報及為其他持份
者提供利益；

－ 維持本集團之穩定性及增長；及

－ 為增強本集團風險管理能力提供資
本。

考慮到本集團之未來資本要求及資本效
益、現時及預測盈利能力、預測經營現
金流量、預測資本開支及預測策略投資
機遇，本集團積極定期檢討及管理其資
本架構以確保完善的資本架構及股東回
報。本集團尚未採納任何正式股息政策。

本集團的外加資本要求是，為維持其在
聯交所之上市地位，其須有最少25%股
份的公眾持股量。

根據本公司可公開取閱之資料以及就董
事所知，本公司於整個年度內一直遵守
最少25%股份的公眾持股量要求。
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26. 銀行借貸

於二零二零年五月，本集團位於英國的
全資附屬公司透過由英國政府推出的
企業復甦貸款計劃(Bounce Back Loan 

Scheme)獲得銀行借貸，計劃旨在支持受
2019冠狀病毒病影響的中小型企業。英
國政府為該筆銀行借貸提供全額擔保。
有關銀行借貸於首十二個月並無還款及
利息費用。有關銀行借貸以英鎊計值，屬
無抵押，其後五年按年利率2.5%計息，
並須於二零二六年五月償還。

根據銀行貸款的到期期限應付款項分析
如下：

26. BANK BORROWINGS

In May 2020, the Group’s wholly-owned UK based subsidiary 
obtained bank borrowings through the Bounce Back 
Loan Scheme launched by the Government of the UK, 
which was designed to support small and medium-sized 
businesses affected by COVID-19. The Government of the 
UK guarantees 100% of the bank borrowings. There is no 
repayments and interest charges in the first twelve months 
of the bank borrowings. The bank borrowings, which is 
denominated in GBP, is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.5% 
per annum for the following five years and repayable in May 
2026.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the 
bank loan is analysed as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Within one year 一年內 8 8
More than one year, but not exceeding 

two years
多於一年但不超過兩年

3 8
More than two years, but not exceeding 

five years
多於兩年但不超過五年

– 4
 

11 20
Less: Amount due for  

settlement within 12 months  
(shown under current  
liabilities)

減：十二個月內 
到期償付之款項 
（列於流動負債 
項下） (8) (8)

 
Amount due for settlement after  

12 months
十二個月後到期償付之款項

3 12 
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27. SHAREHOLDER’S LOANS

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Loans from Galloway (unsecured) 來自Galloway之貸款（無抵押） 2,570 – 
Shareholder’s loans are repayable as 

follows:
股東貸款的償還期如下：

Within one year 一年內 2,000 –
Within one to two years 一年至兩年內 570 –

 
2,570 – 

The movements in shareholder’s loans during the year are set 
out below:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

At 1 January 於一月一日 – 13,402

Loan advanced from shareholder 股東墊付貸款 2,825 –
Repayment 預付款項 (255) –
Interest expense (note 7) 利息開支（附註7） 71 21
Interest payable 應付利息 (71) (21)
Set Off (note 34(a)) 抵銷（附註34(a)） – (13,402)

 
At 31 December 於十二月三十一日 2,570 – 

On 27 March 2024, the Company entered into a loan 
agreement with Galloway which made available to the 
Company a US$ loan facility in an aggregate amount of 
US$2,000,000. The shareholder’s loans were unsecured, 
interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable on 27 
September 2025. As at 31 December 2024, the shareholder’s 
loans amounting to US$2,000,000 were drawn down from 
Galloway. On 20 March 2025, Galloway has agreed to 
extend the repayment of the loan of US$2,000,000 and 
agreed not to demand repayment of the loan on maturity 
date until the Company is in a position to repay.

27. 股東貸款

股東貸款之年內變動載列如下：

於二零二四年三月二十七日，本公司與
Galloway訂立貸款協議，向本公司提供
總額為2,000,000美元的美元貸款融資。
股東貸款屬無抵押，按年利率8%計息，
並須於二零二五年九月二十七日償還。
於二零二四年十二月三十一日，已自
Galloway提取股東貸款2,000,000美元。
於二零二五年三月二十日，Galloway已同
意延長2,000,000美元貸款的還款期，並
同意於到期日不要求償還貸款，直至本
公司有能力償還貸款為止。
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27. 股東貸款（續）

於二零二四年十一月十九日，本公司與
Galloway訂立另一份貸款協議，向本公
司提供總額為1,000,000美元的額外美元
貸款融資。該等貸款屬無抵押，按年利率
12%計息，並須於二零二六年五月十八
日償還。於二零二四年十二月三十一日，
已自Galloway提取股東貸款570,000美
元。

28. 租賃負債

租賃負債適用的增量借貸利率介乎每年
約10.6%至12.4%（二零二三年：10.6%

至12.4%）。

所有融資租賃應付款項均以港元計值。

27. SHAREHOLDER’S LOANS (CONTINUED)

On 19 November 2024, the Company entered into another 
loan agreement with Galloway which made available to the 
Company an additional US$ loan facility in an aggregate 
amount of US$1,000,000. The loans were unsecured, 
interest bearing at 12% per annum and repayable on 18 
May 2026. As at 31 December 2024, the shareholder’s 
loans amounting to US$570,000 were drawn down from 
Galloway.

28. LEASE LIABILITIES

Undiscounted minimum 
lease payments

Present value of 
minimum lease payments

未貼現最低租賃款項 最低租賃款項之現值
2024 2023 2024 2023

二零二四年 二零二三年 二零二四年 二零二三年
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元   

Within one year 一年內 519 523 468 422
In the second to fifth years, 

inclusive
第二至第五年（包括
首尾兩年） 295 812 289 753

  
814 1,335 757 1,175

Less: Future finance charges 減：未來融資費 （57） （160） – –
  

Present value of lease 
obligations

租賃負債現值
757 1,175 757 1,175 

Less: Amount due for 
settlement within 12 months 
(shown under current 
liabilities)

減：於十二個月內 
到期償付之款項
（列於流動負債 
項下） (468) (422)

  
Amount due for settlement 

after 12 months
十二個月後到期償付
之款項 289 753  

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities 
range from approximately 10.6% to 12.4% (2023: 10.6% to 
12.4%) per annum.

All finance lease payables are denominated in HK$.
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29. 遞延稅項負債

以下為本集團確認之遞延稅項負債。

附註：

計入損益之款項與專利(FortacinTM)及知識產
權(Deep Longevity)於截至二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度之無形資產攤銷有關。

於報告期末，本集團有未動用稅項虧損約
118,764,000美元（二零二三年：約118,683,000
美元）可用於抵銷未來溢利。由於無法預測未來
利潤流，因此未就未動用稅項虧損確認遞延稅
項資產。稅項虧損可無限期結轉。

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the 
Group.

Fair value adjustments on 
recognition of intangible asset 
arising from the acquisition of 

subsidiaries
確認收購附屬公司所產生之
無形資產之公允價值調整

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

At 1 January 於一月一日 – 5,387
 

Credit in respect of amortisation of 
intangible assets (note)

就無形資產之攤銷之 
抵免（附註） – (5,176)

Credit in respect of amortisation of 
impairment loss of an intangible asset

就無形資產減值虧損之 
攤銷之抵免 – (211)

 
Credit to profit or loss for the year  

(note 8)
年內計入損益（附註8）

– (5,387)
 

At 31 December 於十二月三十一日 – – 

Note:

The amount credited to profit or loss relates to the amortisation 
of intangible assets of the patent (FortacinTM) and the IP (Deep 
Longevity) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax 
losses of approximately US$118,764,000 (2023: approximately 
US$118,683,000) available for offsetting against future profits. No 
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of the unused 
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The 
tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to pay Long Service Payment (“LSP”) 
under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 
57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed 
continuously for at least five years are entitled to long service 
payments in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment 
Ordinance under certain circumstances. These circumstances 
include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other 
than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee 
resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment 
contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The 
amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the 
employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years 
of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits 
derived from the Group’s contributions to a Mandatory 
Provident Fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), with an overall 
cap of HK$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does 
not have any separate funding arrangement in place to meet 
its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment 
Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits 
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions 
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect 
on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the 
Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a 
subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years 
after the transition date on the LSP payable by employers up 
to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory 
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns, 
after the transition date can continue to be applied to offset 
the pre-transition date LSP obligation but are not eligible to 
offset the post-transition date LSP obligation. Furthermore, 
the LSP obligation before the transition date will be 
grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly 
wages immediately preceding the transition date and the 
years of service up to that date.

As at 31 December 2024, provision for long services 
payment amounted to US$125,000 (2023: US$116,000) 
is included in accruals and other payables. The current 
service cost and net interest expense of US$8,000 
(2023: US$14,000) for the year ended 31 December 
2024 are included in the employee benefits expenses in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

30. 退休福利責任

根據香港僱傭條例（第57章）支付長期服
務金（「長期服務金」）的義務 

根據香港僱傭條例，於若干情況下，連續
受僱至少五年的香港僱員有權領取長期
服務金。該等情況包括：僱員因嚴重不當
行為或裁員以外的原因被解僱；僱員於
65歲或以上時辭職；或僱員的僱傭合約
屬定期，且期滿後不再續簽。應付長期服
務金的金額乃經參考僱員的最後薪金（上
限為22,500港元）及服務年限後釐定，
並扣除本集團向強制性公積金計劃（「強
積金計劃」供款所產生的任何應計福利
金額，每名僱員的整體上限為390,000港
元。目前，本集團並無任何單獨的資金安
排履行其長期服務金義務。

二零二二年六月，政府公佈修訂條例，
廢除以僱主強制性強積金供款的應計福
利抵銷長期服務金的做法。廢除將於過
渡日期（即二零二五年五月一日）正式生
效。此外，香港特別行政區政府預計於過
渡日期後的25年內推出一項補貼計劃，
以幫助僱主每年為每名僱員支付不超過
一定金額的長期服務金。

根據修訂條例，本集團於過渡日期後的強
制性強積金供款，加上╱減去任何正╱ 
負回報，可繼續用於抵銷過渡日期前的
長期服務金的義務，但不適用於抵銷過
渡日期後的長期服務金的義務。此外，過
渡日期前的長期服務金的義務將保留，
並按緊接過渡日期前的最後月薪及截至
該日的服務年限計算。

於二零二四年十二月三十一日，長期服務
金撥備金額125,000美元（二零二三年：
116,000美元）已計入應計賬款及其他應
付款項。截至二零二四年十二月三十一日
止年度的即期服務成本及利息開支淨額
8,000美元（二零二三年：14,000美元）已
計入綜合損益及其他全面收益表的僱員
福利開支內。
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30. 退休福利責任（續）

退休金－定額供款計劃

本集團為香港及英國合資格僱員作出定
額供款退休計劃供款。

本集團根據香港法例第485章強制性公
積金計劃條例為受香港法例第57章香
港僱傭條例管轄之司法權區受聘之僱員
設立強積金計劃。強積金計劃為一項由
獨立受託人管理的定額供款退休計劃。
根據強積金計劃，僱主及僱員均須向計
劃作出供款，供款額為僱員有關收入之
5%，惟每月有關收入上限為30,000港
元。

就本集團於英國營運之附屬公司而言，
向若干僱員支付之退休金乃透過向個人
退休金計劃供款提供。定額供款計劃為
一項退休金計劃，據此，英國附屬公司向
獨立實體支付固定供款。英國附屬公司
於支付固定供款後並無支付進一步供款
之法律或推定責任。

於截至二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度，本集團並無可用於抵減
現有供款水平的強積金計劃及英國個人
退休金計劃沒收供款。於二零二四年及二
零二三年十二月三十一日，本集團亦無
可於未來年度抵減應付供款的強積金計
劃及英國個人退休金計劃沒收供款。

30. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Pensions – defined contribution plans

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement 
plans which are available for eligible employees in Hong 
Kong and the UK.

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the 
laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed under the 
jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter 
57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined 
contribution retirement plan administered by independent 
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and the 
employees are each required to make contributions to the 
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a 
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

For the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the UK, pensions 
to certain employees are provided through contributions to 
individual personal pension plans. A defined contribution 
plan is a pension plan under which the UK subsidiaries 
pay fixed contributions into an independent entity. The UK 
subsidiaries have no legal or constructive obligations to pay 
further contributions after payment of the fixed contribution.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
Group had no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme 
and individual personal pension plans in the UK and which 
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of 
contributions. There were also no forfeited contributions 
available at 31 December 2024 and 2023 under the MPF 
Scheme and individual personal pension plans in the UK 
which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution 
payable in future years.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS

(1) Share Options

The Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the 
Company on 10 June 2016, followed by the grant of 
listing status of Shares to be granted under the Scheme 
by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on  
10 June 2016.

(a) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the 
Company with a flexible means of either 
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating, 
compensating and/or providing benefits 
to the eligible participant(s) (the “Eligible 
Participant(s)”) or such other purposes as the 
Directors may approve from time to time, subject 
to any necessary consent or approval being 
obtained from the Shareholders or any INEDs 
or the Stock Exchange as required. The Scheme 
may, at the discretion of the Directors, be used in 
conjunction with any cash-based compensation, 
incentive compensation or bonus plan.

(b) Participants of the Scheme

The Directors may at their absolute discretion, 
and subject to such terms and conditions as they 
may think fit to, offer to grant to any Eligible 
Participant(s) (including any Director (either 
executive, non-executive or INEDs), executive, 
employee, consultant or service provider (as the 
Directors may think fit with reference to their 
respective contribution to the Group) of the 
Company or of any Subsidiary) an Option at the 
option price in respect of such number of Shares 
as they may determine.

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易 

(1) 購股權

購股權計劃（二零一六）由本公司於
二零一六年六月十日採納，之後聯
交所上市委員會於二零一六年六月
十日授出根據計劃將予授出股份之
上市地位。

(a) 計劃之目的

計劃之目的為讓本公司靈活
地挽留、激勵、獎勵、酬謝、補
償及╱或提供福利予合資格
參與者（「合資格參與者」），或
實現董事不時批准的其他目
的，惟須獲股東或任何獨立非
執行董事或聯交所規定的任
何必要同意或批准。計劃可按
董事酌情權結合任何現金賠
償、獎勵賠償或花紅計劃一併
運用。

(b) 計劃之參與者

董事可全權酌情並根據彼等
認為適當的有關條款及條件，
向任何合資格參與者（包括
本公司或任何附屬公司的任
何董事（執行董事、非執行董
事或獨立非執行董事）、行政
人員、僱員、顧問或服務提供
商（董事經參考彼等各自對
本集團的貢獻後可能認為適
當））就彼等可能釐定的有關
股份數目提供按購股權價格
授予的購股權。
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31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

(c) 計劃項下可供發行的股份總數 

因根據計劃將授出之所有購
股權獲行使而可能發行之股
份總數，當與因根據本公司其
他計劃將授出之購股權獲行
使而可能發行之任何股份合
計時，不得超過於計劃開始日
期之已發行股份之10%（或上
市規則所不時確定之本公司
已發行股本之有關比例）。

因此，根據計劃將予授出之
所有購股權獲行使後可能發
行之股份數目上限不得超過
8,686,255股股份，即：

(i) 於計劃開始日期（即二零
一六年六月十日）已發行
股份總數之10%；

(ii) 分別於二零二四年十二月
三十一日及本報告日期
之已發行股份總數之約
3.80%及3.80%；及

(iii) 分別於二零二四年十二月
三十一日及本報告日期
之經擴大已發行股份之
約3.66%及3.66%。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(c) Total Number of Shares Available for Issue 
Under the Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued 
upon exercise of all Options to be granted under 
the Scheme, when aggregated with any Shares 
which may be issued upon exercise of Options to 
be granted under other schemes of the Company, 
shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as 
at the commencement date of the Scheme (or 
such proportion of the issued share capital of the 
Company as from time to time specified in the 
Listing Rules).

Accordingly, the maximum number of Shares 
which may be issued upon exercise of all Options 
to be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 
8,686,255 Shares, being:

(i) 10% of the total issued Shares as at the 
commencement date of the Scheme (being 
10 June 2016);

(ii) approximately 3.80% and 3.80% of the 
total issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 
and the date of this report respectively; and

(iii) approximately 3.66% and 3.66% of the 
enlarged issued Shares as at 31 December 
2024 and the date of this report respectively.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(d) The Maximum Entitlement of Each 
Participant Under the Scheme

The number of Shares issued or issuable upon 
exercise of the Options granted to any individual 
Eligible Participant (including both exercised 
and outstanding Options) under the Scheme, 
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% 
of the Shares in issue, subject to the restrictions 
on grants to the Directors, chief executive or 
substantial shareholders of the Company or their 
associates as set out in the Listing Rules.

Each grant of Options to any of the Directors, 
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the 
Company, or any of their respective associates, 
under the Scheme must be approved by the INEDs 
(excluding the INED(s) who is/are the grantee(s) of 
the Option(s)). Where any grant of Options to an 
INED or a substantial shareholder of the Company, 
or any of their respective associates, would result 
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of 
all Options granted (excluding any Options lapsed 
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme) to 
such person in the 12-month period up to and 
including the date of such grant representing in 
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue, such 
further grant of Options must be approved by the 
Shareholders in general meeting in the manner set 
out in the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2024, the Scheme had no 
service provider sublimit under Chapter 17 of the 
Listing Rules (31 December 2023: nil).

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

(d) 計劃項下每名參與者的最高配
額

於任何十二個月期間，就計
劃項下任何個別合資格參與
者行使授予彼等之購股權（包
括已行使及尚未行使之購股
權）而發行或可予發行之股份
數目，不得超逾已發行股份之
1%，惟受上市規則所載授予
董事、本公司主要行政人員或
主要股東或彼等聯繫人之限
制所限。

根據計劃授予任何董事、本公
司主要行政人員或主要股東
或彼等各自之聯繫人之購股
權必須經獨立非執行董事（不
包括將獲授購股權之獨立非
執行董事）批准。倘授出任何
購股權予本公司獨立非執行
董事或主要股東或彼等各自
之聯繫人，將導致於截至及包
括授出購股權日期之十二個
月期間，就向該人士授出的所
有購股權（不包括根據計劃條
款失效的任何購股權）獲發行
及將獲發行之股份合共佔已
發行股份逾0.1%，則該等進
一步授出購股權須根據上市
規則所載方式於股東大會上
獲股東批准，方可作實。

於二零二四年十二月三十一日，
根據上市規則第17章，計劃並
無服務供應商上限（二零二三
年十二月三十一日：無）。
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31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

(e) 購股權之行使期

於任何先前期間未有行使之
任何權益可結轉至下一個期
間，惟無論如何須在有關購股
權授出日期後十年內行使，其
時仍未行使之所有購股權權
益將告失效。

(f) 購股權之歸屬期

購股權的歸屬期不得少於
十二個月。根據計劃授出之購
股權賦予購股權持有人權利
於授出日期後第一、第二及第
三個週年日各行使購股權之
三分之一，並須待達成有關授
出個別購股權之相關要約函
內所訂明之各項目標（如有）
後方可作實，惟購股權持有人
仍然須為合資格參與者。

(g) 購股權之表現目標

所有已授出之購股權不受達
成表現目標所規限，惟授予一
名僱員（於授出時曾為本集團
若干附屬公司的一名董事）之
18,000,000份購股權（供股完
成後調整為17,942,492份購
股權，股份合併完成後進一步
調整為897,125份購股權）除
外，該等購股權可於授出日期
起計一年後但不超過十年內
行使，惟須達成各項目標。三
分之一的已授出購股權之首
個行使日期為授出日期之第
一個週年日後，前提是美國食
品及藥品監督管理局已批准
開始FortacinTM的第三期臨床
試驗。三分之一的已授出購股
權之第二個行使日期為美國的
「對外許可協議」簽署及公佈
後。三分之一的已授出購股
權之第三個行使日期為成功
完成008研究（定義為意味著
達到其主要及次要目標），且
FortacinTM之新藥申請獲美國
食品及藥品監督管理局批准
之日。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(e) Period of Exercise of Options

Any entitlements unexercised in any prior period 
may be carried forward to the following periods 
but, in any event, must be exercised within 10 
years from the date of offer of the relevant 
Options. All entitlements of the Options then 
remain unexercised will lapse.

(f) Vesting Period of Options

The vesting period for Options shall not be less 
than 12 months. Options granted under the 
Scheme entitle the Option holder to exercise one-
third of the Options at each of the first, second 
and third anniversary dates after the date of grant, 
and subject to fulfilment of the various targets, 
if any, as specified in the relevant offer letter in 
relation to the grant of the individual Options, 
provided that the Option holder remains as an 
eligible participant.

(g) Performance Target of Options

All Options granted are not subject to fulfilment 
of performance targets, except for the 
18,000,000 Options (adjusted to 17,942,492 
Options upon completion of the Rights Issue 
and further adjusted to 897,125 Options upon 
completion of the Share Consolidation) granted 
to an employee, formerly a director of certain 
subsidiaries of the Group at the time of the grant, 
that those Options are exercisable after one year 
but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the 
grant and subject to fulfilment of various targets. 
The first exercise date of one-third of the Options 
granted is after the first anniversary date of the 
date of grant, provided that the FDA has approved 
the start of the Phase 3 clinical trial for FortacinTM. 
The second exercise date of one-third of the 
Options granted is after an “out-licencing deal” 
for the US has been signed and announced. The 
third exercise date of one-third of the Options 
granted is on the successful completion of Study 
008 (defined to mean it meets its primary and 
secondary end points) and the FDA has granted 
the NDA for FortacinTM.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(h) Grant and Acceptance of Offers

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain 
open for acceptance by the Eligible Participant 
concerned for a period of 28 days inclusive of 
and from the date on which such offer is made 
to that Eligible Participant or such shorter period 
as the Directors may in their absolute discretion 
determine. An offer which remains capable 
of acceptance shall be deemed to have been 
accepted upon the date when the duly completed 
and signed form of acceptance together with a 
remittance for HK$10, being the consideration for 
the grant thereof, are received by the Company. 
The Option shall, following such acceptance, be 
deemed to have been granted and to have taken 
effect on the date of offer.

The Group has not provided any financial 
assistance to the grantees of the Options to 
facilitate the purchase of Shares under the 
Scheme.

(i) Basis of Determination of the Exercise Price

The exercise price is to be determined by the 
Directors at their absolute discretion when the 
Option is offered, provided that in no event shall 
such price be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated 
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock 
Exchange on the date of offer, which must 
be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as 
stated in the daily quotations sheets of the 
Stock Exchange for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

(h) 要約之授出及接納

授出購股權之要約由向合資
格參與者作出要約日期起計
二十八日（包括首尾兩天）（或
董事會可能全權酌情釐定之
較短期間）內可供有關合資格
參與者提出接納。可供接納之
要約於本公司收取填妥及正
式簽署之接納表格以及10港
元之款項（作為授出代價）之
日期被視為已獲接納。一旦獲
接納，購股權被視為已於要約
日期當日授出及生效。

本集團並未向購股權承授人
提供任何財務支援，以促使購
買計劃項下之股份。

(i) 釐定行使價之基準

董事於要約授出購股權時全
權酌情釐定行使價，惟無論如
何行使價至少為下列之最高
者：

(i) 於要約日期（必須為營業
日）聯交所每日報價表所
報股份之收市價；

(ii) 緊接要約日期前五個營
業日聯交所每日報價表
所報股份之平均收市
價；及

(iii) 股份之面值。
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31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

(j) 計劃之期限

計劃將自二零一六年六月十
日起計十年內具有效力及生
效，並將於二零二六年六月九
日屆滿。本公司目前概無其他
生效中之購股權計劃。

(k) 購股權失效及回撥機制

授予購股權受計劃條款中所
載回撥機制所規限，特別是，
購股權於根據計劃不再為合
資格參與者及董事會酌情取
消購股權時失效。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(j) Life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a 
period of 10 years commencing from 10 June 
2016 and will expire on 9 June 2026. The 
Company has no other share option scheme 
currently in force.

(k) Lapse of Options and Clawback Mechanism

The grant of Options is subject to the clawback 
mechanism as set out in the terms of the Scheme, 
in particular, the lapse of the Options upon 
cessation to be an eligible participant under the 
Scheme and the cancellation of Options at the 
discretion of the Board.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

The FV of the Options granted on 14 October 2020, 
17 December 2020, 7 June 2021 and 3 May 2023 
respectively was calculated by an external valuer using 
the Binomial Model. The assumptions used were as 
follows:

Granted on 
14 October 

2020

Granted on 
17 December 

2020

Granted on 
7 June 

2021

Granted on 
3 May 

2023
於二零二零年
十月十四日

授出

於二零二零年
十二月十七日

授出

於二零二一年
六月七日

授出

於二零二三年
五月三日

授出

Grant date share price 授出日期股價 HK$0.149 HK$0.179 HK$0.179 HK$0.055
0.149港元 0.179港元 0.179港元 0.055港元

Adjusted grant date 
share price after Share 
Consolidation in 2023

於二零二三年股份 
合併後的經調整 
授出日期股價

HK$2.980
2.980港元

HK$3.580
3.580港元

HK$3.580
3.580港元

HK$1.100
1.100港元

Exercise price 行使價 HK$0.149 HK$0.183 HK$0.185 HK$0.078
0.149港元 0.183港元 0.185港元 0.078港元

Adjusted exercise price after 
Rights Issue in 2023

於二零二三年供股後之
經調整行使價

HK$0.150
0.150港元

HK$0.184
0.184港元

HK$0.186
0.186港元

N/A
不適用

Adjusted exercise price after 
Rights Issue and Share 
Consolidation in 2023

於二零二三年供股及 
股份合併後之經調整
行使價

HK$3.000
3.000港元

HK$3.680
3.680港元

HK$3.720
3.720港元

HK$1.560
1.560港元

Expected volatility 預期波幅 64% 64% 64% 67%

Contractual Option life 合約購股權壽命 10 years
10年

10 years
10年

10 years
10年

10 years
10年

Risk-free rate 無風險利率 0.598% 0.754% 1.102% 3.140%

Expected dividend yield 預期股息收益率 0% 0% 0% 0%

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

分別於二零二零年十月十四日、二
零二零年十二月十七日、二零二一
年六月七日及二零二三年五月三日
授出的購股權的公允價值由外部估
值師使用二項式模型計算。所用假
設如下：
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31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

預期波幅乃根據本公司過去數年的
歷史價格波幅計算。無風險利率為
於授出日期的香港外匯基金票據及
債券的收益率或從彭博社的香港主
權港元債券曲線的收益率。本公司
的股息收益率採納為0%。

根據上述定價模式得出的公允價
值，於二零二零年十月十四日、二
零二零年十二月十七日、二零二一
年六月七日及二零二三年五月三日
授出的購股權的公允價值分別約
為5,317,000港元（或約686,000美
元）、1,890,000港元（或約244,000

美元）、276,000港元（或約36,000美
元）及2,361,000港元（或約302,000

美元）。截至二零二四年十二月
三十一日止年度，本集團已於損益
中確認以股份為基礎的僱員及董
事的付款開支約567,000港元（或
約73,000美元）（二零二三年：約
1,182,000港元或151,000美元），及
顧問的付款開支約340,000港元（或
約43,000美元）（二零二三年：約
327,000港元或42,000美元）。

計算購股權公允價值所使用的假設
是基於管理層的最佳估計。購股權
的估值取決於使用主觀假設的多項
變數。變動的任何變數均可能對購
股權公允價值的估計造成重大影
響。

所授購股權並無相關市場歸屬條
件。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

The expected volatility is based on historical price 
volatility of the Company in the past few years. The 
risk-free rate is the yields of Hong Kong exchange 
fund bills and notes or the yield of HK$ Hong Kong 
Sovereign Curve from Bloomberg as at the grant 
dates. The dividend yield of the Company of 0% was 
adopted.

Based on the FV derived from the above pricing model, 
the FV of the Options granted on 14 October 2020, 
17 December 2020, 7 June 2021 and 3 May 2023 
were approximately HK$5,317,000 (or approximately 
US$686,000), HK$1,890,000 (or approximately 
US$244,000), HK$276,000 (or approximately 
US$36,000) and HK$2,361,000 (or approximately 
US$302,000) respectively. For the year ended 31 
December 2024, the Group has recognised a share-
based payment expense of approximately HK$567,000 
(or approximately US$73,000) (2023: approximately 
HK$1,182,000 or US$151,000) for employees 
and Directors and approximately HK$340,000 (or 
approximately US$43,000) (2023: approximately 
HK$327,000 or US$42,000) for consultant(s) in profit 
or loss.

The assumptions used in computing the FV of the 
Options are based on management’s best estimate. The 
valuation of Options is dependent upon a number of 
variables using subjective assumptions. Any changes in 
the variables may materially affect the estimation of the 
FV of an Option.

There was no market vesting condition associated with 
the Options granted.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

The movement in the number of Options under the 
Scheme are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Grantees Date of grant (note 1)

Exercise 
price 
HK$

Outstanding 
at 

1 January 
2024

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Outstanding 
at 

31 December 
2024

承授人 授出日期（附註1）
行使價
港元

於
二零二四年
一月一日
尚未行使 年內授出 年內行使 年內失效

於
二零二四年

十二月
三十一日
尚未行使

Directors 14.10.2020 3.000 1,190,235 – – – 1,190,235
董事
Employees 14.10.2020 3.000 697,762 – – – 697,762
僱員

17.12.2020 3.680 897,125 – – – 897,125
03.05.2023 1.560 2,400,000 – – – 2,400,000

Other eligible participants (note 3) 07.06.2021 3.720 124,601 124,601
其他合資格參與者（附註3）

03.05.2023 1.560 1,420,000 – – (500,000) 920,000
      

6,729,723 – – (500,000) 6,229,723      
Weighted average exercise price HK$2.287 – – HK$1.560 HK$2.345
加權平均行使價 2.287港元 1.560港元 2.345港元      

For the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2024, 
the weighted average remaining contractual life was 
7.19 years (2023: 8.27 years).

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

計劃項下之購股權數目變動如下：

截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止
年度

就於二零二四年十二月三十一日尚
未行使的購股權而言，加權平均剩
餘合同期為7.19年（二零二三年：
8.27年）。
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31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止
年度

# 截至二零二三年十二月三十一日
止年度，就根據計劃授出之購股權
可能發行之股份數目除以截至二
零二三年十二月三十一日止年度
之股份加權平均數為1.70%。

* 供股及股份合併調整後截至二零
二三年十二月三十一日的行使價。

就於二零二三年十二月三十一日尚
未行使的購股權而言，經供股及股
份合併調整後的已歸屬及可行使總
數為1,971,063份購股權。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Grantees Date of grant (note 1)

Adjusted 
Exercise 

price*
HK$

Outstanding 
at 

1 January 
2023

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year 

Lapsed 
during 

the year

Adjustment 
after Rights 

Issue

Adjustment 
after Share 

Consolidation Reclassification

Outstanding 
at 

31 December 
2023

承授人 授出日期（附註1）

經調整
行使價*
港元

於
二零二三年
一月一日
尚未行使 年內授出 年內行使 年內失效 供股後調整

股份合併
後調整 重新分類

於
二零二三年

十二月三十一日
尚未行使

           

Directors 14.10.2020 3.000 25,718,000 – – (91,557) (82,166) (24,354,042) – 1,190,235
董事
Employees 14.10.2020 3.000 14,000,000 – – – (44,729) (13,257,509) – 697,762
僱員

17.12.2020 3.680 18,000,000 – – – (57,508) (17,045,367) – 897,125
03.05.2023 1.560 – 58,000,000 – – – (55,100,000) (500,000) 2,400,000

Other eligible participants (note 3) 14.10.2020 3.000 6,000,000 – – (5,980,831) (19,169) – – –
其他合資格參與者（附註3）

07.06.2021 3.720 2,500,000 – – – (7,987) (2,367,412) – 124,601
03.05.2023 1.560 – 18,400,000 – – – (17,480,000) 500,000 1,420,000

           
66,218,000 76,400,000# – (6,072,388) (211,559) (129,604,330) – 6,729,723

           
Weighted average exercise price HK$3.212* HK$1.560 – HK$3.000 N/A N/A N/A HK$2.287
加權平均行使價 3.212港元* 1.560港元 3.000港元 不適用 不適用 不適用 2.287港元
           

# The number of Shares that may be issued in respect 
of Options granted under the Scheme during the year 
ended 31 December 2023 divided by the weighted 
average number of Shares for the year ended 31 
December 2023 is 1.70%.

* Exercise price as of 31 December 2023 after Rights 
Issue and Share Consolidation adjustments.

For the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2023, 
the total vested and exercisable number, after the 
adjustments of Rights Issue and Share Consolidation is 
1,971,063 Options.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

Notes:

1. Acceptance of an offer of the grant of an Option shall 
be completed by the delivery of a form of acceptance 
together with a remittance for HK$10.00 (or such 
higher or lower amount as the Directors may from time 
to time determine) by the Eligible Participant, by way of 
consideration for the grant.

(a) On 14 October 2020, the Company granted 
62,718,000 Options to Directors and employees 
(comprising 25,718,000 Options for Directors 
and 37,000,000 Options for employees) with an 
exercise price of HK$0.149 per Share (adjusted 
to HK$0.150 per Share upon completion of the 
Rights Issue and further adjusted to HK$3.000 
per Share upon completion of the Share 
Consolidation). The closing price immediately 
before the date on which the Options were 
granted was HK$0.156 per Share. Further 
details are set out in the announcements of 
the Company dated 15 October 2020 and 20 
October 2020.

(b) On 17 December 2020, the Company granted 
18,000,000 Options to an employee, formerly 
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group 
at the time of the grant, with an exercise price 
of HK$0.183 per Share (adjusted to HK$0.184 
per Share upon completion of the Rights Issue 
and further adjusted to HK$3.680 per Share 
upon completion of the Share Consolidation). 
The closing price immediately before the date on 
which the Options were granted was HK$0.183 
per Share. The Options granted are exercisable 
after one year but not exceeding 10 years from 
the date of the grant and subject to fulfilment of 
the various targets. Further details are set out in 
the announcements of the Company dated 18 
December 2020 and 30 December 2020.

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）

附註：

1. 合資格參與者應透過送達接納表
格及以10.00港元（或董事不時釐
定的較高或較低金額）之匯款作為
授出代價完成接納授出購股權的
要約。

(a) 於二零二零年十月十四日，
本公司向董事及僱員授出
62,718,000份購股權（包括
25,718,000份購股權給董
事及37,000,000份購股權
給僱員），行使價為每股股
份0.149港元（於供股完成
後調整至每股股份0.150港
元，並於股份合併完成後進
一步調整至每股股份3.000
港元）。緊接購股權授出日
期前的收市價為每股股份
0.156港元。進一步詳情載
於本公司日期為二零二零
年十月十五日及二零二零
年十月二十日的公佈。

(b) 於二零二零年十二月十七
日，本公司向一名僱員（於
授出時曾為本集團若干附
屬公司的一名董事）授出
18,000,000份購股權，行使
價為每股股份0.183港元（於
供股完成後調整至每股股
份0.184港元，並於股份合
併完成後進一步調整至每
股股份3.680港元）。緊接購
股權授出日期前的收市價
為每股股份0.183港元。授
出的購股權可於授出日期
起計一年後但不超過十年
內行使，惟須達成各項目
標。進一步詳情載於本公司
日期為二零二零年十二月
十八日及二零二零年十二
月三十日的公佈。



220 REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED 勵晶太平洋集團有限公司

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
 　 

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(1) 購股權（續）
附註：

1. （續）

(c) 於二零二一年六月七日，本
公司向本公司一家附屬公
司之一名顧問（其並非本集
團董事）就其根據顧問協議
條款所提供的服務而授出
2,500,000份購股權，行使價
為每股股份0.185港元（於供
股完成後調整至每股股份
0.186港元，並於股份合併
完成後進一步調整至每股
股份3.720港元）。緊接購股
權授出日期前的收市價為
每股股份0.179港元。進一步
詳情載於本公司日期為二
零二一年六月八日及二零
二一年六月十五日的公佈。

(d) 於二零二三年五月三日，
本公司向本集團僱員及本
公司一家附屬公司之一
名顧問（即FOKI Limited，
Deepankar Nayak先生為其
董事兼唯一及最終股東，
其並非本集團董事）就其
根據顧問協議條款所提供
的服務而授出76,400,000
份 購 股 權，行 使 價 為 每
股股份 0 . 0 7 8港元（於股
份合併完成後調整至每
股股份1.560港元）。緊接
購股權授出日期前的收
市價為每股股份0 .056港
元。進 一 步 詳 情 載 於 本
公司日期為二零二三年 
五月四日及二零二三年五
月十八日的公佈。其後，其
中一名顧問（先前為本公司
僱員）不再為顧問，自二零
二四年九月一日起生效，授
予該顧問的購股權於截至
二零二四年十二月三十一
日止年度失效。

2. 除上文所披露者外，於截至二零
二四年十二月三十一日止年度及
直至本報告日期，( i )概無任何董
事、本公司主要行政人員或主要股
東或彼等各自的聯繫人獲授或持
有購股權；(ii)概無任何合資格參與
者獲授或持有超過上市規則所述
的1%個人限額的購股權；(iii)概無
任何關連實體參與者或服務供應
商於任何十二個月期間獲授或持
有購股權超過相關已發行股份類
別的0.1%；或(iv)概無其他僱員參
與者、關連實體參與者及服務供應
商獲授或持有購股權。

3. 除董事、行政人員及僱員外，計劃
的其他合資格參與者包括顧問及
本集團服務提供商。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

Notes:

1. (Continued)

(c) On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 
2,500,000 Options to a consultant of a subsidiary 
of the Company, who is not a director of the 
Group, for the services rendered pursuant to 
the terms of the consulting agreement, with an 
exercise price of HK$0.185 per Share (adjusted 
to HK$0.186 per Share upon completion of the 
Rights Issue and further adjusted to HK$3.720 
per Share upon completion of the Share 
Consolidation). The closing price immediately 
before the date on which the Options were 
granted was HK$0.179 per Share. Further 
details are set out in the announcements of the 
Company dated 8 June 2021 and 15 June 2021.

(d) On 3 May 2023, the Company granted 
76,400,000 Options to employees of the Group 
and a consultant of a subsidiary of the Company, 
namely FOKI Limited, of which Mr Deepankar 
Nayak is a director as well as the only and 
ultimate shareholder and who is not a director of 
the Group, for the services rendered pursuant to 
the terms of the consulting agreement, with an 
exercise price of HK$0.078 per Share (adjusted 
to HK$1.560 per Share upon completion of 
the Share Consolidation). The closing price 
immediately before the date on which the 
Options were granted was HK$0.056 per Share. 
Further details are set out in the announcements 
of the Company dated 4 May 2023 and 18 May 
2023. Subsequently, one of the consultants, 
previously was an employee of the Company, 
ceased to be a consultant with effect from 1 
September 2024, the respective Options granted 
to that consultant lapsed during the year ended 
31 December 2024.

2. Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 
December 2024 and up to the date of this report, no 
Options were granted to or held by (i) any Directors, 
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the 
Company, or their respective associates; (ii) any Eligible 
Participant in excess of the 1% individual limit referred 
to under the Listing Rules; (iii) any related entity 
participant or service provider in any 12-month period 
exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue; 
or (iv) other employees participants, related entity 
participants and service providers.

3. Besides Directors, executives and employees, other 
Eligible Participants of the Scheme include consultants 
and service providers of the Group.
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31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(2) Share Awards

On 14 July 2021, the Company announced that, by 
way of consideration for two consultants’ (Dr Verdin 
and Dr Gladyshev, the “Consultants”) entire term of 
services, unless otherwise agreed both consultants will 
not receive any cash (save for expenses), but instead 
both consultants will receive an award of 1,670,000 
and 1,110,000 ordinary shares, respectively, with a 
nominal value of US$0.01 each (adjusted to US$0.2 
per Share upon completion of the Share Consolidation 
and further adjusted to US$0.001 per Share upon 
completion of the Capital Reduction) to be issued 
by the Company (“Consultant Shares”). Subject 
to the continuation of the consultants’ service for 
the Company pursuant to the relevant consulting 
agreement, one third of the Consultant Shares will vest 
and become issuable on the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the award date, being the date of the 
relevant consulting agreement. In the event that any 
of the consultants’ services cease and/or the relevant 
consulting agreement is terminated for whatever reason 
prior the satisfaction of any vesting condition in respect 
of the Consultant Shares that may be issued to the 
consultants, any unvested Consultant Shares previously 
awarded shall become null and void and any unvested 
Consultant Shares will not be issued or remain issuable 
to the Consultants and the Consultants will have no 
claim or entitlement in respect of such Consultant 
Shares whatsoever. Management used the share price 
of HK$0.166 (or approximately US$0.021) at the grant 
date (14 July 2021) as the FV of the Share Awards.

31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(2) 股份獎勵

於二零二一年七月十四日，本公
司宣佈，作為兩名顧問（Verdin博
士及Gladyshev博士，「顧問」）整個
服務年期的代價，除非另行協定，
否則兩名顧問將不會收取任何現金
（開支除外），但取而代之，兩名顧
問將分別收取本公司將予發行的
1,670,000股及1,110,000股每股面
值0.01美元（於股份合併完成後調
整至每股股份0.2美元，且於股本削
減完成後進一步調整至每股股份
0.001美元）的普通股股份（「顧問
股份」）的獎勵。待顧問根據相關顧
問協議繼續為本公司提供服務後，
三分之一的顧問股份將於獎勵日期
（即相關顧問協議日期）的第一、第
二及第三週年歸屬及可予發行。倘
任何顧問服務終止及╱或相關顧問
協議因任何原因於達成可能向顧問
發行的顧問股份的任何歸屬條件前
終止，則先前授出的任何未歸屬顧
問股份將告失效及無效，且任何未
歸屬顧問股份將不會發行或仍可發
行予顧問，而顧問將不會就該等顧
問股份提出任何申索或享有權利。
管理層使用授出日期（二零二一年
七月十四日）的股價0.166港元（或
約0.021美元）作為股份獎勵的公允
價值。
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31. 以權益結算的股份付款交易（續） 

(2) 股份獎勵（續）

未歸屬股份獎勵數目變動：

於二零二四年七月十四日，三分之
一的顧問股份獲歸屬，故向顧問發
行46,333股股份（附註25(f)）。緊接
顧問股份獲歸屬日期前的股份加權
平均收市價為每股股份0.58港元。

於截至二零二四年十二月三十一日
止年度：

－ 46,333股股份（二零二三年：
46,333股股份）歸屬予顧問。

－ 概無股份（二零二三年：無股
份）失效或註銷。

－ 本公司已於損益中確認股份
獎勵產生的以股份為基礎的
付款開支總額約82,000港元
（或約1 0 , 0 0 0美元）（二零
二三年：約154,000港元（或約
20,000美元））。

31. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(2) Share Awards (Continued)

Movements of the number of unvested share awards:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年 

At 1 January 於一月一日 46,333 1,853,334
Adjustment on Share 

Consolidation
股份合併調整

– (1,760,668)
Vested after Share Consolidation 股份合併後歸屬 (46,333) (46,333)

 
At 31 December 於十二月三十一日 – 46,333 

On 14 July 2024, one-third of the Consultant Shares 
were vested and accordingly 46,333 Shares were issued 
to the Consultants (note 25(f)). The weighted average 
closing price of the Shares immediately before the 
date on which the Consultant Shares were vested was 
HK$0.58 per Share.

For the year ended 31 December 2024:

– 46,333 shares (2023: 46,333 shares) were vested 
to the Consultants.

– No shares (2023: no shares) were lapsed or 
cancelled.

– The Company has recognised total share-based 
payment expenses arising from the share awards 
of approximately HK$82,000 (or approximately 
US$10,000) (2023: approximately HK$154,000 (or 
approximately US$20,000)) in profit or loss.
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Note US$’000 US$’000
附註 千美元 千美元

 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 資產及負債
Non-current assets 非流動資產

Interests in subsidiaries 於附屬公司權益 650 650
Financial assets at fair value 

through other comprehensive 
income

按公允價值計入 
其他全面收入之
金融資產 –* –*

 
Total non-current assets 非流動資產總額 650 650

 
Current assets 流動資產

Amounts due from subsidiaries 應收附屬公司款項 17 54
FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價

值處理之金融資產 21 318
Prepayments, deposits and 

other receivables
預付款項、按金及 
其他應收款項 40 42

Cash and bank balances 現金及銀行結餘 22 1,928
 

Total current assets 流動資產總額 100 2,342
   
Current liabilities 流動負債

Amounts due to subsidiaries 應付附屬公司款項 (1,863) (1,870)
Shareholder’s loans 股東貸款 (2,000) –
Trade payables, accruals and 

other payables
應付貿易賬款、 
應計賬款及 
其他應付款項 (2,835) (2,795)

 
Total current liabilities 流動負債總額 (6,698) (4,665)

 
Net current liabilities 流動負債淨額 (6,598) (2,323)

 
Non-current liability 非流動負債

Shareholder’s loans 股東貸款 (570) –
 

Net liabilities 負債淨額 (6,518) (1,673) 
EQUITY 權益
Capital and reserves 資本及儲備
Share capital 股本 228 228
Reserves 儲備 32(b) (6,746) (1,901)

 
Capital deficiency 資本虧損 (6,518) (1,673) 

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its 
behalf by:

James Mellon Jamie Gibson
Chairman Executive Director
主席 執行董事

32. 本公司財務狀況表及儲備變動

(a) 本公司財務狀況表

* 金額少於1,000美元。

經董事會於二零二五年三月二十七
日批准及授權發佈並由以下人士代
為簽署：
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32. 本公司財務狀況表及儲備變動（續） 

(b) 本公司儲備變動

32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Accumulated 

losses

Share 

premium

Investment 

revaluation 

reserve

Share-

based 

payment 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Statutory 

and other 

reserves

Foreign 

currency 

exchange 

reserve Total

累計虧損 股份溢價
投資重估

儲備

以股份
為基礎的
付款儲備

股本贖回
儲備

法定及
其他儲備

外幣
匯兌儲備 總計

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元
        

At 1 January 2024 於二零二四年一月一日 (303,051) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8,228 39 1 (1,901)        
New shares issued for share awards 就股份獎勵發行新股份 20 – – (20) – – – –

Share options lapsed 購股權失效 27 – – (27) – – – –

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (note 31) 以權益結算的股份付款交易（附註31） – – – 126 – – – 126

Loss for the year 年內虧損 (4,971) – – – – – – (4,971)
        

At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年十二月三十一日 (307,975) 293,557 (1,500) 904 8,228 39 1 (6,746)
        

Accumulated 

losses

Share 

premium

Investment 

revaluation 

reserve

Share-

based payment 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Statutory 

and other 

reserves

Foreign 

currency 

exchange 

reserve Total

累計虧損 股份溢價
投資重估

儲備

以股份
為基礎的
付款儲備

股本贖回
儲備

法定及
其他儲備

外幣
匯兌儲備 總計

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元

At 1 January 2023 於二零二三年一月一日 (325,431) 294,331 (1,500) 714 8,228 39 1 (23,618)

Capital Reduction 股本削減 45,450 – – – – – – 45,450

Issue of Shares through Rights Issue 透過供股發行股份 – (774) – – – – – (774)

New shares issued for share awards 就股份獎勵發行新股份 10 – – (19) – – – (9)

Share options lapsed 購股權失效 83 – – (83) – – – –

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions (note 31) 以權益結算的股份付款交易（附註31） – – – 213 – – – 213

Loss for the year 年內虧損 (23,163) – – – – – – (23,163)

At 31 December 2023 於二零二三年十二月三十一日 (303,051) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8,228 39 1 (1,901)
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33. RESERVES

(a) Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements 
therein are presented in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Accumulated losses

This represents cumulative net gains and losses 
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds 
received over the nominal value of the shares 
of the Company issued at a premium, less the 
amount of expenses incurred in connection with 
the issue of the shares.

(iii) Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises 
the cumulative net change in the fair value 
of FAFVOCI held at the end of the reporting 
period and is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policy in note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

(iv) Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the 
fair value of the actual or estimated number 
of unexercised share options and share awards 
granted to Directors, employees and other 
eligible participants of the Group recognised in 
accordance with the accounting policy adopted 
for equity-settled share-based payments in note 4 
to the consolidated financial statements.

33. 儲備

(a) 本集團

本集團儲備及其變動金額呈列於綜
合損益及其他全面收益表及綜合權
益變動表。

(b) 儲備性質及目的

(i) 累計虧損

累計虧損指於損益內確認之
累計收益及虧損淨額。

(ii) 股份溢價

股份溢價指本公司股份以溢
價發行時所得資金，減發行股
份開支後，與股份面值之差
異。

(iii) 投資重估儲備

投資重估儲備包括於報告期
末所持有按公允價值計入其
他全面收入之金融資產之累
計公允價值變動淨額並根據
綜合財務報表附註4之會計政
策處理。

(iv) 以股份為基礎的付款儲備

以股份為基礎的付款儲備指
根據綜合財務報表附註4就以
股份為基礎按股權結算之付
款所採納會計政策確認的授
予本集團董事、僱員及其他合
資格參與者的未行使購股權
及股份獎勵的實際或估計數
目的公允價值。
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33. 儲備（續）

(b) 儲備性質及目的（續）

(v) 股本贖回儲備

股本贖回儲備指購回本公司
在香港聯交所上市之股份。該
等購回股份將於購回時註銷，
註銷股份之面值會因而相應
計入股本贖回儲備，而已付總
代價則從累計虧損及股份溢
價賬中扣除。

(vi) 法定及其他儲備

法定及其他儲備指於二零
二四年十二月三十一日的法
定儲備約176,000美元（二零
二三年：約176,000美元）及
其他儲備約39,000美元（二零
二三年：約39,000美元）。

根據中國有關法律及法規之
規定，本公司位於中國之一間
聯營公司須保留法定儲備，不
可用於分派。該項儲備轉撥自
聯營公司根據中國公認會計
原則編製之中國法定財務報
表之除稅後溢利。

(vii) 外幣匯兌儲備

外幣匯兌儲備包括換算海外
業務之財務報表所產生之所
有匯兌差額。該儲備根據綜合
財務報表附註4所載之會計政
策處理。

33. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(v) Capital redemption reserve

This represents the repurchase of shares of the 
Company listed on the HK Stock Exchange. 
These repurchased shares were cancelled upon 
repurchase and, accordingly, the nominal 
value of the cancelled shares was credited to 
capital redemption reserve and the aggregate 
considerat ion paid was debited to the 
accumulated losses and share premium accounts.

(vi) Statutory and other reserves

This represents statutory reserve of approximately 
US$176,000 (2023: approximately US$176,000) 
and other reserve of approximately US$39,000 
(2023: approximately US$39,000) as at 31 
December 2024.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations 
in the PRC, an associate of the Company in the 
PRC is required to maintain a statutory reserve 
which is non-distributable. Transfer to this reserve 
is made out of profit after tax of the associates’ 
PRC statutory financial statements which is 
prepared in accordance with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in the PRC.

(vii) Foreign currency exchange reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises 
all foreign exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance 
with the accounting policies set out in note 4 to 
the consolidated financial statements.
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the net 
proceeds (net of direct expenses of approximately 
US$774,000) of approximately US$20,891,000 from 
the Rights Issue was offset by the shareholder’s loans 
with a principal of approximately US$13,402,000 and 
accrued interest of approximately US$1,438,000.

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both cash 
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing 
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future 
cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing 
activities.

At 1 January 

2024

Financing 

cash flows

Interest 

expenses

Interest 

payment 

(presented 

as operating 

cash flows)

Transfer 

to other 

payables

Exchange 

difference

At 

31 December 

2024

於
二零二四年
一月一日 融資現金流量 利息開支

利息付款
（列作經營
現金流量）

轉撥至其他
應付款項 匯兌差額

於
二零二四年

十二月
三十一日

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元
        

Bank borrowings (note 26) 銀行借貸（附註26） 20 (9) –* – – –* 11

Shareholder’s loans (note 27) 股東貸款（附註27） – 2,570 71 – (71) – 2,570

Lease liabilities (note 28) 租賃負債（附註28） 1,175 (423) 100 (100) – 5 757
       

1,195 2,138 171 (100) (71) 5 3,338
       

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

34. 綜合現金流量表附註

(a) 主要非現金交易

於截至二零二三年十二月三十一
日止年度，供股之所得款項淨額
（扣除直接開支約774,000美元）約
20,891,000美元以股東貸款本金
約13,402,000美元及應計利息約
1,438,000美元抵銷。

(b) 融資活動所產生負債之對賬

下表詳列本集團融資活動所產生
負債之變動（包括現金及非現金變
動）。融資活動所產生負債為其現金
流量已經或未來現金流量將會於本
集團綜合現金流量表分類為融資活
動之現金流量之負債。

* 金額少於1,000美元。
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34. 綜合現金流量表附註（續） 

(b) 融資活動所產生負債之對賬（續）

* 金額少於1,000美元。

35. 資本承擔

於二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日，本集團並無重大資本承擔。

36. 或然負債

於二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日，本集團並無重大或然負債。

34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities (Continued)

At 

1 January 

2023

Addition 

of 

new leases

Financing 

cash 

flows

Interest 

expenses

Interest 

payment 

(presented 

as operating 

cash flows)

Transfer 

to other 

payables Set Off

Exchange 

difference

At 

31 December 

2023

於
二零二三年
一月一日 增加新租賃

融資
現金流量 利息開支

利息付款
（列作經營
現金流量）

轉撥至其他
應付款項 抵銷 匯兌差額

於
二零二三年

十二月
三十一日

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元

Bank borrowings (note 26) 銀行借貸（附註26） 26 – (8) –* – – – 2 20

Shareholder’s loans (note 27) 股東貸款（附註27） 13,402 – – 21 – (21) (13,402) – –

Lease liabilities (note 28) 租賃負債（附註28） 302 1,334 (461) 59 (59) – – –* 1,175

13,730 1,334 (469) 80 (59) (21) (13,402) 2 1,195

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

35. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has no material capital commitments as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liabilities as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and 
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management 
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The subsidiaries of the Company mainly operated in 
their local jurisdiction with most of the transactions 
settled in their functional currencies of the respective 
jurisdiction and did not have significant exposure to risk 
resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency 
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency 
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors 
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider 
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should 
the need arise.

As the Directors consider that the currency risk 
in response to the changes in exchange rate is 
insignificant, sensitivity analysis on currency risk is not 
presented.

37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值

本集團之業務承受各種財務風險：外幣
風險、價格風險、信貸風險、流動資金風
險及利率風險。本集團之整體風險管理
計劃針對金融市場之難以預測性，並尋
求將對本集團財務表現造成之潛在不利
影響減至最低。

(a) 外幣風險

本公司附屬公司主要於當地司法權
區營運，大部分交易均以其各自司
法權區的功能貨幣結算，並無因外
幣匯率變動承受重大風險。

本集團目前並無就外幣交易、資產
及負債制定外幣對沖政策。本集團
密切監察其外幣風險，並將於需要
時考慮對沖重大外幣風險。

由於董事認為因匯率變動而產生的
貨幣風險並不重大，故並無呈列貨
幣風險的敏感度分析。
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37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(b) 價格風險

本集團主要因其於股本證券的投資
而面臨股價風險。管理層透過維持
風險及回報各異的投資組合管理該
風險。本集團的股價風險主要集中
於澳洲證券交易所報價的股本證
券。

以下敏感度分析乃根據報告期末的
股價風險釐定。

若股價上升╱下跌20%，則截至二
零二四年十二月三十一日止年度
的除稅後虧損將減少╱增加少於
1,000美元（二零二三年：59,000美
元）。此乃主要由於持作買賣的投資
公允價值變動所致。

(c) 信貸風險

信貸風險是指對手方無法履行金融
契據或客戶合約所規定的責任，以
致蒙受財務虧損的風險。本集團會
承受其經營活動及其融資活動（包
括銀行存款、外匯交易及其他金融
工具）產生的信貸風險。本集團承
受現金及現金等價物的信貸風險有
限，乃由於交易對手為國際信貸評
級機構指定信貸評級可予接受之
銀行，因此本集團認為信貸風險較
低。

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(b) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly 
through its investment in equity securities. The 
management manages this exposure by maintaining 
a portfolio of investments with different risk and 
return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly 
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the 
Australian Securities Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined 
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of 
the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 20% higher/lower, loss after 
tax for the year ended 31 December 2024 would 
decrease/increase by less than US$1,000 (2023: 
US$59,000). This is mainly due to the changes in fair 
value of held-for-trading investments.

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet 
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is 
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities 
and from its financing activities, including deposits 
with banks, foreign exchange transactions and other 
financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to credit 
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited 
because the counterparties are banks with acceptable 
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies, for which the Group considers to have low 
credit risk.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business 
unit subject to the Group’s established policy, 
procedures and control relating to customer credit 
risk management. Individual credit evaluations are 
performed on all customers requiring credit over 
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the 
customer’s past history of making payments when 
due and current ability to pay, and take into account 
information specific to the customer as well as 
pertaining to the economic environment in which the 
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30 
days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances 
that are more than 1 month past due are requested 
to settle all outstanding balances before any further 
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain 
collateral from customers.

In 2024, the Group has a concentration of credit risk, as 
56% of the total trade receivables were due from the 
Group’s two largest customers, each contributing 28% 
(2023: 38% and 69% of the total trade receivables 
was due from the Group’s largest customer and the 
two largest customers respectively). In order to minimise 
the credit risk, the management of the Group has 
delegated a team responsible for determination of 
credit limits and credit approvals.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade 
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, 
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience does not 
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different 
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past 
due status is not further distinguished between the 
Group’s different customer bases.

37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(c) 信貸風險（續）

應收貿易賬款

客戶信貸風險由各業務部門管理，
並須遵守本集團所制定與客戶信
貸風險管理相關之政策、程序及監
控。本集團將就需要一定金額信貸
之全部客戶進行個別信貸評估。該
等評估專注客戶於款項到期時之過
往付款記錄及現時支付能力，並考
慮客戶之特定資料以及客戶經營所
在經濟環境之資料。貿易應收賬款
自賬單日期起計30日內到期。本集
團要求有逾期超過1個月結餘之債
務人清償所有未付結餘，方會另行
批授任何信貸。於正常情況下，本
集團並未向客戶收取抵押品。

於二零二四年，本集團的信貸風險
集中，原因為應收貿易賬款總額的
56%來自本集團兩名最大客戶，各
佔28%（二零二三年：應收貿易賬
款總額的38%及69%分別來自本集
團最大客戶及兩名最大客戶）。為將
信貸風險減至最低，本集團管理層
已委派團隊負責釐定信貸限額及信
貸審批。

本集團按等同於全期預期信貸虧損
之金額計量應收貿易賬款之虧損撥
備，其乃使用撥備矩陣進行計算。
由於本集團之過往信貸虧損經驗並
未顯示不同客戶分部之虧損模式存
在顯著差異，基於逾期狀態之虧損
撥備不會進一步於本集團不同客戶
基礎之間進一步區分。
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37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(c) 信貸風險（續）

應收貿易賬款（續）

下表載列於二零二四年及二零二三
年十二月三十一日本集團所面臨信
貸風險以及應收貿易賬款之預期信
貸虧損之資料：

預期虧損率乃基於過往歷史之實際
虧損經驗得出，並就毋須付出過多
成本或努力即可獲得之合理前瞻性
資料作出調整。該等比率會作出調
整以反映已收集歷史數據之期間之
經濟狀況、當前狀況與本集團對應
收款項預期年期之經濟狀況之觀點
之間的差異。

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the 
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

2024
二零二四年

 

Expected
loss rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

預期虧損率 賬面總值 虧損撥備
% US$’000 US$’000

千美元 千美元    

Current (not past due) 即期（未逾期） 0% 53 –   

2023
二零二三年

Expected 
loss 
rate

Gross 
carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

預期虧損率 賬面總值 虧損撥備
% US$’000 US$’000

千美元 千美元 

Current (not past due) 即期（未逾期） 0% 39 –

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience 
over the past history and are adjusted for reasonable 
and supportable forward-looking information that is 
available without undue costs or effort. These rates 
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic 
conditions during the period over which the historic 
data has been collected, current conditions and the 
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected 
lives of the receivables.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group’s investments at amortised cost 
are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss 
allowance recognised during the period was therefore 
limited to 12-month expected losses. Other instruments 
are considered to be low credit risk when they have a 
low risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity 
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the 
near term. For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, the Group assessed the ECL for financial assets 
at amortised cost to be insignificant and thus no loss 
allowance is recognised.

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current 
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity 
requirements in the short and longer term.

The amount of net current liabilities and net liabilities 
of the Group are US$5,048,000 and US$5,901,000 
as at 31 December 2024, respectively, which causes 
the Group in significant liquidity risk. At the end of 
the reporting period, the Group has taken appropriate 
measures as set out in note 3 to mitigate such liquidity 
risk.

37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(c) 信貸風險（續）

按攤銷成本計量之金融資產

本集團按攤銷成本計量之所有投
資均被視為具有低信貸風險，故此
於期內確認之虧損撥備僅限於12

個月預期虧損。當其他工具之違約
風險低且發行人具備短期內履行其
合約現金流量責任之強勁能力時，
該工具被視為具有低信貸風險。截
至二零二四年及二零二三年十二月
三十一日止年度，本集團評估按攤
銷成本列賬之金融資產之預期信貸
虧損並不重大，因此並無確認虧損
撥備。

(d) 流動資金風險

本集團的政策為定期監察目前及預
期流動資金需要，以確保其維持足
夠現金儲備，應付其短期及較長期
的流動資金需要。

於二零二四年十二月三十一日，本
集團之流動負債淨額及負債淨額分
別為5,048,000美元及5,901,000美
元，導致本集團面臨重大流動資金
風險。於報告期末，本集團已採取
附註3所載的適當措施以減低該等
流動資金風險。
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37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(d) 流動資金風險（續）

本集團非衍生金融負債按合約未貼
現現金流量的到期日分析如下：

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analys is based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative 
financial liabilities is as follows:

Carrying 
amount

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
cash flow

Less than
1 year or 

on demand

Between
1 and 

2 years

Between
2 and 

5 years

賬面值
合約未貼現現
金流量總額

少於一年
或應要求 一至兩年 兩至五年

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元     

At 31 December 2024 於二零二四年 
十二月三十一日

Trade payables 應付貿易賬款 26 26 26 – –
Accruals and other 

payables
應計賬款及其他
應付款項 3,095 3,095 3,095 – –

Bank borrowings 銀行借貸 11 11 8 3 –
Lease liabilities 租賃負債 757 814 519 295 –
Shareholder’s loans 股東貸款 2,570 2,783 2,119 664 –

     
6,459 6,729 5,767 962 –     

At 31 December 2023 於二零二三年 
十二月三十一日

Trade payables 應付貿易賬款 102 102 102 – –
Accruals and other 

payables
應計賬款及其他
應付款項 3,039 3,039 3,039 – –

Bank borrowings 銀行借貸 20 20 9 8 3
Lease liabilities 租賃負債 1,175 1,335 523 517 295

4,336 4,496 3,673 525 298
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(e) Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank borrowings, shareholder’s loans and 
lease liabilities bear interests at fixed interest rates and 
therefore are subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s bank deposits also exposed to interest-rate 
risk. These deposits bear interests at variable rates that 
vary with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk.

(f) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. The following disclosures 
of fair value measurements use a fair value 
hierarchy that categorises into three levels the 
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure 
fair value:

Level 1  
inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the Group can access at the 
measurement date.

Level 2  
inputs:

inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly.

Level 3  
inputs:

unobservable inputs for the asset or 
liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into 
and transfers out of any of the three levels as of 
the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfer.

37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(e) 利率風險

本集團的銀行借貸、股東貸款及租
賃負債按固定利率計息，因此受公
允價值利率風險所規限。

本集團的銀行存款亦面臨利率風
險。該等存款按浮動利率計息，有
關利率隨當時市況而變化。

本集團面臨的利率風險極小。

(f) 公允價值計量

(i) 以公允價值計量的金融資產及
負債

公允價值層次

公允價值為市場參與者於計
量日期進行有序交易出售資
產時將收取或轉讓負債時將
支付之價格。以下公允價值計
量披露資料所用之公允價值
層次按用以計量公允價值之
估值技術所使用之輸入值分
為三個層次：

第一層次輸
入值：

根據本集團於計量日期
可獲得相同資產或負債
於活躍市場之報價（未
經調整）。

第二層次輸
入值：

資產或負債直接或間
接可觀察輸入值（不包
括計入第一層次之報
價）。

第三層次輸
入值：

資產或負債不可觀察輸
入值。

本集團之政策是於導致轉撥
之事件或情況變動發生當日
確認三個層次之間的轉入及
轉出。
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37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(f) 公允價值計量（續）

(i) 以公允價值計量的金融資產及
負債（續）

於二零二四年十二月三十一
日之公允價值層次披露：

* 金額少於1,000美元。

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value (Continued)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 
31 December 2024:

Fair value measurements using
使用下列輸入值之公允價值計量

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
第一層次 第二層次 第三層次 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元

Recurring fair value 
measurements:

經常性公允價值計量：

Financial assets 金融資產
FAFVOCI 按公允價值計入其他 

全面收入之金融資產
– Unlisted equity securities －非上市股本證券 – – –* –

FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價值
處理之金融資產

– Unlisted club debenture －非上市會所債券 – 19 – 19
– Listed equity securities －上市股本證券 2 – – 2

    
Total 總計 2 19 – 21    

* Amount is less than US$1,000.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value (Continued)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 
31 December 2023:

Fair value measurements using
使用下列輸入值之公允價值計量

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
第一層次 第二層次 第三層次 總計
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 千美元 千美元

Recurring fair value 
measurements:

經常性公允價值計量：

Financial assets 金融資產
FAFVOCI 按公允價值計入其他 

全面收入之金融資產
– Unlisted equity securities －非上市股本證券 – – –* –

FAFVPL 透過損益賬按公允價值
處理之金融資產

– Unlisted club debenture －非上市會所債券 – 19 – 19
– Listed equity securities －上市股本證券 299 – – 299

Total 總計 299 19 – 318

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(f) 公允價值計量（續）

(i) 以公允價值計量的金融資產及
負債（續）

於二零二三年十二月三十一
日之公允價值層次披露：

* 金額少於1,000美元。
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37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(f) 公允價值計量（續）

(i) 以公允價值計量的金融資產及
負債（續）

於二零二四年及二零二三年
十二月三十一日本集團所採
用的估值程序及公允價值計
量所採用的估值技術及輸入
值之披露：

本集團的首席財務官負責就
財務報告進行所需的資產及
負債的公允價值計量（包括第
三層次公允價值計量）。首席
財務官就該等公允價值計量
直接向董事會匯報。

按公允價值計入其他全面收
入之金融資產指非上市股權
投資。其公允價值乃參考可資
比較上市公司的倍數、近期交
易價格或資產淨值等估值方
法估算，並在適當情況下使用
報告期末的即期外幣匯率換
算。

於截至二零二四年及二零
二三年十二月三十一日止年
度，使用的估值技術並無任何
變動。

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(i) Financial assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value (Continued)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the 
Group and valuation techniques and inputs 
used in fair value measurements at 31 
December 2024 and 2023:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible 
for the fair value measurements of assets and 
liabilities required for financial reporting purposes, 
including level 3 fair value measurements. The 
chief financial officer reports directly to the Board 
of Directors for these fair value measurements.

The financial assets at FVOCI refers to the unlisted 
equity investments. Their fair value were estimated 
by using valuation techniques with reference to 
multiples of comparable listed companies, prices 
of recent transactions or net assets value and 
were translated using the spot foreign currency 
rate at the end of the reporting period where 
appropriate.

Level 2 fair value measurements Fair value
第二層次公允價值計量 公允價值

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

Description Valuation technique Inputs US$’000 US$’000
描述 估值技術 輸入值 千美元 千美元 

Unlisted club debenture Market comparable approach Market price 19 19
非上市會所債券 市場比較法 市場價格  

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023, there were no changes in the valuation 
techniques used.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
(CONTINUED)

(f) Fair value measurement (Continued)

(ii) Fair value of financial instruments carried at 
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost as reflected in the consolidated 
statement of financial position approximate their 
respective fair values.

38. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial 
assets and financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Financial assets 金融資產
FAFVPL: 透過損益賬按公允價值處理

之金融資產：
Mandatorily measured at FAFVPL 強制透過損益賬按公允價值

處理之金融資產計量 21 318
Financial assets at fair value through 

other comprehensive income
按公允價值計入其他全面 
收入之金融資產 –* –*

Financial assets measured at  
amortised cost

按攤銷成本計量之金融資產
338 2,333

 
359 2,651 

Financial liabilities 金融負債
Financial liabilities measured at 

amortised cost
按攤銷成本計量之金融負債

5,702 3,161
Lease Liabilities 租賃負債 757 1,175

 
6,459 4,336 

* Amount is less than US$1,000.

37. 財務風險管理及金融工具之公允
價值（續）

(f) 公允價值計量（續）

(ii) 並非以公允價值列賬的金融工
具的公允價值

綜合財務狀況表所反映以攤
銷成本計量的本集團金融資
產及金融負債的賬面值與其
各自的公允價值相若。

38. 按類別列示的金融資產及金融負
債概要

於報告期末，各類金融資產及金融負債
的賬面值如下：

* 金額少於1,000美元。
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39. 重大關連人士交易

除綜合財務報表其他地方所披露者外，
本集團於年內與關連人士有下列重大交
易：

上述交易按共同協定之條款進行。

# 本公司非執行董事及主席James Mellon
先生於Burnbrae Limited及Juvenescence 
Limited擁有實益權益。

除以上所披露者外，本集團於年內並無
其他重大關連人士交易。

上述披露的所有關連人士交易均不屬於
上市規則第14A章規定的關連交易或持
續關連交易。

董事認為，主要管理人員指董事，其酬金
詳情載於綜合財務報表附註10。

40. 比較數字

若干比較數字已重新分類以符合本年度
之呈報方式。會計項目的新分類方式被
認為可更恰當地呈報本集團之事務狀
況。

39. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group had the following material 
transactions with its related parties during the year:

2024 2023
二零二四年 二零二三年

US$’000 US$’000
千美元 千美元 

Interest expenses on shareholder’s  
loans to Galloway

向Galloway支付股東貸款之
利息開支 71 21

Income from registration services 
received from a related company, 
Juvenescence Limited#

向關連公司Juvenescence 
Limited收取之登記 
服務收入# – 13

Management service fee charge by a 
related company, Burnbrae Limited#

關連公司Burnbrae Limited 
收取之管理服務費# 16 16  

The above transactions were conducted on mutually agreed 
terms.

# Mr James Mellon, a NED and Chairman of the Company, 
has beneficial interest in Burnbrae Limited and Juvenescence 
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other material 
related party transactions for the year.

All related party transactions disclosed above are not 
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions 
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

The Directors are of opinion that the key management 
personnel were the Directors, details of whose emoluments 
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

40. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to 
conform to the current year’s presentation. The new 
classification of the accounting items was considered to 
provide a more appropriate presentation of the state of 
affairs of the Group.
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於本年報內，除文義另有指定外，下列詞彙具
有以下涵義：

In this final report, the following expressions shall have the 
following meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

2023 Annual Report the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023
二零二三年年報 本公司截至二零二三年十二月三十一日止年度之年度報告

2024 Annual Report the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024
二零二四年年報 本公司截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度之年度報告

2024 AGM the last annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 May 2024
二零二四年股東週年大會 本公司於二零二四年五月三十日舉行之最近期股東週年大會

2025 AGM the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 19 June 2025
二零二五年股東週年大會 本公司將於二零二五年六月十九日舉行之股東週年大會

Adjusted Share(s) ordinary share(s) of US$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company 
immediately following the Capital Reorganisation becoming effective

經調整股份 緊隨股本重組生效後，本公司股本中每股面值0.001美元之普通股

AI artificial intelligence
人工智能 人工智能

Audit Committee audit committee of the Company
審核委員會 本公司之審核委員會

Auditor auditor of the Group
核數師 本集團之核數師

Board or Board of Directors Board of Directors of the Company
董事會 本公司董事會

Capital Reduction the reduction of the issued share capital of the Company by reducing the 
par value of each issued Consolidated Share from US$0.20 to US$0.001 by 
cancelling the paid up share capital to the extent of US$0.199 per issued 
Consolidated Share, effective on 3 August 2023

股本削減 藉註銷每股已發行合併股份0.199美元之繳足股本而將每股已發行合
併股份之面值由0.20美元削減至0.001美元，從而削減本公司已發行股
本，於二零二三年八月三日生效

CEO Chief Executive Officer
行政總裁 行政總裁
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CG Code Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
企業管治守則 載於上市規則附錄C1之企業管治守則

Company Regent Pacific Group Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands with limited liabilities, the shares of which are listed on the Main 
Board of the Stock Exchange and are also traded on the Open Market 
(Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange

本公司 勵晶太平洋集團有限公司，一家於開曼群島註冊成立之有限責任公
司，其股份於聯交所主板上市，並於法蘭克福證券交易所公開市場
(Freiverkehr)買賣

Consolidated Share(s) ordinary share(s) of US$0.20 each in the share capital of the Company 
after the Share Consolidation becoming effective on 5 June 2023

合併股份 於二零二三年六月五日股份合併生效後本公司股本中每股面值0.20美
元之普通股

COVID-19 novel coronavirus disease of 2019
2019冠狀病毒病 2019新型冠狀病毒病

Director(s) Director(s) of the Company
董事 本公司之董事

DLI or Deep Longevity Deep Longevity, Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
DLI或Deep Longevity Deep Longevity, Inc，為本公司之一家全資附屬公司

DLL Deep Longevity Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of DLI
深度青春 深度青春有限公司，為DLI之一家全資附屬公司

EUR European dollars, the lawful currency in the European regions
歐元 歐洲地區法定貨幣歐元

FAFVOCI financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
按公允價值計入其他全面收入
之金融資產

按公允價值計入其他全面收入之金融資產

FAFVPL financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
透過損益賬按公允價值 
處理之金融資產

透過損益賬按公允價值處理之金融資產

FDA The Food and Drug Administration of the US
美國食品及藥品監督管理局 美國食品及藥品監督管理局
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Fosun 上海復星醫藥（集團）股份有限公司 (Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical 
(Group) Co., Ltd.)

復星 上海復星醫藥（集團）股份有限公司

FV fair value
公允價值 公允價值

FVLCOD Fair value less costs of disposal
公允價值減出售成本 公允價值減出售成本

G&A general and administrative
一般及行政 一般及行政

Galloway Galloway Limited, a private limited liability company which is indirectly 
wholly-owned by James Mellon, a substantial Shareholder who is also a 
NED of the Company and Chairman of the Board

Galloway Galloway Limited，一家由主要股東James Mellon（亦為本公司非執行董
事兼董事會主席）間接全資擁有之私人有限公司

GBP Great British pounds, the lawful currency in the UK
英鎊 英國法定貨幣英鎊

Group the Company and its subsidiaries
本集團 本公司及其附屬公司

HK$ Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency in Hong Kong
港元 香港法定貨幣港元

HKAS(s) Hong Kong Accounting Standard(s)
香港會計準則 香港會計準則

HKICPA the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
香港會計師公會 香港會計師公會

Hong Kong the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
香港 中國香港特別行政區

Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

香港公司條例 公司條例（香港法例第622章）
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Indigo Indigo Securities Limited, a private limited liability company which is 
indirectly wholly-owned by James Mellon, a substantial Shareholder who is 
also a NED of the Company and Chairman of the Board

Indigo Indigo Securities Limited，一家由主要股東James Mellon（亦為本公司非
執行董事兼董事會主席）間接全資擁有之私人有限公司

INED(s) Independent Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company
獨立非執行董事 本公司之獨立非執行董事

IP intellectual property
知識產權 知識產權

Listing Rules Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
上市規則 聯交所證券上市規則

Model Code The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as 
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules

標準守則 載於上市規則附錄C3之上市發行人董事進行證券交易的標準守則

NDA New Drug Application
新藥申請 新藥申請

NED(s) Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company
非執行董事 本公司非執行董事

NMPA the National Medical Products Administration
國家藥品監督管理局 國家藥品監督管理局

Nomination Committee nomination committee of the Company
提名委員會 本公司之提名委員會

Option(s) option(s) granted and exercisable under the Share Option Scheme (2016)
購股權 根據購股權計劃（二零一六）授出及可予行使之購股權

Plethora Plethora Solutions Holdings plc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company

Plethora Plethora Solutions Holdings plc，為本公司之一家全資附屬公司

PRC or China the People’s Republic of China
中國 中華人民共和國

R&D research and development
研發 研究及發展
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Recordati Recordati S.p.A
Recordati Recordati S.p.A

Remuneration Committee remuneration committee of the Company
薪酬委員會 本公司之薪酬委員會

Rights Issue the rights issue on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every one (1) 
existing Share held on the record date, completed on 12 January 2023

供股 按於記錄日期每持有一(1)股現有股份獲發一(1)股供股股份之基準進行
供股，於二零二三年一月十二日完成

Rights Share(s) the new Share(s) allotted and issued under the Rights Issue
供股股份 根據供股配發及發行之新股份

Securities Dealing Code the code governing securities transactions by Directors and the relevant 
employees of the Group, which was adopted on no less exacting the terms 
and required standard set out in the Model Code

證券交易守則 監管本集團董事及相關僱員進行證券交易之守則，乃按照不遜於標準
守則所載列的規定標準獲得採納

Set Off the set off of the total amount of subscription monies payable by Galloway 
as the underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo for the Rights Shares to which 
they are entitled to and/or are required to subscribe for (if any) under the 
Rights Issue and the underwriting agreement respectively, against the 
equivalent amount of the shareholder’s loans and accrued interest thereon 
on a dollar-to-dollar basis on the completion date of the Rights Issue

抵銷 於供股完成日期，Galloway（作為包銷商）、James Mellon及Indigo就根據
供股及包銷協議分別有權及╱或須認購（如有）之供股股份所應付認購
款項總額，按等額基準抵銷等額股東貸款及應計利息

SFO The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong)

證券及期貨條例 證券及期貨條例（香港法例第571章）

Share Consolidation the consolidation of shares on the basis of every twenty (20) issued and 
unissued shares of par value of US$0.01 each into one (1) Consolidated 
Share of par value of US$0.20 each on 5 June 2023

股份合併 於二零二三年六月五日按每二十(20)股每股面值0.01美元的已發行及
未發行股份合併為一(1)股每股面值0.20美元的合併股份的基準進行的
股份合併
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Share Subdivision the subdivision of one (1) authorised but unissued Consolidated Share into 
200 Adjusted Shares and forthwith the Share Subdivision, the increase 
of the authorised share capital of the Company to US$143,550,000.00 
by the creation of such number of additional Adjusted Shares as shall 
be sufficient to increase the authorised share capital of the Company to 
US$143,550,000.00 divided into (a) 143,000,000,000 ordinary Adjusted 
Shares and (b) 550,000,000 unclassified Adjusted Shares, effective on 3 
August 2023

股份拆細 將一(1)股法定但未發行合併股份拆細為200股經調整股份；且於股份
拆細後隨即透過增設足以將本公司之法定股本增加至143,550,000.00
美元（分為(a) 143,000,000,000股普通經調整股份及(b) 550,000,000股
未分類經調整股份）之額外經調整股份有關數目，將本公司之法定股本
增加至143,550,000.00美元，於二零二三年八月三日生效

Share(s) ordinary share(s), with voting rights, of US$0.001 each in the capital of the 
Company, which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 
are also traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange

股份 本公司股本中每股面值0.001美元，附有投票權之普通股份，此等股份
於聯交所主板上市，並於法蘭克福證券交易所公開市場(Freiverkehr)買
賣

Shareholder(s) holder(s) of the Share(s)
股東 股份持有人

Share Options Scheme (2016) or 
Scheme

the share option scheme of the Company named the “Share Option 
Scheme (2016)” adopted on 10 June 2016, with Shareholders’ approval at 
the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 8 June 2016, which 
was followed by the grant by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange 
on 10 June 2016 of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares to 
be issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options to be granted under the 
scheme

購股權計劃（二零一六）或 
計劃

本公司於二零一六年六月十日採納，名為「購股權計劃（二零一六）」之
購股權計劃，該計劃於本公司於二零一六年六月八日舉行之股東特別
大會上經股東批准，繼而於二零一六年六月十日獲聯交所上市委員會
批准因根據計劃將授出之購股權獲行使而將予發行之股份上市及買賣
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DEFINITIONS
釋義
　　　

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
聯交所 香港聯合交易所有限公司

Treasury Share(s) has the meaning ascribed to it in the Listing Rules
庫存股份 具上市規則所賦予的涵義

UK the United Kingdom
英國 英國

US the United States
美國 美利堅合眾國

US$ US dollars, the lawful currency in the US
美元 美國法定貨幣美元

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical 江蘇萬邦生化醫藥集團有限責任公司 ( J i a n g s u  W a n b a n g 
Biopharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd.), a wholly-controlled company of Fosun

江蘇萬邦醫藥 江蘇萬邦生化醫藥集團有限責任公司，為復星之完全控股公司
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
公司資料

執行董事
Jamie Gibson（行政總裁）

非執行董事
James Mellon（主席）
Jayne Sutcliffe

獨立非執行董事
Mark Searle
陳弘俊
Ihsan Al Chalabi

公司秘書
雷美欣

獨立核數師
天職香港會計師事務所有限公司
執業會計師
註冊公眾利益實體核數師

主要往來銀行
花旗銀行

註冊辦事處
P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

香港總部及主要營業地點 

香港
中環皇后大道中5號
衡怡大廈8樓

股份過戶登記處
卓佳證券登記有限公司
香港夏慤道16號
遠東金融中心17樓

投資者關係顧問
達博思傳訊顧問有限公司

網址
www.regentpac.com

股份代號
575

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Jamie Gibson (CEO)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mark Searle
Adrian Chan
Ihsan Al Chalabi

COMPANY SECRETARY

Winnie Lui

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

PRINCIPAL BANKER

Citibank, N.A.

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE  
　OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

8th Floor, Henley Building
5 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

LBS Communications Consulting Limited

WEBSITE

www.regentpac.com

STOCK CODE

575


